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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Cybernaut
International Holdings Company Limited (“‘Cybernaut” or the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, collectively as the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Facing the serious challenges posed by the coronavirus
Covid-19 outbreak, the complex fast-changing environment
both at home and abroad, the whole nation of China with
great efforts to sustain improvement in epidemic prevention
and control, the resumption of work, production, business and
market activities, paced gradually after the drastic downward
shift in economic growth in the first quarter of 2020. The
Chinese economy has recovered with a good restorative market
growth and social development since the second half of 2020.
The various U.S. despicable political and economic accusation
and bans on China in the prolonged trade war between the
U.S. and China continues to shake up the global markets.
This had even led the global economy towards recession while
lockdowns and traffic restrictions among and within countries,
where different social hygiene measures and regulations were
adopted to fight against the coronavirus Covid-19 pandemic in
2020.
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Until now the global prospects remain highly uncertain one
year into the Covid-19 pandemic. The outlook depends not
just on the outcome of the battle between the coronavirus and
vaccines, but also hinges on how effectively economic policies
deployed under high uncertainty can limit lasting damage
from this unprecedented crisis. The strength of the recovery
is projected to vary significantly across countries, depending
on access to medical interventions, effectiveness of policy
support, exposure to cross-country spillovers, and structural
characteristics entering the crisis. Amid exceptional uncertainty,
the global economy was projected to grow 5.5 percent in 2021
by the International Monetary Fund (IMF) in January. As the
Covid-19 vaccine rollouts get underway, the IMF is expecting a
stronger economic recovery in 2021. In early April this year, the
organization further expected the world economy would grow
by 6 percent in 2021, up from its previous January forecast
of 5.5 percent. Looking further ahead, global GDP for 2022 is
seen increasing by 4.4 percent, higher than an earlier estimate
of 4.2 percent by the IMF. In the latest World Economic Outlook
report 2021, the IMF Chief economist Gita Gopinath said, “Even
with high uncertainty about the path of the pandemic, a way
out of this health and economic crisis is increasingly visible,”.
Besides, the latest round of fiscal stimulus in the U.S. along with
the vaccine rollouts across the world, the IMF has estimated
economic growth of 5.1 percent for advanced economies this
year, with the United States expanding by 6.4 percent. And its
forecast for the emerging and developing economies’ growth is
6.7 percent for 2021.

The Hong Kong economy was deadly hurt on businesses and
tourism-related industries and even into a recession before the
outbreak of coronavirus Covid-19 pandemic in 2020, mainly
due to the social unrests and the large-scale pro-democracy
protests dragged on for months since the second half year of
2019. And the global uncertainties under the U.S.-China trade
war has made an additional heavy blow to the Hong Kong
economy. Economists have said earlier that Hong Kong as a
semi-autonomous Chinese territory and a major financial hub
in Asia will need more time to struggle for recovery from its
economic slump given a recent flare up in Covid-19 coronavirus
cases. The Hong Kong economy has remained very weak as
the Covid-19 pandemic continues to cause heavy blows to the
global and local economic activities.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETEHRES

In 2020, the Company consisted of three reporting segments,
excluding the disposed subsidiary group engaged in the
manufacturing of papermaking machine, which the settlement
was completed in May 2020. The three reporting segments
are each individually managed, as each business offers
different products and services and requires different business
strategies; and amongst them the eCommerce and internet
online education segments were of good performance to
contribute revenue for the Group during 2020.

During the year 2020, the Covid-19 coronavirus crisis in the
United States had led to the associated business closures,
event cancellations, and work-from-home policies, triggered a
deep economic downturn of uncertain duration. The Fed has
stepped in with a broad array of actions to limit the economic
damage from the pandemic, including up to US$2.3 trillion in
lending to support households, employers, financial markets,
and for the state and local governments. The Fed has also
cut its target for the federal funds rate, the rate banks pay to
borrow from each other overnight, by a total of 1.5 percentage
points since March 3, 2020, bringing it down to a range of 0
percent to 0.25 percent. Besides, the Fed has offered forward
guidance on the future path of its key interest rate using a tool
honed during the Great Recession of 2007-2009.
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In China, the People’'s Bank of China (PBOC) had rolled out
a raft of financial measures since early 2020 to support the
pandemic-hit economy, and for a balance economic recovery
with preventing risks.. During the year 2020, the central bank
of China had avoided a sudden shift of monetary policy and
eased its policy to support the world’s second-largest economy
hobbled by weak global demand and the U.S.-China trade war.
Data from the PBOC showed that the growth of outstanding
total social financing (TSF), a broad measure of credit and
liquidity in the Chinese economy, rose by 12.3 percent at the
end of March 2021 from one year earlier. The central bank may
consider scaling back support for the Chinese economy in 2021
and cool credit growth, but fears of derailing the recovery and
debt defaults are likely to prevent it from tightening anytime
soon. In fact, the Chinese government has implemented
new rules and tight measures to regulate the TSF and online
financial services, with particular attention on peer-to-peer (P2P)
lending to reduce the financial risks associated with those P2P
platforms.

P2P lending has been heated up in China and our neighbouring
countries in Asia. With China as the clear leader, it was found
that China and the U.S. had made up 95 percent of the P2P
lending market globally in 2020. The lending business model
under P2P is very simple and easy to establish, but the
Hong Kong lending business is of very distinctive regulated
market features to the lending business operation in China.
The comprehensive and timely regulations together with the
well-developed fraud detection system for loan credit in Hong
Kong help lending business a profitable one in the Hong Kong
market. Despite the global economic uncertainty and the
increasing market competition of the money lending industry
in Hong Kong, the loan demand in Hong Kong are still robust.
Facing the impacts of the U.S.-China trade war and the
Covid-19 pandemic, our money lending subsidiary had kept
alliance with business partners on sub-mortgage loans with
strategy targeted mainly on high net worth customers and from
business referrals in 2020.
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Chairman’s Statement

ETEHRES

According to the analysis of Digital Commerce 360, sales on
marketplace sites in 2020, like those operated by Alibaba,
Amazon, eBay and others, accounted for around 62 percent of
the global web sales. The top online marketplaces in the world
was of sales about US$2.67 trillion in 2020, and the top three
global ones ranked by the gross merchandise value (GMV) were
Taobao, Tmall and Amazon. Although these three marketplaces
account for approximately two-thirds of the US$2.67 trillion
in GMV of the Top 100, several other marketplaces around
the world grew nearly 100 per cent last year, including Etsy in
U.S.A. and Ozon in Russia.

In Hong Kong, the retail market is poised for a mild recovery in
2021, and economists forecasted in February that there are 15
percent growth in the city’s annual retail sales to approximately
HK$376 billion this year, compared to a decline of 24.3 percent
to HK$326 billion in 2020. This estimate by the economists
is mainly based on a positive expectation that travel and
movement restrictions will be ultimately removed by the third or
fourth quarter of 2021, while consumer sentiment and spending
return to normal. Consumers’ overall positive online shopping
experiences has shown that they will continually make more
frequent purchases from eCommerce stores compared to the
time before the start of the Covid-19 coronavirus outbreak.
And the consumers’ popular online stores and marketplaces
in Hong Kong are Alibaba’s Tmall, WeChat, Taobao, Amazon,
JD, Alibaba and eBay. During 2020, our eCommerce subsidiary
group had a market shift with more sales of higher-priced
products in European countries and continued working with
established overseas strategic business networks to maintain
steady revenue growth of eCommerce to avoid losses from the
U.S. trade embargo and hardship under the U.S.-China trade
war.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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In China, there are growing needs of online education to
help establish a more healthy and knowledge economy.
Virtually, the online education market in China has a raging
fire development in recent years; as a result, novel products
have been springing up to gain more customers’ recognition
and attracting more developers and investors as well. Looking
back at 2020, China’s education industry was undoubtedly
one of the industries most affected by the Covid-19 pandemic;
and the pandemic accelerated the rapid development of online
education, but made it more difficult to compete in a crowded
market. As the online education became mandatory during early
Spring lockdown period in China, all kinds of players jumped
into the market. Venture capitalists invested in online education
leaders while Chinese tech giants solidified their bets on the
online education. And it is expected that China online education
market will be an opportunity for great business potential of
about US$100 billion by 2026.

The coronavirus outbreak hit the Chinese economy greatly as
many businesses had to temporarily shut down their operations
amid tight quarantine rules in early 2020. Fortunately, our
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company engaged in online
education business in China, J#/M /A& Huzhou Company had
the VIE Agreements arrangement with FATKE: (4L ) HE R
AR A7 Capital Wowxue (Beijing) Education Technology
Limited (K& “Wowxue”), was better-performed to recover
results in the second half of 2020. Wowxue has always aimed
at providing high quality online education to students through
its own internet platforms of online education resources and
education softwares. The business segment from this Huzhou
subsidiary of the Company maintained its performance at a
steady growth in 2020, under the competitive online education
market in China.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHREE

Above all, the Group committed great efforts to develop
our products and services with generic growth of segment
businesses in order to broaden our income sources in different
markets despite the global economic fluctuation and the
traffic restrictions during 2020. The impact from Covid-19
pandemic had caused huge number of deaths, hospitalization
pressure in different countries, and the business activities of
each country worsen in the global market last year. In China,
industries closely related with offline activities have been more
vulnerable and market consolidation is expected to speed
up, while industries featuring digitalization are more resilient
and even see some upside; and these all lead to potential
investment opportunities for investors. Moving forward to face
all challenges ahead in due care, our management team will
continue to explore any potential business investments and
seize good opportunities for developments from time to time, so
as to diversify revenue stream sources and business expansion.
We will make use of our strength in different segment business
markets to reward shareholders with better business results and
profitable outcome. We are always aiming at well-positioned all
our businesses to deliver further growth on our shareholder’s
value. And now in here, | would like to thank all our staff for
their dedication in today’s challenging environment to meet the
global market fluctuations, and also our business partners and
shareholders for their ongoing trust and support for us over the
years.

Zhu Min
Chairman
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MARKET REVIEW

During 2020, the global economy was very volatile and distorted
in the financial market worldwide, under the continuous
threatening economic measures of Donald Trump’s political
administration on global trade affairs. The economic engine of
China roared back to life after a government brutal lockdown
measure for the control of the novel coronavirus (“Covid-19”)
spread saw the Chinese economy contracted by a historic 6.8
percent in the first quarter of 2020. While the rest of the world
struggles with insufficient market demand, millions of job losses,
and businesses shutting down; the Chinese economy has
seen a better and stronger rebound since the second quarter
of 2020. According to the estimation of the National Bureau
of Statistics of China, the Chinese economy in 2020 had the
gross domestic product (GDP) of 2.3 percent growth over the
previous year, amidst the intensifying tariff battle with the United
States, the drastic impacts of the Covid-19 pandemic, and
efforts to deleverage debt and financial risks in the economy.
In 2020, the year-on-year growth rate of total value added of
the industrial enterprises above the designated size increased
by 2.8 percent and the value added of the wholesale and retail
trades was down by 1.3 percent over the previous year. The
additional information from the National Bureau of Statistics
of China for the year 2020 also showed that the fixed-asset
investment of China increased by 2.7 percent year-on-year;
the producer prices for industrial products went down by 1.8
percent year-on-year, and the purchasing prices for industrial
producers went down by 2.3 percent over the previous year.

In 2020, the industrial production in China had considerable
reduction of excess industrial capacity and its utilization rate
nationwide under the hard push industry reform by the China
National Development and Reform Commission. Manufacturers
of industrial production were urged to cut on any substandard
industrial production capacity carefully, to meet the domestic
demand and for the global market, particularly under the
unfavourable influence for business by the outbreak of Covid-19
pandemic worldwide.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

The virtual lending platforms: peer-to-peer (P2P) for online
lending known as social lending is a popular fintech application
for intermediaries to gather funds from retail investors and
lending the money to small and medium-sized enterprises
(SMEs) and individual borrowers. The P2P lending is an easy
way for some investors to have access and diversify their
investments with expectations of higher returns in P2P lending
operation despite of a higher risk and the possibility of the
borrower defaulting. In China the massive collapse of the P2P
platforms in recent years has spread panic among stakeholders
particularly investors in losing confidence at their stakes,
operators’ liquidity and even the solvency of the platforms.
With the tightened government regulation on the P2P lending
industry during 2020, a slew of Chinese fintech and P2P lending
platforms continued to seek for lenient markets in Southeast
Asia (SEA), after the prolonged industry crackdown in China.

The huge potential market in the lending business are of
more risks in China than the distinctive operation of lending
business in Hong Kong market. Hong Kong government has
always reminded borrowers on the risks while borrowing, and
all moneylenders must operate business in strict compliance
with Money Lenders Ordinance and license restrictions. In
September 2019, the Hong Kong Consumer Council published
a report, setting out recommendations for better regulation of
money lending practices in Hong Kong. Despite the adverse
effects from the trade war between U.S. and China in recent
years and the 2019 social devastation and demonstration in
Hong Kong, the low interest rate of borrowing still boosted the
Hong Kong property market growth both in terms of property
price and transaction volume in 2020. Recently, the Companies
Registry (CR) has issued new guidelines and revised licensing
conditions to money lenders, with a view to address increasing
public concerns over irresponsible lending practices of certain
money lenders. The new CR guidelines will take effect from 1
April 2021 and the new licensing conditions apply to licenses
granted or renewed on or after 16 March 2021.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Today, for a retail business running with an online version of
a physical store is not enough anymore, as consumers do not
merely want to grab and go; and they want their shopping to
be an experience of involvement and of itself as an interactive,
immersive and enjoyable one. The traditional retail business
model continues to lose ground and electronic commerce
(eCommerce) continues its expansion from such shift of
consumer behaviour. Consumers are getting accustomed to
use internet and mobile apps daily for online shopping where,
they can have the most practical innovation being adopted by
eCommerce sites in social payment options through trusted,
secure digital wallets like Apple Pay, Alipay, WeChat Pay, and
PayPal and Google Pay etc.

In 2020, the world market fluctuated financially on both the
political and economic grounds with online shopping became
more accessible than ever. eCommerce has been a bright
spot among retail channels during the coronavirus pandemic,
as consumers became reliant on digital transactions amid
the physical store closures and a fear of the virus infection.
eCommerce transactions were affluent and growing enormously
worldwide during 2020, when all countries worked their very
best exhaustedly to face the Covid-19 pandemic with ad
hoc government measures on social hygiene and lockdown
restrictions etc.

The trade war between U.S. and China, the Brexit situations
and the Covid-19 pandemic had not only factually posed
unpredictable concerns on the worldwide economy in 2020;
but the continual geographic lockdowns, travel restrictions,
social hygiene and distance, and government regulations on
group gathering prohibitions etc. in different countries had
greatly affected people’s living and business activities. The
inconvenience from these restrictions and social hygiene
measures affected people’s online shopping interest, but they
had then inversely led the eCommerce activities growing in a
positive way worldwide. However, the impact on eCommerce
retail spending has not been felt evenly across the world.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

The China Ministry of Education has continuously promoted the
application of information technology (IT) to advance education
reforms and ensure equitable access to education. Since
January 2020, the Chinese economy has been walloped due to
the outbreak of the coronavirus Covid-19, and many businesses
have been shut temporarily due to the quarantine rules in China.
But the lockdown measures in China, came as an unexpected
boon for the online education sector there. According to
the financial research and publication in China, the software
DingTalk developed by Alibaba has been installed approximately
1.1 billion times in China during the Covid-19 pandemic and
it is being used extensively by schools and students in China.
Approximately 220 million Chinese students, including those
of primary, secondary and tertiary were homebound due to
regulated travel and hygiene restrictions during the Lunar New
Year holidays because of the epidemic. In fact, the Covid-19
pandemic offers an enormous opportunity for the companies
operating in online education space in China, nonetheless,
factors like the lack of supervision of online platforms may
hinder the market growth of China online education.

As over 800 million Chinese people are internet users, and with
the application of the impressive fiber, broadband, and internet
coverage even in many remote regions in China, STEAM
(science, technology, engineering, art, mathematics) education
constitutes K-12 education, the largest segments of China’s
(Educational Technology) EdTech market which in 2018 had
already reached RMB300 billion in revenues. EdTech’s potential
user base further expanded in early 2020, when the Chinese
Ministry of Education decided to postpone the spring semester
of schools and kindergartens to curb the spread of the novel
coronavirus Covid-19. In fact, some students have been quick
to pick up on the flexibility of online learning; and even teachers
also acknowledge the flexibility that comes with online learning,
which they have never used before.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Amid the Covid-19 pandemic, the online education industry
in China witnesses its golden age. As the Covid-19 epidemic
shuttered schools for months in 2020, online education
has therefore obtained an unexpected opportunity to thrive
while many industries have been affected. Since the kids are
spending more time than ever before in front of their computer
screens, leaders in the education industry are busy cashing in.
Despite the market instability in the outside world, the market
growth of online education and EdTech business in China
expanding steadily in a rational and healthy way each year with
the enhancement of the modern technology and knowledge.
In 2020, Chinese online learning iHuman Inc. even capitalized
by going public on the U.S. stock market at New York Stock
Exchange, regardless of the increasing tensions between
the world’s two biggest economies. This is by no means the
first time that a Chinese education firm has made the plunge
overseas, and particularly in U.S. And the NASDAQ and New
York Stock Exchange websites indicate that there are now
thirteen Chinese educational companies listed in the U.S.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2020, the Cybernaut Group might still be regarded as
comprising segments of subsidiary groups, namely those
engaged in the manufacture and sales of paper converting
equipments (which was disposed in May 2020); money lending
business; eCommerce business and internet online education
services.

During the year under review, the manufacturing businesses
in China were adversely affected by the escalating trade war
between U.S. and China. Our subsidiary segment business
of manufacturing paper converting equipment of Cybernaut
Group, operating in China was of no exception and suffered
from the harsh competition and trade suppression resulted
from the U.S.-China trade war. Facing huge reduced order
size and market demand in the competitive world market, and
the lockdown for production at the occurrence of Covid-19
epidemic in China, management decided to dispose the non-
profit making subsidiary business in 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

References were then made to the announcement of Cybernaut
International Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) dated
11 February 2020 in relation to the disclosable transaction
regarding the disposal of 100 percent equity interest in Accura
Machinery & Manufacturing (Taichang) Company Limited, a
company established under the laws of the PRC with limited
liability and a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Great Select
Global Limited, a company established under the laws of the
Hong Kong with limited liability and an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company, was disposed at cash consideration
of HK$7 million. And this disposal of the subsidiary segment
engaged in the manufacturing paper converting equipment of
Cybernaut Group was then completed with settlement on 27
May 2020.

The subsidiary of Cybernaut Group engaged in money lending
business in Hong Kong under the Money Lenders Ordinance
(“MLO”, Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Time Credit
Limited (TCL) prudently maintained business operation steadily
with the existing market strategy in 2020. Moreover, the Hong
Kong government authority periodically advises borrowers to be
aware of the risks of increased interest rate and the implication
of the unstable and uncertain economic environment. During
the year under review, the subsidiary generated revenue mainly
from the first mortgage property loans to customers for their
long and short term financial needs. To maintain credit control
efficiency, TCL did not conduct business to SMEs at retail level,
and potential borrowers were mainly sought from the social
and business networks of the management and marketing
team. With the high net worth customer base and partnership
alliance on sub-mortgage arrangements, the TCL loan portfolio
continued to target on serving potential clients like Hong Kong
Listco and big corporate clients under the unfavourable market
conditions in Hong Kong at the outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic,
and contribute a steady income stream to the Cybernaut Group
in 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2020, our eCommerce business subsidiary with the trade
name of “VTZero” met the expanded overseas market demands
under the Covid-19 pandemic, despite the global political
unrest and economic fluctuation; and the subsidiary had
recognized good revenues in the product sales trends and
product-mix for prominent sales of the second-handed and
refurbished mobile phones of good brand names. Nowadays,
local online marketplaces are booming and are launched mostly
by traditional local retail enterprise and since they have years
of reputation that people are preferred to shop there instead.
As a result, VTZero as a cross-border eCommerce trading
company, has evaluated the online shopping habit country
by country and explored more online marketplace platforms
to sustain the business growth. With prior years’ experience
on sourcing used smartphones from America and Japan, the
business management branched out more on the reverse
logistic chain through internet to contribute additional value
to the eCommerce business during 2020. Despite the U.S.-
China trade war and the Covid-19 pandemic, the subsidiary
could barely reduce its market risks with product diversification
strategy to maintain its profit margin with an overall increase
of business turnover during 2020. Other than selling mainly
through eBay and Amazon, VTZero also sold products through
different selling channels and online marketplaces like Rakuten
in Germany, cDiscount, Fnac and Darty in France etc. through
the established different business strategic alliances with the
local agents in different countries including Europe and North
America during the year under review.

During 2020, the subsidiary segment of Cybernaut Group
engaged in the online education business with continued great
momentum of demands of last year, and due to the lockdown
and hygiene restrictions in regulation, expanded with good
returns and increased market developments in the EdTech and
online education industry in China. The subsidiary management
through the VIE arrangements had closely monitored the
changes of online business to provide users with the updated
information and software accessible through the education
platform and packages, so as to enhance the segment business
growth strengthened with good resource allocated for market
expansion.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

Risk management on financial instruments

The Group’s major financial instruments are trade receivables,
loan receivables, other receivables,restricted bank deposits,
bank balances and cash,trade and bill payables, other
payables, lease liabilities, promissory notes and bank and
other borrowings. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The management monitors the
exposure of these financial risks to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Our Group’s exposure to the risks of changes in market interest
rates related primarily to the its loan receivables with the floating
interest rates; and the credit risk of the Group is primarily
attributable to trade and other receivables, loans receivable
and bank balances during 2020. The Group has no significant
concentrations of credit risk and the carrying amounts of
trade and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents has
represented the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to the financial assets. Besides, the management has
good financial policies in place to ensure that the outstanding
trade receivables are collected on a timely basis. Trade
receivables are subject to the expected credit loss (ECL) model.
The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables from the initial recognition.

The expected loss rates are based on the historical payment
profiles of sales and the corresponding historical credit losses
experienced. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information on the factors affecting
the customers’ abilities to settle the receivables.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In the money lending business, the credit policy on extending
credit terms to loan borrowers includes assessing and
evaluating loan borrowers’ creditworthiness and financial
standing. Management has also closely monitored all
outstanding debts and reviewed the collectability of loans
receivable periodically. The Group has adopted a loan risk
classification approach to manage its loans and advances
to customers portfolio risk, and the loans and advances to
customers have had a significant increase in credit risk since
their origination and so impairment are recognized on the basis
of lifetime expected credit losses (ECLs). The Group applies the
new ECL model to measure the impairment loss of the loans
and advances to the customers and has assessed that there is
significant loss allowance recognised in accordance with HKFRS
9 as at 31 December 2020.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

Impairment on Goodwill and Intangible Assets

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and intangible
assets have been allocated to three cash generating units
(“CGUs”"), comprising money lending segment, eCommerce
segment and internet education services segment as follows:

Money lending

The recoverable amount of the money lending CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation and based
on a valuation by an independent valuer. That calculation
adopted cash flow projections covering a 5-year period (2019:
5-year period), based on financial budgets approved by the
management with discount rate of 13% (2019: 14%) per
annum. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period (2019: 5-year
period) are extrapolated with 2% (2019: 3%) growth rate. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales, gross margin and revenue growth of 5% to 11% (2019:
7% to 18%). Such estimation is based on the money lending
CGU’s past performance and management’s expectations of
the market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the money lending CGU. Management
believes that any reasonably possible changes in any of these
assumptions would not cause the carrying amount of the money
lending CGU to exceed the recoverable amount of the money
lending CGU. If the discount rate was changed to 13.1%, while
other parameter remain constant, the recoverable amount of
CGU would equal its carrying amount.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

eCommerce

The recoverable amount of the eCommerce CGU has been
determined based on a value in use calculation and based
on a valuation by an independent valuer. That calculation
adopted cash flow projections covering a 5-year period (2019:
5-year period), based on financial budgets approved by the
management with discount rate of 19% (2019: 13%) per
annum. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period (2019: 5-year
period) are extrapolated with 2% (2019: 3%) growth rate. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales,gross margin and revenue growth of 13% to 14% (2019:
3% to 16%). Such estimation is based on the unit’s past
performance and management’s expectations of the market
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, management
of the Group have consequently determined impairment of
goodwill directly related to the eCommerce CGU amounting to
RMB92,523,000 (2019: RMB61,225,000). The impairment loss
has been included in profit or loss in impairment loss line item. If
the discount rate was changed to 9.6%, while other parameters
remain constant, the recoverable amount of CGU would equal
its carrying amount.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

Internet education services

The recoverable amount of the internet education services CGU
has been determined based on a value in use calculation and
based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That calculation
adopted cash flow projections covering a 5-year period (2019:
5-year period), based on financial budgets approved by the
management with discount rate of 13% (2019: 14%) per
annum. Cash flows beyond the 5-year period (2019: 5-year
period) are extrapolated with 3% (2019: 3%) growth rate. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate to the
estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted
sales, gross margin and revenue growth of 5% to 25%
(2019: 5% to 25%). Such estimation is based on the internet
education services CGU’s past performance and management’s
expectations of the market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the internet education services CGU.
Management believes that any reasonably possible changes
in any of these assumptions would not cause the carrying
amount of the internet education services CGU to exceed
the recoverable amount of the internet education services
CGU. If the discount rate was changed to 23.6%, while other
parameters remain constant, the recoverable amount of internet
education services CGU would equal its carrying amount.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 5 July 2019, the Company announced that it had a
connected transaction establishment of and subscription for
the interest in a fund, such that the Company entered into: (1)
the Limited Partnership Agreement with the General Partner,
the Initial Limited Partner and Hana Financial Investment Co.,
Limited, and (2) the Subscription Agreement with the General
Partner.

The General Partner is owned as to 81% by Cybernaut Capital
Management, which is owned as to 99% by Mr. Zhu Min, an
executive Director of the Company. The General Partner is an
associate of Mr. Zhu Min and hence a connected person of
the Company for the purpose of Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. As at the date of the announcement, the applicable
percentage ratios as defined under the Listing Rules in respect
of the Transaction is expected to be exceeding 0.1% but less
than 5%, the Transaction is therefore subject to the reporting
and announcement requirement, but exempted from dispatch of
circular and independent shareholders’ approval requirements
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. During 2020, no
capital contribution had been called by the General Partner.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

The Company announced that it had a connected transaction
in relation to the financial assistance by connected persons
on 9 July 2019, where at the date of the announcement,
Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin and Mr. Lee Yim, the respective sole
shareholder of Win All Management Limited (Win All) and Wide
Select Investments Limited (Wide Select), are directors of VT
Zero Limited, the subsidiary of the Company and therefore the
Noteholders (Win All and Wide Select) are connected persons
of the Company at the subsidiary level under Rule 14A.06(9)
of the Listing Rules. As (i) the Noteholders are connected
persons of the Company at the subsidiary level; (i) the granting
of the financial assistance to the Company by Mr. Ng and
Mr. Lee under the New Promissory Notes which are secured
by the assets of the Company under the Share Charges are
on normal commercial terms; and (i) the Board (including all
the independent non-executive Directors) has approved the
Deeds of Amendment and the grant of the Share Charges and
confirmed the terms therein are fair and reasonable, and are on
normal commercial terms and in the interests of the Company
and the Shareholders as a whole, the Deeds of Amendment and
the transactions contemplated are subject to the reporting and
announcement requirements, but are exempt from the circular,
independent financial advice and Shareholders’ approval
requirements by virtue of Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

None of the Directors had any material interest in the Deeds
of Amendment and the Share Charges and the transactions
contemplated thereunder and had abstained from voting at
the relevant Board resolutions. Therefore, on 9 July 2019 after
the trading hours, the Company announced that it entered into
the Deeds of Amendment with the Noteholders, pursuant to
which the Company and the Noteholders agreed to amend the
terms and conditions of the Existing Promissory Notes and to
issue the New Promissory Notes with a principal amount of
HK$113,208,000.00 each to the Noteholders in replacement
of the Existing Promissory Notes. Save for the amendments
mentioned above and disclosed in the announcement, the
principal terms of the Existing Promissory Notes remain
unchanged. On 2 December 2020, the Company entered
into the deed of amendment with the vendors to extend the
maturity date of the Promissory Note, PN1 to 1 April 2022 and
the interest rate remained to 1% per annum effective from 2
December 2020. The effective interest rate of PN1 is 9.89%.

S
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Management Discussion and Analysis

On 16 July 2019, Ellipsiz Communications Ltd. (“EC”), a
Canada based company listed on the Toronto TSX Venture
Exchange ( TSXV code :
communications services and solutions for the communications

ECT ), primarily engaged in providing

industry announced that it had completed a further non-
brokered working capital unit private placement raising the
proceeds of C$375,000 and the subscriber for the private
placement was Cybernaut International Holdings Company
Limited (“Cybernaut International”). In that private placement,
EC placed 2,500,000 units (each a “Unit”) at a price of C$0.15
per Unit; and each Unit consists of one common share of EC
and its one (1) common share purchase warrant ( a “Warrant”).
Each Warrant entitles the holder to acquire an additional
common share at C$0.15 per share until two (2) years from the
closing of the that Offering. Cybernaut International has agreed
not to exercise any Warrants if it would result in holding more
than 10 per cent of the EC’s outstanding common shares.

EC generates revenue mainly from Taiwan through the solutions
it offers; and the solutions offered are provided through a
range of delivery models, from the supply of hardware and
software products with associated consultancy, design,
deployment and system support, to fully-managed services.
EC provides clients an operational support systems (OSS),
being systems which control and monitor network activities
for many telecommunication service providers; and Cybernaut
International has viewed such private placement as a first step
in developing a strategic relationship with EC.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

A voluntary announcement of Letter of Intent (LOI) was made
by Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”). on 24 February 2020 (after trading hours) that,
the Company as potential purchaser and Mr. Xiao as potential
vendor entered into the LOI which set out the principal terms
and conditions of the Proposed Acquisition of not less than 51%
interest in the Target Company to be set up. As a condition
precedent of the Proposed Acquisition, Mr. Xiao should
procure that Hangzhou Xuhang would be the wholly-owned
by the Target Company. As at the date of the announcement,
Hangzhou Xuhang was held as to approximately 68.53% by
two limited partnerships which was controlled by Mr. Xiao, as
to approximately 1.88% by a fund company in which Mr. Zhu
had indirect minority interest and the remaining equity interests
were held by Independent Third Parties. To the best knowledge
and belief of the Board after making all reasonable enquiries,
Mr. Xiao was a third party independent of the Company and its
connected persons (as defined under the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities).

Reference were then made to the voluntary announcements of
the Company dated 17 August 2020 and 24 November 2020
(the “Announcements”) in relation to the LOIl announced on 24
February 2020 of the Proposed Acquisition. On 23 February
2021, an announcement for the lapse of LOI in respect of
the Proposed Acquisition was made by the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) pursuant to Rule 13.09
of the Listing Rules on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited and the Inside Information Provisions (as defined under
the Listing Rules) under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Board
announced that as no Formal Agreement had been entered
into between the Group and Mr. Xiao on or before 23 February
2021, nor there be an agreement reached in extending the date
of entering into the Formal Agreement, the LOI has automatically
lapsed and ceased to have any effect. The Board is of the view
that the lapse of the LOI does not have any material impact on
the operations or financial position of the Group; and the Group
will continually endeavor to explore other means of cooperation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Paper Converting Equipment and Other Relating Equijpment

The revenue generated from paper converting equipment
business contributed approximately RMB9.0 million for the
period from 1 January 2020 to 27 May 2020 (for the year ended
2019: RMB40.1 million). The business was disposal on 27 May
2020.

Money Lending

Even though the keen market competition, the wide spread of
the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“Covid-19”) epidemic and the
continuous social unrest in Hong Kong, the revenue contributed
by this business was approximately RMB16.9 million for the
year ended 2020 (for the year ended 2019: RMB16.2 million).
The revenue increased by approximately 4.3% when comparing
to previous year is mainly due to the increase of lending interest
rate.

ECommerce

The revenue contributed by this business was approximately
RMB243.7 million for the year ended 2020 (for the year
ended 2019: RMB241.7 million).
by approximately 0.8% is mainly due to the trend of online

The revenue increased

shopping because of the whirlwind outbreak of Covid-19.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

Internet Education Services

The revenue contributed by this business which was acquired
in November 2017 was approximately RMB24.6 million for the
year ended 2020 (for the year ended 2019: RMB29.0 million).
The revenue decreased by approximately 15.2% is mainly
due to the effect of the temporary suspended operation and
more competition of new market entrants of internet education
services in the first quarter of 2020 due to an outbreak of novel
Covid-19 and business resume momentum in the second half of
2020.

Cost of Sales/Service Rendered

The Group’s cost of sales mainly comprised costs of raw
materials, labour and other direct costs of sales and services
rendered. During the year, the Group’s cost of sales increased
by approximately 2.5% from RMB213.4 million (Represented)
in 2019 to approximately RMB218.8 million in 2020. The
increase is mainly due to the increase of revenue of eCommerce
business.

Gross Profit

The Group experienced a gross profit of approximately
RMB66.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020. For the
year ended 31 December 2019, the Group recorded a gross
profit of approximately RMB73.5 million (Represented). There
was a decrease of approximately 9.5% in gross profit. The
gross profit was from the segment business in money lending,
eCommerce and internet education services business, and a
slight drop in the gross profit ratio in the money lending and
internet education business.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Impairment Loss

During the year under review, the Group had incurred the
following major impairments:

(@)  Under the impact of the Covid-19 outbreak, it affected the
repayment ability of the different industries. For the year
ended 2020, impairment losses were recognised on trade
and loan receivables of approximately RMB20.1 million.
(for the year ended 2019: RMB41.6 million (Represented)).

(b) Impairment loss was recognised on goodwill of
eCommerce business of approximately RMB92.5 million
(for the year ended 2019: RMB61.2 million) mainly due
to some possibility of unexpected performance and
business growth due to the Covid-19 pandemic and fierce
competition in the eCommerce business.

Selling and Distribution Costs

The Group’s selling and distribution costs comprised sales
commissions, sales staff costs and transportation costs. During
the year, the cost increased by approximately 35.5% from
approximately RMB3.1 million (Represented) for the year ended
31 December 2019 to approximately RMB4.2 million for the
year ended 31 December 2020. The increase is mainly due to
the increase of transportation expenses in the operation volume
increase of eCommerce business.

Administrative Expenses and Other Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses and other expenses
decreased by approximately 7.9% from approximately RMB77.9
million (Represented) for year ended 31 December 2019 to
approximately RMB69.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2020. The decrease is mainly due to the effective cost control
in subsidiary business of the Company in 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs composed of bank loans and
promissory notes were approximately RMB19.6 million for
the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB15.8 million
(Represented)). The interest rate for bank loan was at a fixed
interest rate of 3.25% per annum (2019: 3.25% and 5.22% per
annum, respectively).

Taxation

The PRC subsidiary of the Company engaged in internet online
education service provider still successfully qualified the China’s
High and New-Technology Enterprise (HNTE) program and
obtained the Chinese High-tech Enterprise Certification (4 [E
BETEMT R ERE) in 2017. Consequently, the subsidiary is
entitled to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) rate of 15%
until 24 October 2020.

Loss for the Year

As a result of the challenging conditions, the Group’s loss
(included the discontinued operations) for the year ended 31
December 2020 was approximately RMB77.4 million, compared
to approximately RMB105.0 million for the previous year. The
loss decreased when comparing to previous year was mainly
due to the fair value gains on extension of promissory notes
of approximately 35.5 million (for the year ended 2019: Nil).
The Group’s loss per share from continuing and discontinued
operations decreased from RMB2.48 cents for the year ended
31 December 2019 to RMB1.92 cents in 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Final Dividends

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s bank balances and cash
was approximately RMB87.2 million (2019: RMB158.3 million).

Total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2020 was
approximately RMB312.0 million (2019: RMB400.2 million).
The Group has an outstanding bank loan and promissory
notes of approximately RMB3.4 million and RMB334.7 million,
respectively as at 31 December 2020 (2019: RMB27.0 million
and RMB335.6 million, respectively).

Significant investments/material acquisitions and disposals

An announcement was made by Cybernaut International
Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) dated 11 February
2020 for the disposal of its subsidiary, 100% equity interest
in Accura Machinery & Manufacturing (Taicang) Company
Limited. The Completion of the transaction took place on 27
May 2020 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the
Agreement, and an announcement was then made. Accordingly,
the Company has ceased to have any interests in the Disposal
Group and the Disposal Group is no longer subsidiaries of the
Company as of the date of the announcement.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other significant
investments, material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries
and associated companies by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2020, the Group did not pledge any
buildings and leasehold land as collaterals for bank loan
granted to the Group (2019: RMBO0.10 million). Gearing ratio is
calculated based on total debt at the end of the year divided by
total assets at the end of the year multiplied by 100%. As at 31
December 2020, the gearing ratio of the Group was 46% (2019:
36%).

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had not provided any form
of guarantee to any company outside of the Group. The Group
is not involved in any current material legal proceedings, nor is
it aware of any pending or potential material legal proceedings
involving the Group.

Currency Exchange Exposures

The Group’s purchases and sales are mainly denominated in
US dollars, Renminbi and Hong Kong dollars. The operating
expenses of the Group are mainly in Hong Kong dollars and
Renminbi. The Group has well monitored and managed its
exposure to fluctuation in currency exchange rates.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION AND
LIABILITIES

On 26 July 2017, the Company entered into the Share
Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) with Cybernaut Education
Limited, a company which is owned as to 90% by Mr. Zhu
Min, an executive director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company, (the “Vendor”). Pursuant to the SPA, the
consideration will be subject to adjust based on the net profit
after tax generating from operating activities (the “Net Profit”)
of the Cybernaut Technology International Limited and its
subsidiaries as shown in the audited consolidated financial
statements for:

()  the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 30 June
2018 shall not be less than HK$7.5 million;

(i)  the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 31
December 2018 shall not be less than HK$7.5 million;

(i)  the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 30 June
2019 shall not be less than HK$9 million; and

(iv) the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 31
December 2019 shall not be less than HK$9 million.

During the year end 31 December 2020, the Company issued
a promissory note (‘PN5”) for an aggregate principal amount of
HK$55,000,000, non-interest bearing, upon fulfillment of profit
guarantees of (iv) above. The promissory note will be maturity on 31
March 2022. The effective interest rate of PN5 is 15.38%.

The fair value of the contingent consideration was determined
by an independent professional valuer not connected with the
Group based on Binomial Option Pricing Model. The fair value
as at 31 December 2020 was Nil (2019: RMB39.1 million).
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As at 31 December 2020, saved as disclosed in above, the
Group had not provided any form of guarantee for any company
outside the Group. The Group is not involved in any current
material legal proceedings, nor is the Group aware of any
pending or potential material legal proceedings involving the
Group.

The above-mentioned profit guarantee have been fulfilled
under the SPA, the Company has issued the promissory notes
to the Vendor (details please refer to Note 36 to the financial
statements in this annual report).

On 25 September 2020, the Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity date of
the Promissory Note, PN2 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate
remained to 1% per annum effective from 25 September 2020.

On 4 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed of
amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity date of the
Promissory Notes PN3 and PN4 for (ii) and (iii) above-mentioned
profit guarantee respectively, to 1 April 2022 and the interest
rate of PN3 and PN4 are 1% effective from 4 December 2020.
The effective interest rate of PN3 and PN4 are 9.78% and
9.78% respectively.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, certain business
activities of the Group which were/are categorised as
“restricted” business under the PRC laws and regulations have
been carried out by the Group through a series of contractual
arrangements (the “VIE Agreements”), and that happened at
the acquisition of Cybernaut Technology International Limited
(the “Project Company”) on 22 November 2017. The VIE
agreements are a series of agreements, including but not
limited to the Management Services Agreement, the Equity
Pledge Agreement, the Loan Agreement, the Irrevocable Option
Agreement, the Power of Attorney, the Undertaking Letters and
the Declaration Letters, executed for the purpose of establishing
the variable interest entity arrangement between Huzhou
Company and Wowxue, through which the financial results of
Wowxue are consolidated with the financial results of Huzhou
Company as “variable interest entity” (as defined in Hong Kong
and International Financial Reporting Standards). The VIE
business and VIE Agreements are disclosed in the circular dated
27 October 2017 and as below.
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REASON FOR ENTERING INTO THE VIE
AGREEMENTS

Investing in the PRC by foreign investors is primarily regulated
by “INIEEXEEESHE (20174 185]) (the Guidance
Catalogue of Industries for Foreign Investment (2017 Revision)*)”
(the “Catalogue”), which was promulgated and is amended from
time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC and
the National Development and Reform Commission. Pursuant
to the Catalogue, the value-added telecommunication services
related business of Wowxue is considered as “restricted”
under the categories of value-added telecommunication
services. Therefore, foreign investors can only operate value-
added telecommunication business in the PRC under joint
ventures with the foreign portion of the total investment and
hence shareholding below 50%. As Hong Kong Cybernaut,
the subsidiary of the Target Company, is the foreign investor of
Huzhou Company, it is not allowed to indirectly hold more than
50% equity interest in Wowxue through Huzhou Company or
directly hold more than 50% equity interest in Wowxue under
the PRC laws.

In light of the above, Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders have entered into the VIE Agreements
on 31 August 2017 (as amended by supplemental agreements
dated 25 September 2017) for the Reorganisation in order to
enable the financial results, the entire economic benefits and
the risks of the businesses of Wowxue to flow into Huzhou
Company and to enable the Project Company to have indirect
control over Wowxue as contemplated under the Sale and
Purchase Agreement.

*

For identification purpose only

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Company agrees that it would unwind the VIE Agreements
as soon as the relevant laws and regulations allow the value-
added telecommunications business in the PRC to be operated
by foreign investors without adopting a VIE structure. However,
it is uncertain at this stage when the restrictions on foreign
ownership in value-added telecommunications businesses will
be lifted in the PRC. Under the Irrevocable Option Agreement,
the Registered Shareholders must return to Huzhou Company
or its nominee any consideration the Registered Shareholders
had received from Huzhou Company for the acquisition of the
equity interest in Wowxue.

Up to 31 December 2020 of this report and 31 March 2021 for
approval of the audited annual financial results, the Group has
not encountered any interference or encumbrance from any
governing bodies in operating its business through Wowxue
under the VIE Agreements.

The PRC Legal Adviser has confirmed, among others, that (i)
the use of the VIE structure and the VIE Agreements do not
violate the relevant prevailing laws and regulations in the PRC;
(i) the VIE Agreements would not be deemed as concealing
illegal intentions with a lawful form and void under the PRC
contract law; and (iii) save for the clause providing that the
arbitration tribunal may award injunctive relief or winding up
orders and that the courts in Hong Kong, the Cayman Islands
and the PRC may grant temporary injunctive relief or other
temporary remedies, which may not be enforceable under PRC
law, the VIE Agreements are enforceable under the laws of the
PRC. Based on the above, the Directors believe that the VIE
Agreements conferring significant control and economic benefits
from Wowxue to the Target Company are enforceable under the
relevant laws and regulations.
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INFORMATION OF THE VIE AGREEMENTS

The VIE Agreements

(1) Management Services Agreement

Date

Parties

Scope of
services

31 August 2017

(1)  Wowxue;

(2)  Huzhou Company; and

(3) The Registered Shareholders.

Huzhou Company shall provide investment
advice, planning and other business advice
on the operation and technical services of
Wowxue in accordance with the requirements
of Wowxue. Huzhou Company shall
participate and assist in the management
of the project operation and complete the
management consulting service in time and
submit the relevant management consulting
report within the time limit required by
Wowxue, and provide the required technical
services. Such services include but not
limited to the following:

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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(i

(i)

Management Discussion and Analysis
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to select and facilitate the
employment of qualified persons and
experts in respect of the businesses
of Wowxue in internet education
information services and teacher
qualifications, and to provide the
required or appropriate training to
the managers, department heads,
administration staff and accounting
staff and all other employees of
Wowxue;

provide strategic advice, from time to
time, on the negotiation and signing
of contract(s) which is/are required or
in connection with the daily operation
and business of Wowxue;

formulate rules, regulations,
internal control policies, risk control
management systems, standards
administration, accounting, budget,
marketing, human resources and
operating policies, as well as the
practices which are relevant to or
affecting the business of Wowxue,
and assist Wowxue in the effective
implementation of relevant policies
and practices;
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(vi)

(vil)

(viii)

(i)

to plan, prepare, as well as provide
public relations services and promote
activities for Wowxue and to assist
Wowxue to enter into contract(s)
with third parties for businesses such
as internet education information
services and certification of teachers’
qualification;

from time to time or at the request of
Wowxue to review and improve the
operation of Wowxue;

in general, to perform all reasonable
and necessary actions in relation to
Wowxue’s business operations in an
effective and appropriate manner;

on behalf of Wowxue, to make
investments related to its business
scope, establish branches,
subsidiaries and make decisions on
merger and acquisitions;

to provide Wowxue with the global
market information, market research
data and analysis on internet
education information services and
certification of teachers’ qualification;
and

to provide investment advice,
planning and other business
advice on the operation and
project investment of Wowxue,
and to participate and assist in the
management of project operations in
accordance with the requirements of
Wowxue.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Fee

Guarantee

Term

Management Discussion and Analysis

Wowxue shall make provisions for and
pay management and consultancy fees
to Huzhou Company on an annual basis,
which shall be equivalent to the total
income of Wowxue minus all relevant
costs, expenses and taxes payable by
Wowxue. If there is a loss in a given
year, then no provisions for the said
management and consultancy fees would
be required for the year until Wowxue
records a surplus.

The Registered Shareholders have pledged
their holding of 100% of the equity interest
in Wowxue to guarantee Wowxue to fulfill
its obligations under the Management
Services Agreement.

A term of ten years from the date of
signing of the Management Services
Agreement. Upon the expiry of each
term, Huzhou Company is entitled at its
sole and absolute discretion to renew
the Management Services Agreement
for a further term of ten years for each
renewal. Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders are not entitled to terminate
the Management Services Agreement
during the term of such agreement.
Huzhou Company is entitled to terminate
the Management Services Agreement by
giving thirty days of prior notice in writing
to Wowxue.
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)

Irrevocable Option Agreement

Date : 31 August 2017 (as amended by a
supplemental agreement dated 25
September 2017)

Parties (1)
@)
@)
Subject ()}
Term

Wowxue;
Huzhou Company; and
The Registered Shareholders.

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders irrevocably grant
the right to Huzhou Company to
purchase the entire equity interest in
Wowxue for no consideration or, if
nil consideration for purchasing the
entire equity interest in Wowxue by
Huzhou Company is unacceptable
by relevant local regulations or
government departments, at such
consideration will be determined by
Huzhou Company. The Registered
Shareholders must return to Huzhou
Company or its nominee any
consideration that the Registered
Shareholders had received from
Huzhou Company for the acquisition
of the equity interest in Wowxue;

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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(i)

(iv)

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Huzhou Company shall also have
the right at its discretion to direct
Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders to transfer the equity
interest in Wowxue to a third party
designated or arranged by Huzhou
Company at no consideration or, if
nil consideration for purchasing the
entire equity interest in Wowxue by
a third party designated or arranged
by Huzhou Company is unacceptable
by relevant local regulations or
government departments, at such
consideration will be determined by
Huzhou Company. The Registered
Shareholders must return to Huzhou
Company or its nominee any
consideration that the Registered
Shareholders had received from
Huzhou Company for the acquisition
of the equity interest in Wowxue;

Huzhou Company may at any
time by way of serving a notice of
purchase (including by telephone,
e-mail, telegraph) to Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders in order to
exercise the option to purchase the
equity interest in Wowxue;

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders shall notify Huzhou
Company by way of written notice
in the event of a divorce, major
diseases, insolvency (including but
not limited to being prosecuted),
bankruptcy, dissolution or
deregistration, etc., which may
potentially affect their holding of
equity interest in Wowxue;
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(vi)

If any Registered Shareholders
by reason of divorce, insolvency,
death, bankruptcy, dissolution,
deregistration, etc, may lead to their
equity interest in Wowxue being
inherited or transferred to other
third party(ies) (including but not
limited to their spouse, heir, creditor,
etc.), and in the event that Huzhou
Company decided not to exercise
the option set out in paragraphs (i)
and (i) above, the other Registered
Shareholders shall exercise their right
of first refusal to acquire the relevant
equity interest in Wowxue such
that the party who had exercised
the right of first of refusal shall be
subject to the obligations under the
Management Services Agreement,
the Irrevocable Option Agreement,
the Loan Agreement and the Equity
Pledge Agreement; and

Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders have covenanted,
among others, that:

(@ without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company,
they shall not sell, transfer,
mortgage, dispose of by way of
gift or dispose of in any other
manner any equity interest in
Wowxue or create any security
interest in such equity interest;

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Term

Management Discussion and Analysis

(b) without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company,
Wowxue shall not enter into
any transaction (except in the
ordinary course of business)
that may cause any material
changes to its assets, liabilities,
operations, shareholders’
interests or other legal interests;
and

(¢) they shall not in any manner
supplement or amend the
articles of association of
Wowxue to the extent that
it may cause any material
changes to the assets,
liabilities, operations,
shareholders’ interests or other
legal interests of Wowxue.

The exercise period of the option shall
remain in effect indefinitely as permitted
by the law and/or until Huzhou Company
having exercised such option.
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3)

Loan Agreement

Date : 31 August 2017 (as amended by a
supplemental agreement dated 25
September 2017)

Parties (1)

Subject ()}

(i

Huzhou Company; and

The Registered Shareholders.

Subject to the operational needs
of Wowxue, Huzhou Company
may at its discretion, from time to
time, provide an interest free loan
to the Registered Shareholders by
way of entrusted bank loans or by
other legal ways. The amount and
conditions of the loan, if provided,
shall be determined by Huzhou
Company at its sole discretion, and
such loan shall be used as the paid
in capital of Wowxue.

Formal loan agreement(s), entrusted
loan agreement(s) or other relevant
agreement(s) shall be entered into
between Huzhou Company, the
Registered Shareholders, and other
relevant parties according to the
actual situation.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BREERZRERAR

Bitth#&

ER:

HE)

ITEFE

—E—tFAA=1—H
(REHR-_ZT—LFN
AZthHZERGZEE
A1)

(1) MMAR &
(2 BITKE-

BRERAENEKT
Z - AMRE AR
BEAZFERITER
HAIAEMEE
IATEREZR
REREEER-
EXBERGKH
(InA) BAM AR
ERBBRE B
HEERERER
BrEWERS -

(i

(i) EREHHE-
TERBELEM
16 8 193 =% 78 68 S5
DA BRBERE
Hin8BzI AR

BERBRAIAL °



(4)

Interest

Term
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Non-interest bearing

In the event of any of the following
circumstances, the loan will expire and the
Registered Shareholders shall repay the
loan at the request of Huzhou Company:

()  Wowxue having filed for or having
been subject to bankruptcy
petition, bankruptcy reorganization,
bankruptcy liquidation or winding up
petition; and

(i)  Huzhou Company having fully
exercised its right to purchase the
entire equity interest in Wowxue in
accordance with the Irrevocable
Option Agreement.

Equity Pledge Agreement

Date

Parties

Subject

Term

31 August 2017

(1)  Wowxue;

(2)  Huzhou Company; and

(3) The Registered Shareholders.

The Registered Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocable agreed to
pledge all the equity interest in Wowxue
that they own (including any interest
or dividend paid for such shares) to
Huzhou Company as a security for the
performance of the obligations by Wowxue
and the Registered Shareholders under the
Management Services Agreement.

The pledge shall remain valid until
Wowxue and the Registered Shareholders
unconditionally and irrevocably fulfilled all
the obligations (including, but not limited
to, the settlement and/or the payment of
the service charge, liquidated damages (if
any), etc.) under the Management Services
Agreement.
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(3)

S

Power of Attorney

Date

Parties

Subject

Term

31 August 2017
(1) Huzhou Company; and

(2) The directors of Wowxue, the
Registered Shareholders or the legal
representative of Wowxue

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney, the
directors of Wowxue, the Registered
Shareholders and the legal representative
of Wowxue have irrevocably appointed
Huzhou Company as its/their attorney-
in-fact to (i) exercise all the directors’
rights, shareholders’ rights and legal
representative’s rights (as the case may
be) including but not limited to passing
of board resolutions and shareholders’
resolutions as well as the right to
appoint or remove the directors, legal
representative, general manager and
other senior management of Wowxue;
(i) sign on their behalf all the documents
necessary to give effect to the VIE
Agreements; (iii) exercise all the rights
and powers under the Equity Pledge
Agreement and the right to deal with
the assets of Wowxue; and (iv) submit
documents to the competent company
registration authorities of Wowxue or other
relevant authorities for filing purpose.
As confirmed by Huzhou Company, the
authorizations under the Power of Attorney
will be granted to the relevant officers/
management of Huzhou Company who are
third parties independent to the Registered
Shareholders and their associates.

From the date of the Power of Attorney to
the earlier of the revocation or termination
of each of the Management Services
Agreement, Irrevocable Option Agreement,
Loan Agreement and Equity Pledge
Agreement

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BREERZRERAR

(5)

REZHE

HE

BE]

TEZFE

HARR

—E—+HFNA=1+—H
(1)  #HMNAR R

@ RBEZF BiK
RYARBEERK
A

REREZRE K22
B EEBRERAEBEE
REABEFAHBEHE
THMARAERER
BA ({TE—ESRE
A BREEMNREERE
ANEF| (BBRME) &
BETRR  ARESE
RER BRERERERZ
TREBRAEES AT
REA BLEERHEMS
MEEE 2R (RE
BREFUEFZELERE
ERZEB BB (i)
IERELSHBRETNZ
FTAREFI R HE A R R 2
REBEEZER  R(v)FA
KREBZ T EDNAIE T
sk KA B R IR X X M
LATERE o 38 20381 A &1 B
R BEREZLE
RIER R T8N D =) 18R
SHEEBE BEE #HE
BB N B R R H B
BAZE=F o

BEREZREEAHERE
BREAR - TAHEN
BRERZE - B3 @R
PBCHE % 185 7 5 TR 15D o 4
WA L BFHE



(6)

Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWED T

Undertaking Letters

Date

Parties

Subject

31 August 2017 (as amended by a
supplemental letter dated 25 September
2017)

(1) Huzhou Company; and

(2) The directors of Wowxue, the
Registered Shareholders and the
legal representative of Wowxue

Pursuant to the Undertaking Letters,
the directors of Wowxue, the Registered
Shareholders and the legal representative
of Wowxue, irrevocably undertake that:
(i) they will act in accordance with the
instructions of Huzhou Company upon the
exercise of the powers of the directors of
Wowxue, the power of the shareholders
of Wowxue and the power of the legal
representative of Wowxue respectively;
and (i) each of the directors of Wowxue,
each of the Registered Shareholders of
Wowxue and the legal representative
of Wowxue has also undertaken not to
compete with the business operating by
Wowxue.
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(7)

Declaration Letters

Date

Parties

Subject

31 August 2017

(1) Zhao Yingming “YM Zhao” and his
spouse; and

(2)  Zhao Yingyong “YY Zhao” and his
spouse

pursuant to the Declaration Letters,
YM Zhao and his spouse, and YY Zhao
and his spouse irrevocably declare that,
among other things, (i) acknowledge that
all the equity interests held by YM Zhao
and YY Zhao in the Wowxue do not form
part of their matrimonial property and YM
Zhao and YY Zhao are entitled to sign
and fulfill the VIE Agreements personally;
and (i) the spouse of YM Zhao and YY
Zhao undertake that if they get a divorce,
they will not claim the relevant equity in
the Wowxue by any way, including but
not limited to the equity of distribution
of profits, acquiring residual properties
upon liquidation of Wowxue, investment
and incorporation of branch offices and
subsidiaries.
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Protection of the interest and assets of Wowxue

The Management Services Agreement, Irrevocable Option
Agreement, Loan Agreement, Equity Pledge Agreement, and
the Undertaking Letters include a provision that each agreement
is binding on the successors and permitted assignees of the
respective parties. In the event of death, bankruptcy or divorce
of any party of the Registered Shareholders, Huzhou Company
may exercise its option under the Irrevocable Option Agreement
to replace the relevant party of the Registered Shareholders,
thus protecting the interest of the Group and allowing Huzhou
Company to enforce its rights under the VIE Agreements against
the successors and permitted assignees of the shareholders of
Wowxue.

In order to have effective control over and to safeguard the
assets of Wowxue, the VIE Agreements provide that, without the
prior written consent of Huzhou Company, Wowxue shall not, in
any form, dispose of significant assets (including but not limited
to any significant customer resources, fixed assets, trademarks,
technical knowhow or other intellectual property rights and/
or other equity interests or similar interests held by Wowxue),
operating rights and/or dispose of all or part of its business
(including sale, replacement, mortgage or disposal in any other
ways), with respect to it and/or its subsidiaries (if any).

The VIE Agreements also provide that, without the prior written
consent of Huzhou Company, (i) Wowxue shall not increase
or decrease the registered capital or accept any investment
or capital increase from the Registered Shareholders or any
third parties to Wowxue or change the form of the company or
make any major adjustments regarding carrying out liquidation
or dissolution; or the business scope, mode, profit model,
marketing strategy, business policy or customer relationship;
(i) Wowxue and/or its subsidiaries shall not enter into any
partnership or joint venture or profit sharing arrangement with
any third parties, or any other arrangements for the transfer of
benefits or profit sharing in the form of royalties, service fees or
consultancy fees; and (iii) Wowxue shall not declare or distribute
dividends or any other interests to its shareholders, including
the after-tax profits that Wowxue has not yet allocated before
the commencement of the VIE Agreements.
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Since the completion to acquire the Project Company on 22
November 2017, there were no changes in the VIE structure up
to 31 December 2020. The Board will review the VIE structure
regularly and determine if the Group encounters any issues in
safeguarding its assets held through the VIE Agreements. If
any major issues or difficulties arise in doing so, the Board will
engage legal advisers and/or other professionals to assist the
Group to tackle such issues or difficulties.

Financial information of Wowxue

Under the VIE Agreements, Wowxue is accounted for as a
consolidated structured entity that as a subsidiary of the Group.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, Wowxue recognised
total revenue of RMB24,622,000; profit of RMB11,017,000 and
Total assets of RMB64,917,000.

VIE Agreements confer economic benefits on Huzhou
Company from Wowxue

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group the right to enjoy all
the economic benefit of Wowxue by the Management Services
Agreement under which Wowxue will pay Huzhou Company
the management and consultancy fees equivalent to the total
income of Wowxue minus all relevant costs, expenses and taxes
payable by Wowxue.
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VIE Agreements confer control from Wowxue to Huzhou
Company

The VIE Agreements confer upon the Group sufficient
control over the board and daily operations of Wowxue. The
appointment of directors of Wowxue is subject to Huzhou
Company being satisfied of the director’s qualification and
requires the explicit consent of Huzhou Company. If Huzhou
Company is dissatisfied with the performance of the director(s)
of Wowxue and proposes to remove such director(s), Wowxue
shall remove such person(s) as director(s) upon Huzhou
Company’s proposal. Also, Wowxue agreed with Huzhou
Company that Wowxue will, and its shareholders will cause
Wowxue to, accept proposals put forward by Huzhou Company
relating to the daily operations of Wowxue and employment of
staff, operate all business of Wowxue in the ordinary course
of business and refrain from any action or omission that may
adversely affect the business of Wowxue.

Moreover, under the Management Services Agreement,
Huzhou Company will formulate rules, regulations, internal
control policies, risk control management systems, standards
administration, accounting, budget, marketing, human
resources and operating policies, as well as the practices which
are relevant to or affecting the business of Wowxue, and assist
Wowxue in the effective implementation of relevant policies and
practices.

Furthermore, as a general housekeeping rule, Huzhou Company
will have the custody of the constitutional items of Wowxue,
including the company chop and seal. At the request of
Huzhou Company, Wowxue will provide it with the relevant
legal documents and other information on Wowxue’s business
operation.
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RISKS AND LIMITATIONS RELATING TO THE
VIE AGREEMENTS

Economic risks of the Company

Huzhou Company, as the primary beneficiary of Wowxue,
is not obligated under any of the VIE Agreements to share
the losses of Wowxue or provide financial support to
Wowxue. Moreover, as a limited liability company, Wowxue
is solely liable for its own debts and losses. As advised
by the PRC Legal Adviser, the PRC laws and regulations
do not expressly require Huzhou Company to share the
losses of Wowxue or provide financial support to Wowxue.

Limitations in exercising the option to acquire
ownership in Wowxue

In the case that Huzhou Company exercises its options to
acquire all or part of the equity interest in Wowxue under
the Irrevocable Option Agreement, the acquisition of the
entire equity interests in Wowxue may only be conducted
to the extent as permitted by the applicable PRC laws
and may be subject to necessary approvals and relevant
procedures under applicable PRC laws.

Further, a substantial amount of other costs (if any),
expenses and time may be involved in transferring the
ownership of Wowxue, which may have a material adverse
impact on Huzhou Company’s businesses, prospects and
results of operation.

Huzhou Company may need to pay a substantial
amount of enterprise income tax for the income from the
ownership transfer according to the Irrevocable Option
Agreement.
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Arrangements when potential conflicts of interest arise

Huzhou Company shall rely on the VIE Agreements
to exercise control over and to draw the economic
benefits from Wowxue. Huzhou Company may not be
able to provide sufficient incentives to the Registered
Shareholders for the purpose of encouraging it/them to
act in the best interests of Wowxue, other than stipulating
the relevant obligations in the VIE Agreements. The
Registered Shareholders may breach the VIE Agreements
in the event of conflicts of interest or deterioration of its/
their relationship with Huzhou Company, the results of
which may have a material adverse impact on Huzhou
Company’s business, prospects and results of operation.

It is not assured that if conflicts arise, the Registered
Shareholders will act in the best interests of Huzhou
Company or that the conflicts will be resolved in favour of
Huzhou Company. If any of the Registered Shareholders
fail to perform its obligations under the respective VIE
Agreements, Huzhou Company may have to rely on legal
remedies under the PRC laws through legal proceedings,
which may be expensive, time-consuming and disruptive
to Huzhou Company’s operations and will be subject to
uncertainties as discussed above.

Other risks relating to the VIE Agreements

Firstly, despite (i) there is currently no indication that the
VIE Agreements will be interfered or objected by any PRC
regulatory authorities; and (i) the PRC Legal Adviser is
of the view that the VIE Agreements do not violate any
prevailing PRC laws or regulations, uncertainties still
exist regarding the interpretation and application of the
PRC laws and regulations especially in the area of value-
added telecommunications business. For instance, the
PRC regulatory authorities may issue further guidelines
that impose stricter foreign ownership requirements in that
area of business. Given the uncertain legal and business
environment in the PRC, it is difficult to foresee whether
the PRC regulatory authorities will take the same view
regarding the VIE Agreements as the PRC Legal Adviser in
the future.
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On 19 January 2015, the Ministry of Commerce of the
PRC published the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law
(FEARAMBEINEKREE (ERBCRERR) and the
Explanation on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law (8
AP EARKMBEINEREZ (ERBCRERR) U
BH) (collectively the “Draft Law”) pursuant to which foreign
companies gaining control over domestic companies via
contractual arrangements such as the VIE Agreements will
be regarded as foreign investments and will be governed
by the Draft Law when it is adopted and becomes law.
The PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that the Draft Law
is currently in consultation stage and has not yet been
effective or legally binding. As there are uncertainties on
the final content and interpretations of the Draft Law, there
is no assurance that the VIE Agreements will comply with
the Draft Law when it is adopted and becomes law.

Secondly, the VIE Agreements may not provide control
as effective as direct ownership. Huzhou Company does
not have any direct equity ownership in Wowxue and
has relied on the VIE Agreements to effect changes in
the management of Wowxue and make an impact on
its business decision making, as opposed to exercising
its rights directly as a shareholder. If Wowxue or its
shareholders refuse to cooperate, the Company will face
difficulties in effecting control over Wowxue’s operation of
business through the VIE structure, which may adversely
affect the Company’s business efficiency.
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Thirdly, according to the Regulations on the Administration
of Foreign-invested Telecommunication Enterprises
(2016 Revision) MR EBELEEEE T (2016 &
7])) (the “FITE Regulations”), which were promulgated
by the State Council of the PRC on 11 December 2001,
and amended on 10 September 2008 and 6 February
2016, it requires a foreign investor who invests in a
value-added telecommunications business in the PRC
must possess prior experience in operating value-added
telecommunications businesses and a proven track
record of business operations overseas (the “Qualification
Requirement”). Currently, none of the applicable PRC
laws, regulations or rules provides clear guidance or
interpretation on the Qualification Requirement. Despite
the lack of clear guidance or interpretation on the
Qualification Requirements, the Company intends to
acquire the entire equity interests in the Wowxue when the
PRC laws allow foreign investors to invest in value-added
telecommunications business in the PRC. The Group
plans to take steps to build up its track record of overseas
value-added telecommunications business operations in
an attempt to comply with the Qualifications Requirements,
i.e., to establish overseas office in Hong Kong and to
register a certain number of domain names outside of
the PRC for conducting operation of websites and other
businesses in relation to value-added telecommunication
services in Hong Kong in coming one to three years, so
as to be qualified to acquire the entire equity interests in
the Wowxue when the relevant PRC laws allow foreign
investors to invest and to hold a majority interest in value-
added telecommunications enterprises in PRC. However,
there is a risk that when the restrictions on foreign
ownership in value-added telecommunications businesses
are lifted in the PRC, Huzhou Company may still be
required to unwind the VIE Agreements before Huzhou
Company’s foreign investor Hong Kong Cybernaut is in a
position to fully comply with the Qualification Requirement.
Therefore, there is no guarantee that the steps taken will
be sufficient to enable Huzhou Company to ultimately
acquire the ownership in Wowxue.
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Fourthly, the VIE Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the tax authorities and additional tax may be imposed.
Under the Management Services Agreement, Wowxue
is required to pay Huzhou Company management and
consultancy fees for the services rendered by Huzhou
Company. Such service fee payments between related
parties may be subject to scrutiny or challenge by the
PRC tax authorities within ten years after the taxable year
when such transactions are conducted.

Fifthly, the VIE Agreements are governed by the PRC laws.
When a dispute arises under any of the VIE Agreements,
the parties to the dispute may have to rely on legal
remedies under the PRC laws. The VIE Agreements
provide that dispute will be submitted to the South China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
EEEBRLEEE SMHEZ B E) for arbitration to be
conducted in Shenzhen. The decision of such arbitration is
final and binding on the parties to the dispute.

Since the legal environment in the PRC is different
from that in Hong Kong and other jurisdictions, the
uncertainties in the PRC legal system could limit the ability
of Huzhou Company to enforce the VIE Agreements.
There is no assurance that such arbitration result will
be in favour of Huzhou Company and/or that there will
not be any difficulties in enforcing any arbitral awards
granted, including specific performance or injunctive
relief and claiming damages by Huzhou Company. As
Huzhou Company may not be able to obtain sufficient
remedies in a timely manner, its ability to exert effective
control over Wowxue and the conduct of the value-
added telecommunication business could be materially
and adversely affected, and may disrupt the business of
Huzhou Company and have a material adverse impact on
Huzhou Company’s business, prospects and results of
operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Lastly, the VIE Agreements provide that the arbitration
tribunal may award remedies over the equity interests
or assets of Wowxue or injunctive relief (e.g. for the
conduct of business or to compel the transfer of assets)
or order the winding up of Wowxue. The VIE Agreements
also include a clause in relation to dispute resolution
among the parties where, when awaiting the formation
of the arbitration tribunal or otherwise under appropriate
conditions, the parties thereto may seek temporary
injunctive relief or other temporary remedies from the
courts in Hong Kong, Cayman lIslands, the PRC and the
location where the principal assets of the Company and
Wowxue are located.

However, the PRC Legal Adviser is of the view that
pursuant to the PRC laws, the arbitration tribunal may
have no power to grant the aforementioned remedies or
injunctive relief or to order the winding up of Wowxue. In
addition, even though the VIE Agreements provide that
overseas courts (e.g. courts in Hong Kong and Cayman
Islands) shall have the power to grant certain relief or
remedies, such relief or remedies may not be recognised
or enforced under the PRC laws. As a result, in the event
that Wowxue or the Registered Shareholders breaches the
terms of the VIE Agreements, the Company may not be
able to obtain sufficient remedies in a timely manner, and
its ability to exert effective control over Wowxue could be
materially and adversely affected. Huzhou Company does
not maintain any insurance to cover the risks relating to
the VIE Agreements.

The Board will continue to review the VIE Structure
regularly and determine if the Group encounters any
issues in safeguarding its assets held through the VIE
Agreements. If any major issues or difficulties arise in
doing so, the Board will continue to engage legal advisers
and/or other professionals to assist the Group to tackle
such issues or difficulties. Up to 31 December 2020, the
Group does not maintain any insurance to cover the risks
relating to the VIE Agreements.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

Despite the above, as advised by the PRC legal advisers
to the Company, the VIE Structure is in compliance with
and, to the extent governed by the PRC laws currently in
force, are enforceable under, the current PRC laws. The
Company will continue to monitor the relevant PRC laws
and regulations relevant to the VIE Structure and will take
all necessary actions to protect the Company’s interest in
the Structured Entity.

UNWINDING OF THE VIE AGREEMENT

Up to 31 December 2020, none of the VIE Agreements has
been unwound as none of the restrictions that led to the
adoption of VIE Agreements has been removed.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION (INCLUDING
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTION)

In this Annual Report relating to the VIE Agreements. Mr. Zhu
Min is one of the beneficial owners of Wowxue. Thus, Wowxue
is an associate of Mr. Zhu and is a connected person of the
Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The VIE
Agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, and
is subject to the reporting, announcement and Independent
Shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules. The Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to the
Company from (i) setting maximum aggregate annual caps for
the service fees payable by Wowxue to Huzhou Company under
the Management Services Agreement and the loan(s) to be
made available by Huzhou Company under the Loan Agreement
pursuant to Rule 14A.53 of the Listing Rules; and (ii) setting
a fixed term for each of the VIE Agreements (other than the
Management Services Agreement) pursuant to Rule 14A.52 of
the Listing Rules, subject to certain conditions.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total amount of
service fees paid by Wowxue to Huzhou Company under
the Management Services Agreement was approximately
RMB18,578,000 and the total amount of loans made available
by Huzhou Company under the Loan Agreement was nil.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Pursuant to Rule 14A.71(6), the independent non-executive
directors of the Company have reviewed and confirmed that
the transactions under the VIE Agreements had been entered
into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group,
on normal commercial terms or better, and according to the
agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.
Based on the work performed, the auditor of the Company has
confirmed in a letter to the Board that nothing has come to
their attention that causes them to believe that the transactions
under the VIE Agreements (i) have not been approved by the
Board; (i) were not, in all material respects, in accordance with
the pricing policies of the Group for transactions involved the
provision of goods and services by the Group; (i) were not
entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with the
terms of the relevant agreements governing such transactions;
and (iv) no dividends or other distributions have been made
by Wowxue to the holders of its equity interest which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

In respect of the connected transaction announced on 5 July
2019 relating to the subscription of a fund (the Hana Fund), the
Company agreed to a commitment of US$5 million to the fund
as limited partner and the amount of actual subscription paid
during the year ended 31 December 2020 was nil.

In respect of the connected transaction announced on 9
July 2019 relating to financial assistance by connected
persons, the principal amount of the financial assistance was
HK$113,208,000. The Company entered into the deed of
amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity date of
the promissory note (PN1) to 9 July 2021 and decrease the
interest rate from 2% to 1% per annum effective from 9 July
2019. Then, On 2 December 2020, the Company entered into
the deed of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity
date of the PN1 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate remained
to 1% per annum effective from 2 December 2020. (Details
refer to Note 35 of the Consolidated Financial Statement of the
annual report).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

In respect to the connected transaction of the Share Purchase
Agreement with Cybernaut Education Limited (the “vendor”) on
26 July 2017, there was a profit guarantee by the vender for
the 4th period of six months ending 31 December 2019. The
Company received the Auditor’s Certificate confirming that the
4th guaranteed profit for the 4th guaranteed period had been
fulfilled in the business and set out in note 36. Accordingly,
the Company issued the 4th Promissory Note in the principal
amount of HK$55 million to the Vendor or its nominee(s) during
the year ended 31 December 2020 as set out in note 35, for the
partial settlement of the Consideration pursuant to the Sale and
Purchase Agreement dated 26 July 2017 which constitutes a
discloseable connected transaction as defined under the Listing
Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION

All the related party transactions disclosed in Note 40 to
the Consolidated Financial Statement in this 2020 Annual
Report (except the transaction with Hongshanshu (Hangzhou)
Information Technology Co., Ltd) constituted connected
transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules but were all fully exempt from shareholders’ approval,
annual review and all disclosure requirements, save for the
transaction with Mr Zhu Min which is related to the profit
guarantee given by a connected person and the Company is
required to disclose in the 2019 Annual Report whether the
profit guarantee was met pursuant to Rule 14A.63(3). The
Company would refer to its announcements dated 30 August
2018, 8 April 2019, 10 September 2019 and 14 August 2020
and confirmed that the respective guaranteed profits for each
of the 6 month period ended 30 June 2018, 31 December
2018, 30 June 2019 and 31 December 2019 were fulfilled. The
Company confirmed that where any related party transactions
constituted connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, the Company has complied with all requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

HUMAN RESOURCES AND STAFF
REMUNERATION

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had about 145 staff
members employed in mainland China and Hong Kong (2019:
211). Total staff costs for the year were approximately RMB21.5
million (2019: RMB20.6 million (Represented)). During the
year, the Group continued to reinforce the training to its staff
by providing training and study opportunities for management
staff and professional technicians. In addition, the Group has
provided a timely update to all staff about the latest government
policies of the industry to continuously enhance the professional
standard and quality of the staff.

Meanwhile, the Group has provided competitive remuneration
for staff which encourages them to commit themselves and
serve customers wholeheartedly. The Group operates share
option scheme for the purpose to provide incentives and
rewards to eligible directors and employees of the Group
who contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
The Group granted 120 million share options to its eligible
employees during the financial year as announced on 7 May
2019. The remuneration payable to the senior management of
the Company (excluding Directors and Chief Executive Officer)
for the year ended 31 December 2020 was determined with
reference to their position, responsibilities and experience and
prevailing market condition.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

COMPLIANCE WITH MONEY LENDERS
ORDINANCE (CHAPTER 163 OF THE LAWS OF
HONG KONG) (THE “MLO")

Our money lending business is required to and has, at all times,
strictly complied with all relevant laws and regulations. In the
opinion of our Directors, in addition to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), MLO constituted
a significant influence on our Group’s money lending business
during the year. The MLO is the principal ordinance which
governs the money lending business in Hong Kong. Our money
lending business has been conducted through the subsidiary of
our Company. Since the first granting of money lenders licence
to our subsidiary, we have never received any objection from
and have never been investigated by the Registrar of Money
Lenders nor the Commissioner of Police regarding the renewal
of the money lenders licence. To the best of our knowledge,
our Group has complied with the MLO in all material aspects,
and that our Directors are not aware of any matters that might
come to their attention that our money lenders licence would be
suspended, terminated or would not be renewed in foreseeable
future.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

In recent years, China’s trading partners and investors have
been closely watching the health of the world’s second-largest
economy as the trade war between U.S. and China intensified,
takes a heavier toll on businesses and investment, and been
fuelling worries of a global recession. The China economy grew
at the slowest pace in more than four decades in 2020, while
facing the strong headwinds ahead in global competition, but
remained on course to be the only major economy in the world
to have expanded, with the merit on its prompt, strict virus
containment measures and emergency relief for businesses
to help the economy recovery since the Covid-19 coronavirus
outbreak. The coronavirus disruptions around the world has
fuelled the demand for the Chinese goods and exports are
expected to grow more than last year, however, Covid-19 will
still a major drain on the growth of Chinese economy in 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Hong Kong continues to have an active and growing money-
lending market. Since 2016, the Hong Kong Government
has adopted a four-pronged approach to enhancing the
compliance standards of non-bank money lenders. The Hong
Kong Companies Registry (CR), which currently performs the
role of Registrar of Money Lenders (‘Registrar’) pursuant to
the Money Lenders Ordinance (MLO), has recently released
a new Guideline on Fit and Proper Criteria for Licensing of
Money Lenders (“Fit and Proper Guideline”) and a Guideline on
Submission of Business Plan by Applicant of a Money Lenders
Licence (‘Business Plan Guideline”). And the new guidelines
(“Guidelines”) will be effective from 1 April 2021. In regard to
the lending business segment of the Cybernaut Group, TCL will
continue granting mortgage loan to clients in a prudent manner,
so the lending subsidiary business can well meet the needs
for the Hong Kong property market accordingly. Facing the
Covid-19 pandemic in Hong Kong, TCL will be more cautious to
the market demand and defaulting possibility of customers. TCL
will also pay close attention on the application of the updated
MLO and Guidelines, and with its tight credit policy to grant
mortgage loans or for loan renewals, strictly to customers only
of good reference check.

Our subsidiary engaged in eCommerce business, has majority
of business specialized on B2C retailing through the platforms
including eBay and Amazon will increase its product-mix and
expand market developments. Besides, selling through other
different marketplaces in different countries, for examples:
Rakuten in Germany. cDiscount, Fnac and Darty in France,
and ePrice in ltaly; VTZero in eCommerce can diversify market
risks and expand with more business, as these European
marketplaces are growing rapidly and are mostly welcomed
by their local people. Today, the eCommerce industry is highly
competitive and eCommerce activities are difficult to manage.
According to a study by Paypal, approximately 86 percent
of mid to large eCommerce enterprises’ had problems with
logistics and fulfilling orders, 43 percent of the merchants’ cash
flow also suffered due to coronavirus Covid-19 outbreak in
Hong Kong during 2020.
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BEREFNWED

Online retailers today are not just moving beyond competing
on price to competing also on logistics, but have to strive for
survival through alliance with reputable delivery companies
on prompt and quality services, especially at the time of the
Covid-19 pandemic and lockdown situations. To enhance
the market penetration overseas, the eCommerce subsidiary
management of the Company has liaised with different local
business partners of the existing alliance and logistic network,
by selling more diversified new eCommerce products to
overseas consumers with an efficient delivery arrangement.

In 2020, the online education markets in China was more vibrant
and growing competitively. With the coronavirus pandemic
under control in early spring 2020 in China, there are now fewer
courses and fewer students attending classes than before, and
some people even find that the online education more helpful
and convenient. In fact, the competition among online education
companies become increasingly brutal. Technology giants
including Alibaba, Tencent, and ByteDance want to cash in on
their online traffic in the education industry. ByteDance has the
education business sector built through acquisitions and self-
incubation in English language training, K12, higher education,
and education hardware segments. Tencent’s investment arm
has made 34 investments in education with a total investment
of approximately RMB11.7 billion, and has invested in K12,
quality education, preschool education, and even examination
preparation segments. Covid-19 epidemic has impacted offline
education more directly but it also means online education has
become more crowded and harder to compete. Only leaders
and tech giants of online education are capable of sector
consolidation that many analysts have believed that they will
reshape the online education sector in future.

Facing the keen competition, our online education subsidiary
management has engaged highly qualified education expertise
and supportive staff through the existing VIE arrangements to
provide high-quality updated education packages and online
platforms for customers, and monitored closely the market
needs and changes of the online education industry in China.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Money lending business

The second half of the current financial year remains challenging
and highly unpredictable. The Covid-19 pandemic continuously
impacts on Hong Kong economy and her business environment.
It is also expected that the Sino-US trade war and politica
tension will be on-going in 2021. We expect these unfavourable
factors will continue to affect our loan product demand and our
business operations for the coming financial periods, but the
development of the Greater Bay Area is expected to improve
growth prospects in the medium term. Although the Hong Kong
Government has rolled out several relief measures and support
schemes to back enterprises and to support employment, it is
expected the global economy and the Hong Kong economic
outlook will remain sluggish during 2021. Our money lending
subsidiary, TCL will continue its tight credit policy when
granting mortgage loans or loan renewals, and will restrict only
to customers of good reference check or in referral business
with strategic partnership via sub-mortgage arrangements, so
as to maintain steady business in an effective manner. TCL
will continue to adopt its existing lending policy with prudent
and flexible business strategies to meet the environmental
changes and property market trends in Hong Kong accordingly.
It will focus and continue to seize business opportunities on
the increasing demand for first-mortgage property loans with
interest income as its revenue source from its clients.
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BEREFNWED

ECommerce business

The growth momentum for the Group’s eCommerce business
continued in 2020 as a result of the increased “home” time and
less desire of the people to go to crowded areas under the
Covid-19 outbreak. The outbreak is an unprecedented challenge
which is still difficult for everyone to estimate how long it will
remain, but the Group observes that the consumers now have
a higher tendency and frequency to shop for their needs online
than before. The Group expects some of our customers may
change their shopping behavior from offline to online. Our
subsidiary engaged in eCommerce business, has specialized on
B2C retailing through the platforms including Amazon and eBay
will increase its product-mix and expand market developments.
Besides, in regard to B2B segment sales, it has been selling
second-handed mobile phones and accessories to Europe while
the sales turnover in B2B is growing month by month. The
eCommerce subsidiary management has found the turnover
from the B2B sales fruitful and will continue with current
strategy to seek greater market penetration overseas with more
involvement from different local partners through the existing
logistic network. Besides, the subsidiary has also enhanced
brand awareness in its self-hosted websites on search engine
marketing and after sales services. It has expanded more
eCommerce business transactions through sales channels
and platforms like Rakuten, Newegg, Walmart and Cdiscount
marketplaces etc., with an aim at higher business growth in
the non-English speaking markets. The subsidiary management
realizes that the easy access to its own website and the
eCommerce sales platforms can enable customers to choose
their products conveniently worldwide, and adopting its current
marketing strategy will continue to generate increasing revenue
return for the Group.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BREERZRERAR

(o

ETEEBERE

TECovid-19Z 15 » AMBERH K
B HAIEAZFEAENEARS <
REER T _TFNETHHEBER
B NIFE o ILEISTERAIFTRA R PhE -
MEARAEASRIFLZA - BRAEE
BIRME  HEEAREUEERRE
PEEHANE EREY) - AEBEHRTSES
AREERBEMITABRETEAE L - &M
WNEB AR EEFREGER - WiEAT
HifEReBayE FAH FNB2CEE - A
HIBIMEERMAEREATSERE - It
N BIB2BEGIHE - ZARIEHEZF
FHRERGEBNABBEKT AHES
EEYHSBER  cETREHBEAREE
BRRB2BEBMIHE L EXELE - B
BRBEMRBREELTRNE B
SEHP O BREEARBEERS BT
BEBER o I B AR INE B ES
2 REERB NG B & 4 uh i ke &
BE - BB FBHERBRTFAMEX
&= - ABIE K CdiscountEminig N E
ZBEIEBERS  BEHEEFNIFREBTS
EBER - -WBAREEEERIRHE
RBEERERETRAGHEHEFLanmES
ARERFPHEREARASHEEREER - KK
FREBRIEHREIGBESASEBRT
BT R AU BIFR o



Management Discussion and Analysis

Internet online education business

Online education industry in China has grown rapidly in the past
few years, but research analysts believe that more business
opportunities will surface as technology advances and capital
pours in. To achieve this, we will continue to invest more
in recruiting, retaining, training and promoting high calibre
teaching, course research and marketing staff. Along with the
development of 5G technology and increasing penetration
in the online education market, the competition in the online
education industry is intensifying. We will continue adopting
good strategy to optimise our product portfolio in response to
the fast-changing industry landscape and customers’ booming
demand for new technology and new content in China despite
the coronavirus pandemic.

China will become one of the world’s most vibrant online
education markets in future, as there are growing household
spending power, an undersupply of education resources, and
the introduction of the two-child policy in the country. Through
working for the online learning service, the teachers can publish
schedules online based on their own time arrangements and
teach classes from wherever there is internet accessible. The
Group will allocate more resources from its pool of education
experts in China to manage the subsidiary business growth and
development of the online education in 2020.

Looking forward, the global economy is unstable and the spread
of Covid-19 worldwide, so the Group will allocate sufficient
resources for market expansion in the profit-generating
subsidiaries, namely the money lending business, eCommerce
business and the online education business. Moreover, the
management is still prudently optimistic about the operating
environments of these profitable segment business and will
devote more corporate efforts to restructure cautiously the
underperformed or phase out the non-contributing ones.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEREFNWED

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CODE ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company had complied with all the code provisions (the
“Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code and Corporate Governance Report, contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) during the year ended 31 December 2020,
except for Code Provision A.6.7 in respect of the attendance
of non-executive directors and independent non-executive
directors in the general meetings.

According to Code Provision A.6.7, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Due to other business engagements, one
independent non-executive Director could not attend the 2019
annual general meeting held on 26 June 2020. However, at
the 2019 annual general meeting, there were executive and
independent non-executive Directors present to enable the
Board to develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
shareholders of the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR
SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct (the “Model
Code”) regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no
less exacting than the required standard set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors have confirmed
that they had complied with the required standard set out in the
Code of Conduct during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Relevant employees who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished price-sensitive information regarding the Group are
subject to compliance with the Company’s Code for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employees (the “RE Code”) in respect
of their dealings in the securities of the Company. The terms
of the RE Code are likewise no less exacting than the required
standards set out in the Model Code.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”)
comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Committee Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr.
Cao Ke.

The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the
management and the external auditor the accounting principles
and practices adopted by the Group and has also reviewed
auditing, risk management and internal control and financial
reporting matters, including the review of the annual results for
the year ended 31 December 2020.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company for the
year ended 31 December 2020.
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The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December
2020.

The Board is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance and endeavours in following the code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“CG Code”) and Corporate Governance
Report, contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules (‘Listing Rules”)
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The Board considers
such commitment is essential for the growth of the Group and
for maximising the interest of the shareholders (“Shareholders”)
of the Company. The Company regularly reviews its corporate
governance practices to ensure that the latest development in
corporate governance can be followed and observed.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the financial year under review, the Company had
complied with all the code provisions (the “Code Provisions”)
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report, contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) during
the year ended 31 December 2020, except for Code Provision
A.6.7 in respect of the attendance of independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors in the
general meetings.

According to Code Provision A.6.7, non-executive directors
and independent non-executive directors should attend general
meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Due to other business engagements, one non-
executive director could not attend the 2019 annual general
meeting held on 26 June 2020. However, at the 2019 annual
general meeting, there were executive and independent non-
executive directors present to enable the Board to develop a
balanced understanding of the views of the shareholders of the
Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company adopted on 7 June 2010 its securities dealing
code (“Code”) regarding the dealings of securities of the
Company by the Directors and senior management of the
Group, on terms no less exacting than the required standard
under the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

The Company, having made specific enquiry of all Directors
and senior management of the Group, all the Directors and
senior management of the Group have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Code and Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules regarding securities
transactions by Directors and senior management of the Group
throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of
the Company and oversees the Group’s overall strategic
policies. The management is delegated with the authority and
responsibility by the Board for the management of the Group.

During the year, the Board composed of four executive Directors
namely Mr. Zhu Min, Dr. Chen Huabei, Mr. Lu Yongchao, Ms.
Yip Sum Yu (appointed on 13 March 2020) and Mr. Sin Kwok
Wai Ronald (resigned on 13 March 2020); two non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Chow Chi Wa (resigned on 31 May 2020)
and Ms. Yip Sum Yu (resigned on 13 March 2020); and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong Yiu On,
Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke and the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company, Dr. Wang Matthew Yang. The biographical
details of the Directors and the Chief Executive Officers are set
out under “Directors and senior management” on pages 125 to
134 of this annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2020.
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Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, Mr.
Zhu Min (appointed as an executive Director on 16 February
2017), Dr. Chen Huabei (appointed as an executive Director on
11 June 2019), Mr. Lu Yongchao (appointed as an executive
Director on 16 February 2017) and Ms. Yip Sum Yu (appointed
as an executive Director on 13 March 2020) shall retire at the
2020 general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The non-executive Directors were appointed for a term of
one year, renewable automatically every year and eligible for
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board meets regularly to review and determine the
corporate strategies and overall strategic policies. Each of the
members of the Board has full access to relevant information
at the meetings. During the financial year ended 31 December
2020, the Board convened four regular meetings at which,
among other things, the following activities were conducted at
such regular meetings:

(1) approved the annual results and annual report for the
financial year ended 31 December 2019 and matters to be
considered at the annual general meeting of the Company;

(2) approved the interim results and interim report for the six
months ended 30 June 2020;

(8) reviewed and approved corporate strategies of the Group
for the financial year ending 31 December 2021; and

(4) reviewed the performance and financial position of the
Group.
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The Board is also responsible for determining the Company’s
corporate governance policies and performing corporate
governance duties set out under the CG Code. Its corporate
governance duties include, among others, (i) to develop and
review the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance; (ii) to review and monitor the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management; (iii) to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal or regulatory
requirements; (iv) to develop, review and monitor the code of
conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees
and Directors; and (v) to review the Company’s disclosure in its
corporate governance report.

Apart from the regular board meetings, the Board met on other
occasions when a board-level decision on a particular matter
was required.

Details of the Directors’ attendance records at the board
meetings and general meeting during the financial year ended
31 December 2020 are as follows:

Board General
Directors Meetings Meeting
Meetings attended/held
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhu Min 14/18 —/1
Dr. Chen Huabei 16/18 /1
Mr. Lu Yongchao 18/18 11
Ms. Yip Sum Yu? 14/18 1/1
Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald' 4/18 —/—
Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chow Chi Wa?® 14/18 —/-
Ms. Yip Sum Yu' 4/18 —/-
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On 16/18 11
Mr. Li Yik Sang 16/18 11
Mr. Cao Ke 16/18 —/1

! Resigned on 13 March 2020
2 Appointed on 13 March 2020
3 Resigned on 31 May 2020
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Whilst the Board as a whole is to determine the corporate
strategies and overall strategy policies, the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company, as delegated by
the Board, are responsible for implementing the determined
strategies and policies and the day-to-day management of the
Group’s business.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors and
senior management” of this annual report, there is no other
relationship (whether financial, business, family or other material/
relevant relationships) among the members of the Board.

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a written confirmation of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all the independent non-executive Directors to be
independent.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all directors
should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the board remains informed
and relevant. The Company shall be responsible for arranging
suitable training for all Directors at the Company’s expense.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Directors
participated in the following trainings:
Directors Type of training

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Min A B
Dr. Chen Huabei A B
Mr. Lu Yongchao A B
Ms. Yip Sum Yu? A B
Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald' A B
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Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chow Chi Wa?® A B
Ms. Yip Sum Yu' B

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yiu On A B
Mr. Li Yik Sang A, B
Mr. Cao Ke A B

L Resigned on 13 March 2020
2 Appointed on 13 March 2020
B Resigned on 31 May 2020

A:  attending seminars and/or conferences and/or forums

B: reading newspapers, journals, Company newsletters and
updates relating to the economy, general business, IT,
eCommerce and steel industry or Directors’ duties and
responsibilities, etc.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

During the year under review, the Board adopted a board
diversity policy setting out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. The Company considered diversity of Board
members can be achieved through consideration of a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

SHEARBE

FHITEE

BSERAS AR - B
Eiomit! B
BIAFRITES

FRZ L A¥ - BE
FASEE AR - BR
Brit AR - B

—ETF=A+=ZHEHT

8 RZTZTF=R+=AEEF
—E-EFRA=+—HET

AR 2N e R,/ SReEk  RwiE

B BIEHLE  —REHK BN
K -EFEBRMETEXRES
BMEBHEOME BT RAIER
B LRFENS

EFERASTILRE

EEFEAN  ESXSRAEZTSNESZT
LBR E%Bwﬁﬁﬁu EREFENESZ T
EH % - RRARIRAEETERENS T
m‘Jﬁa@%)ﬁﬁ(@%@T\ﬁﬁﬁé) MR - &
XIERBEER  BELR - B
MBEZEFERER - EEZEMEEME
ABAEARE RRA - IF BEE BIRE
ABUEBEGRSDZERESTEKRESTT
fEEV#EER ©

i%ﬂiﬁ/\ﬂ#ﬁ( i ZmtEERE
£ BERETRRMER - Fik - ER#
BER  BELR  RERAE - &R
ERREEANRELASEFTSREN
BREIMES -

Annual Report 2020 '77
—E-BEEH



Corporate Governance Report
CREARE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The nomination committee of the Company (“Nomination
Committee”) is currently consisted of four members, comprising
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong
Yiu On (Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke and one
executive Director, Mr. Lu Yongchao. It was established by the
Board with effect from 27 March 2012 and its duties are clearly
defined in its terms of reference which have been prepared and
adopted according to the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year
under review and conducted the following activities:

(1) reviewed the structure, size and diversity of the Board;
and

(2) reviewed the retirement of Directors by rotation and the
re-appointment of the retiring Directors at the 2019 annual
general meeting of the Company.

Details of attendance of each member of the Nomination
Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2020
are as follows:

Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Lu Yongchao 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
Mr. Cao Ke 2/2
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The remuneration committee of the Company (‘Remuneration
Committee”) currently comprises four members, including
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Cao
Ke (Chairman), Mr. Tong Yiu On and Mr. Li Yik Sang, and
one executive Director, Mr. Lu Yongchao. The Remuneration
Committee was established by the Board on 7 June 2010 and
its duties are clearly defined in its written terms of reference
which have been prepared and adopted according to the Code
Provisions.

Generally, the Remuneration Committee meets annually except
to special situations, to review the remuneration policies
and packages for Directors and senior management of the
Company and to make recommendations to the Board on such
remuneration policies and packages. No Director takes part in
any discussions and decisions about his own remuneration.

Details of attendance of each member of the Remuneration
Committee during the financial year ended 31 December 2020
are as follows:

Attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Lu Yongchao 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Cao Ke (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Tong Yiu On 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
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During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the
Remuneration Committee had convened two meetings with
full attendance by its members and conducted the following
activities:

(1) reviewed and approved the remuneration packages of the
Directors and senior management of the Company; and

(2) reviewed the terms of the service contracts of all the
executive Directors by reference to their performance.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”)
currently comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman), Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr.
Cao Ke. The Audit Committee was established by the Board
on 7 June 2010 and its duties are clearly defined in its written
terms of reference which have been prepared and adopted
according to the Code Provisions.

The Audit Committee provides an important link between the
Board and the Company’s auditor in matters coming within
the scope of the Group’s audit. It also reviews the annual and
interim reports of the Company prior to their approval by the
Board, the effectiveness of the external and internal audit and of
internal controls and risk evaluation.

During the financial year under review, the Audit Committee has
convened two meetings and conducted the following activities:

(1)  reviewed the annual and interim reports of the Company;

(2) reviewed the report of internal audit department, internal
controls system and financial matters of the Group in
pursuance of the written terms of reference;

(8) reviewed the audit plans and findings of the external
auditor of the Company; and

(4) made recommendation to the Board on the appointment
of the external auditor.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Details of attendance of each member of the Audit Committee
during the financial year ended 31 December 2020 are as
follows:

Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Li Yik Sang 2/2
Mr. Cao Ke 2/2

There was no disagreement between the Board’s and the Audit
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment of the external
auditor.

REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE
SENIOR MANAGEMENT BY BAND

Pursuant to Code B.1.5 of the Code Provisions, the
remuneration of the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2020 was set out below:

Number of
Remuneration band individuals
HK$1,000,000 — HK$2,000,000 2

Particulars of remunerations of directors are set out in note 14
to the financial statements.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the nature
of the audit and non-audit services provided by Elite Partners
CPA Limited, the auditor of the Company, and the relevant fees
paid/payable by the Company for such services are as follows:

Services rendered Fee paid/payable

HK$
Annual audit 890,000
Interim review 290,000

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

It is the responsibility of the Board to present a balanced,
clear and comprehensible assessment of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects.

The management provided sufficient explanation and
information to the Board to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of the financial and other information put
before the Board for approval.

RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements for each financial period which gives a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group. In preparing the
financial statements for the financial year ended 31 December
2020, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and applied them consistently, and have prepared the
financial statements on a historical cost basis.

The statement of the external auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements are set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 155 to 166 of this
annual report of the Company.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BREERZRERAR

o

ZBETE &

REBEE-_T-_TF+-_A=+—HILHK
FE  AARZEBAATEESFAER
FTERARRME 2 BT RIEET R 2 1%
B URARBIRZERBEN B2
BHAEBRWT

FRiR 4tz R 5 B2t EfEA

BT
FEER 890,000
R HAEE R 290,000
BREREE

ESERRTHARRINKRR - B KA
SEH—EFE - B R 2 ma T -

EEBERNEFERHANNBERER
MER - REES A AR A FIHE
R BB - (ERAB AR -

MUMBHRRIEZRE

EZEERBVEERAT RSB K
BMASEEBHBARR 2 M BHREK - EREE
EZECEFT A=+ —HIEMEREE
RN EEDEBEE SR
REREBER - WIRE AR RE
BHE -

SNEZ B AR ERYFEHRR ZER
BEEZBEACHRNARRZFRFE1G5E
166 B Z BI X BENRE N ©



Corporate Governance Report

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary supports the chairman, Board and
Board committees by ensuring good information flow and Board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is
an employee of the Company and is appointed by the Board.
The company secretary reports to the chairman and all directors
may call upon him for advice and assistance at any time in
respect of his duties.

During the year, Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald attended sufficient
professional training as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining
the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving
the Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going
basis. The Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of
resources, qualifications, experience and training of staff and
budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions.
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The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems to ensure adequate
control in place to safeguard the Group’s assets and

stakeholder’s interest.

The Group has established risk management procedures to
address and handle the all significant risks associated with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual review
on any significant change of the business environment and
establish procedures to address the risks result from significant
change of business environment. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to mitigate the potential
losses of the business.

The management would identify the risks associated with
the business of the Group by considering both internal and
external factors and events which include political, economic,
technology, environmental, social and staff. Each of the risks
has been assessed and prioritized based on its relevant impact
and likelihood. The relevant risk management strategy would
be applied to each type of risks according to the assessment
results, type of risk management strategy has been listed as
follow:

= Risk retention and reduction: accept the impact of risk or
undertake actions by the Group to reduce the impact of
the risk;

- Risk avoidance: change business process or objective so
as to avoid the risk;

= Risk sharing and diversification: diversify the effect of the
risk or allocate to different location, product or market;

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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- Risk transfer: transfer ownership and liability to a third
party. The internal control system is designed and
implemented to reduce the risks associated with the
business accepted by the Group and minimise the adverse
impact results from the risks. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has engaged
an external advisory firm to undertake the internal audit
function to ensure the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. No
significant deficiencies and weaknesses on the internal control
system has been identified by the external advisory firm for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

The Board considered that, for the year ended 31 December
2020, the risk management and internal control systems
and procedures of the Group, covering all material controls
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions were reasonably effective and adequate.

With respect to the procedures and internal controls for the
handling and dissemination of inside information, the Group has
internal procedures which strictly prohibit unauthorised use of
inside information and has communicated to all staff.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting

The following procedures for the Shareholders to convene
an extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) of the Company
are prepared in accordance with Article 64 of the articles of
association of the Company:
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(@) one or more Shareholders (‘Requisitionist(s)”) holding, at (a)
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the
right of voting at general meetings shall have the right,
by written notice, to require an EGM to be called by the
Directors for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

(b)  Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or (b)
the company secretary of the Company at the following:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong

Address: Unit 1002, Capital Centre,
151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: ir@cybernaut.com.hk
Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary
Registered office of the Company

Address: Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box
2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands

Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

() The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit (c)
of such requisition.

(d) If the Directors fail to proceed to convene such meeting (d)
within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit, the
Requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred
by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Directors shall be reimbursed to the Requisitionist(s) by
the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to direct enquiries to the Company

For matters in relation to the Board, the Shareholders can
contact the Company at the following:

Address: Unit 1002, Capital Centre, 151 Gloucester Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong

Email: ir@cybernaut.com.hk

Tel: (852) 3549 6353

Fax: (852) 3549 6354

Attention: the Board of Directors/Company Secretary

For share registration related matters, such as share transfer
and registration, change of name or address, loss of share
certificates or dividend warrants, the registered Shareholders
can contact:

Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address: Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Hong Kong

Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com

Tel: (852) 2980 1333

Fax: (852) 2810 8185
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Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at
shareholders’ meetings

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
a Shareholder should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal
(“Proposal”) with his/ner detailed contact information at the
Company’s principal place of business at Unit 1002, Capital
Centre, 151 Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The request will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrars in Hong Kong and upon their confirmation that the
request is proper and in order, the board of directors of the
Company will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda
for the general meeting.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for
consideration of the Proposal raised by the Shareholder
concerned at the general meeting varies according to the nature
of the Proposal as follows:

(@) Notice in writing of not less than 14 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of an ordinary resolution of the Company
in an extraordinary general meeting.

(b)  Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 10 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company.

(c) Notice in writing of not less than 21 clear days and not
less than 20 clear business days if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution or an ordinary
resolution of the Company in an annual general meeting of
the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

There was no significant change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

INTRODUCTION

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries, “the Group”) adopts
a diversified business development strategy and has established
its firm footing in three business segments, namely (i) money
lending business, (i) eCommerce business and (iii) internet
online education services.

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) summarises the environmental, social and governance
(“ESG”) initiatives, plans and performances of the Group and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

The ESG Governance Structure

The Group has established the ESG working taskforce (the
“Taskforce”). The Taskforce composes of full-time staff from
relevant departments and is responsible for collecting relevant
information on the ESG aspects for preparing the ESG Report.
The Taskforce periodically reports to the Board of Directors (the
“Board”), assists in identifying and assessing the Group’s ESG
risks and the effectiveness of the internal control mechanisms.
The Taskforce also examines and evaluates the Group’s
performances in different aspects, such as environmental
protection, labour practices, and other ESG aspects. The Board
sets the general direction for the Group’s ESG strategies,
ensuring the effectiveness of risk management and internal
control mechanisms.
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RE  HERERBWE

SCOPE OF REPORTING

For the financial year ended 31 December 2020 (‘FY2020"), the
Group has decided to expand its reporting scope to include
the Group’s business activities under all three of its business
segments. Since the Group’s manufacturing of paper converting
equipment business segment was disposed of during FY2020,
the related environmental and social data of the said segment is
not included in this ESG Report.

The key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are gathered and
cover companies and subsidiaries that are under the Group’s
direct operational control. The KPIs are shown in the ESG
Report and are supplemented by explanatory notes to establish
benchmarks.
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REPORTING FRAMEWORK

The ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the
“ESG Reporting Guide”) as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. Information relating to the Group’s
corporate governance practices can be found in the Corporate

Governance Report on p.72 to p.88 of the Annual Report 2020.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges and
measures taken by the Group during the FY2020.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Opinions and feedback from the Group’s stakeholders regarding
its businesses and ESG aspects are greatly valued by the
Group, as their expectations and concerns steer the Group’s
sustainable development, allowing the Group to formulate better
business and ESG strategies. Throughout FY2020, the Group
has maintained close communication with its key stakeholders,
including but not limited to, the government and its regulatory
authorities, shareholders and investors, employees, customers,
suppliers, banks, media and the public, by utilising a variety of
engagement methods, as shown below.
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Stakeholders
FinE

Government and
regulatory authorities

B R BB

Shareholders and
investors

BREEBEEE

Employees

)
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Engagement Methods
BHAE

e Routine reports

e Written or electronic correspondences

. HERE
. EEAETEA

e General meeting and other shareholder

meetings
e Annual and interim reports
e Announcements and circulars
® Investor meetings
e Company website
o BRERENHMBRSH
o FREPHRE
o NERBH
. REEGH

o« DRI

e Training, seminars and briefing
e Performance reviews
¢ Regular general meetings

o FHRREER
. ERER
. EMREAR
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Expectations
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e Compliance with local laws and
regulations

e Stability in business operations

o EIFEMARIER

o EBRLERTE

e Sustainable profitability
e Shareholder return

e Corporate governance
e |egal compliance

o ARERNEN

. BEEH
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e Remuneration, compensation and
benefits

e Fair and competitive employment

e Safe working environment
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Stakeholders
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Customers

BFP

Suppliers

e

Media and the public
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Engagement Methods
BHAFE

e Customer service hotline and email

o EPRBAGRER

e Suppliers’ satisfactory assessment
e Face-to-face meetings

o HERmEEG

s HYEEE

e Post-loan tracking
e On-site visits

o EigEH

L8 Bl

e ESG reports

e Company website

e Regular reports and announcements
o RE HERELRERS

o A

o EHMENRASE

The Group endeavours to continue collaborating with its

stakeholders and take into account their opinions in the

decision-making process. In the long run, it is the Group’s

belief that the stakeholders’ contribution will aid the Group

in improving potentially overlooked ESG performances, and

achieve a more sustainable business model.

RE  HERERBHE

Expectations
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e Rapid response and customer satisfaction
e High quality services

e RRBEREPMER

o BERK

e Fair and open procurement
e Sustainable relationship

o RNTRHRE

o ARBERERNMARE

* Repay loans on time
e Qperate in an honest and credible manner
o ERER

o DABERERTER

e Transparency of ESG issues and financial
disclosure

e |egal compliance
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In preparing the ESG Report, the Board and management who
are responsible for key functions of the Group have assisted
the Group in reviewing its operations, identifying relevant ESG
issues and assessing the relative importance of related matters
to its businesses and stakeholders. During FY2020, the Group
compiled a questionnaire in relation to the identified material
ESG issues to collect the responses and opinions from the
stakeholders of the Group.

The Group’s material ESG issues according to its relative
importance are shown below:

MATERIALITY MATRIX
ERtEE

Report

EEREFE

RRELIRE HENREARER  EFQ
RABAEETIERENEEERYALE
BEMALE  SRIERRE HERE
AEE - UAHE RS RARBERFNE
WEHRIR R _T_THF - AEEE
- BRMERNERRE - e RE
AREHEE  NEEAKERNEND

BRER -

ATREBAEEEHIAEEN T ER

B HekERER:

10. Prevention of Child and
Forced Labour

8. Provision of Safe Environment to
Employees
AREERHELERE

FrIEE T RIS T

N

6. Recruitment, Promotion,
Remuneration

I - BT R

N

9. Training and Development
BN ER

12. Customer Privacy Protection

HEALRERE

13. AntiMoney Laundering and
Counter-Terrorist Financing

TRABRBHHTELES

=

FERE

7. Equal Opportunities, Diversity and
Anti-discrimination

- SrLERIER

11. Fair and Open Tendering
AFRRRE

HEBETMERREOVERE

14, Community Participation
tE2E
5. Indoor Air Quality
ENEREER

house Gas ("GHG") Emissions
2 (DRERE] ) B

=R

2.Waste Management
BEREMER

4. Water Consumption
R HFE

LEVEL OF INFLUENCE ON STAKEHOLDERS’ ASSESSMENTS & DECISIONS

LEVEL OF SIGNIFICANCE OF ECONOMIC, ENVIRONMENTAL & SOCIAL IMPACT

HQE BEAGENEZHE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

For FY2020, the Group confirmed that it has established
appropriate and effective management policies and internal
control systems for ESG issues and confirmed that the
disclosed contents complied with the requirements of the ESG
Reporting Guide.

CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and
suggestions. You can provide valuable advice in respect of the
ESG report or its performances in sustainable development by
emailing ir@cybernaut.com.hk
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - #HERERERSE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

Al.

Emissions

The Group realises that environmental protection
relies on both collective and individual efforts and is
also concerned whether its funds might be diverted
to enterprises that cause serious environmental
impacts or have little concern over sustainability.
Thus, the Group continuously improves existing
policies and incorporates new policies with the
intention of mitigating potential direct and indirect
negative environmental impacts arising from its
business operations and makes a conscious effort
to avoid diverting funds to non-environmentally
conscious enterprises.

The Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations, including
but not limited to, the Waste Disposal Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the Environmental Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Prevention
and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Waste of the People’s Republic of China, the Water
Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Prevention and Control
of Atmospheric Pollution of the People’s Republic
of China that would have a significant impact on the
Group during FY2020.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group
considers that air emissions generated are of an
insignificant level.

GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were
generated from purchased electricity (Scope 2) and
paper waste disposal and business air travels (Scope 3).

S _ Direct GHG Emissi

The Group has adopted the following measures
to mitigate direct GHG emissions from petrol
consumption by vehicles in its operations:

° Plan routes ahead of time to avoid route
repetition and optimise fuel consumption;

° Switch off the engine whenever the vehicle is
idling; and

° Regularly service vehicles to ensure optimal
engine performance and fuel use.

S >_E rect GHG Emissi

Electricity consumption accounted for the largest
percentage of GHG emissions within the Group. The
Group has implemented measures to reduce energy
consumption, such measures are mentioned in
“Aspect A2 Use of Resources”.
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Paper waste disposal and business air travel by
employees accounted for the other indirect GHG
emissions. Measures implemented to reduce paper
waste disposal and air travel can be found in the
section headed “Waste Management” and “Aspect
A2 Use of Resources” respectively.

Total GHG emissions have decreased by
approximately 14.65% from approximately
95.24tC02¢e in FY2019 to approximately 81.29tCO2e
in FY2020. This was mainly due to a decrease
in electricity usage at the offices following the
work-from-home arrangement that formed part of the
government’s social distancing measures to combat
the spread of COVID-19 and the reduced amount
of business air travels during FY2020 following
the travel restrictions imposed by the government.
The Group will continue to actively promote
environmentally friendly measures to help reduce
GHG emissions.

Summary of GHG emissions performances:

Indicator! Unit?
BE B2
Scope 1 — Direct GHG emissions tCO,e
HE1 - BEERERBHEN M — S AL H%
e Petrol
.« H

Scope 2 — Energy indirect GHG emissions
HE2— EREERERBIEMNR
o Purchased electricity tCOe

s BEEN WA — (LA

Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emissions
#HES— HitHEREREIEN
e Paper waste disposed at landfills
o MEIH[REEATERIE

e Business air travels by employees tCO.e

Wty =5
X & =

L =
===}

s EBRALREIINAR
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - HERERERS

Indicator! Unit? FY2020 FY2019
=& B2 —2ZHEFE “2-hMEF
Total GHG emissions tCOe 81.29 95.24
BEREERES mE — &b

Total GHG emissions intensity® tCO, e/employee 0.56 0.75

BEREBERRERES L7 = | =

Note: Pt E -

1. GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon 1. BAERBHREEDNEZ=S
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited tREE2Y @ T2RE
to, “The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate FETRAERERFR
Accounting and Reporting Standards” issued by the Pkt RO RSB R T e
World Resources Institute and the World Business EeHBENEEREES
Council for Sustainable Development, “How to BMEE DESHAREE
prepare an ESG report — Appendix 2: Reporting ] BEBRAEMGE R
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Hong AEERE e RERR
Kong Stock Exchange, the “Global Warming Potential & — Mg IRIBRREW
Values” from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 EIZERIES|] - IPCCER
(ARB), the latest published Baseline Emission Factors RFEHRE (ZE—HEF)
for Regional Power Grids in China, Sustainability (ARS5) [ ZER IR EREE] -
Report 2020 published by the CLP Power Hong Kong SO E e B E A
Limited and the HK Electric Investments Sustainability EGHHRES - REE S
Report 2019 published by the HK Electric. ARAFTFEAR [2020 7] #F

BERME I RABBHESN
[2019F BB E IR E A
BERRE] -

2. tCO,e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide 2. tCOeRERM_S(LIE
equivalent. =1

3. As at 31 December 2020, the Group had O i P = T i
approximately 145 employees (2019: 127). The H AEBAEN145%ES
data is also used for calculating other environmental ZTE-NF :1278) - %
intensity data. BT ARTEEMRER

EHE -
[AIZK R+ HEHE)S

Discharges into Water and Land

Due to the Group’s business nature, the discharges
into land are insignificant. Similarly, there has not
been a significant and unreasonable amount of
water discharged; used water was discharged via
the municipal sewage network to the regional water
treatment plant.

HRANEEREBIES - B
M EITRBE SRR E o
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Waste Management

Hazardous Waste Handling Method

Due to the Group’s business nature, no material
hazardous waste was generated by the Group during
FY2020.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method

The majority of non-hazardous waste generated by
the Group was general waste. Though there has not
been a disproportional amount of waste produced,
the Group places great effort in encouraging the
employees to reduce waste production by adopting
the following environmentally friendly initiatives.

Green measures include, but not limited to, the
following:

° Recycle used single-sided office paper;

° Double-sided printing or photocopying;

° Print electronic correspondences only when
necessary;

° Procure office paper with Forest Stewardship
Council Recycled Label; and

° Recycle office and electronic equipment after
their life cycle.

Total non-hazardous waste disposal decreased by
approximately 19.69% from approximately 1.27
tonnes in FY2019 to approximately 1.02 tonnes in
FY2020. The Group considers current paper-saving
measures are effective in increasing the employees’
awareness of reducing the use of office paper and
non-hazardous waste disposal amount.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - #HERERERSE
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIS

- HEREREBE

Summary of major non-hazardous waste disposal TERERREVEEEIHE
performance:
Category of waste Unit FY2020 FY2019
EEDER B ZE_ZHEFE —Z—hME
Total non-hazardous waste Tonnes 1.02 1.27
BEEEVAS s

e (Office paper?

LIS /NS
Total non-hazardous waste intensity Tonnes/employee 0.01 0.01
BREEREDEETE me B8
A2. Use of Resources A2. ERMEA

The Group takes the initiative to introduce
green measures to reduce environmental
impact arising from its business operations.
Measures on reducing office paper waste
have been mentioned in the preceding “Waste
Management” section. Other initiatives include
maintaining indoor temperature at a suitable
level in the offices and promoting the use of
teleconferences or video conferences to replace
the need for constant business air travel.

ANER B E B IR (RIS ME LA PR
BEXEBLEEERNNIRRY
2 ORI ABRENEEER
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RE  HERERBWE

Energy Efficiency

The Group has in place a multitude of strategies to
reduce resource consumption. However, given the
Group’s office-based business nature, applicable
green measures that could be implemented into
the Group’s policy are limited. Nevertheless, the
Group strives to further reduce energy consumption
by adopting energy-saving measures such as the
following:

° Switch off unnecessary lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use;

° Purchase energy-efficient equipment on
replacement of old equipment;

° Set all computer screens and printers to
standby mode after a certain period; and

° Post eye-catching stickers on energy efficiency
as a reminder for employees.

Unexpected high consumption of electricity will
be investigated to find out the root cause and
preventive measures will be taken. Total energy
consumption decreased by approximately 6.47%
from approximately 125,079.00kWh in FY2019 to
approximately 116,983.06kWh in FY2020. This
was mainly due to a decrease in electricity usage
following the work-from-home arrangement that
formed part of the government’s social distancing
measures to combat the spread of COVID-19.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Summary of energy consumption performance:

RE  HERERBHE

BERE R R

Type of energy Unit FY2020 FY2019
REIRAEEY B ZESHMEFE ZZ-hMF
Direct energy consumption kWh 7,063.06 -
BRI ERE TR

e Petrol

e JUH
Indirect energy consumption kWh 109,920.00 125,079.00
A aeREFE TR

e Purchased electricity

e BEBJ
Total energy consumption kWh 116,983.06  125,079.00
RELRAE TR
Total energy consumption intensity kWh/employee 806.78 984.87
BEERAERE TR &S

Water Consumption

Due to the Group’s business nature, water was
mainly used for the daily needs of employees and
the cleaning and sanitation of the offices. The Group
did not consider the amount of water used to be
disproportionate.

The Group makes a conscious effort to reduce water
consumption by introducing water conservation
measures, such as regularly inspects water taps to
prevent leakage, installs dual flush water cisterns
in toilets and water-saving thimble in sinks in
washrooms where possible. The Group has also
posted banners with water-saving messages around
the offices in an effort to raise employee awareness
of water conservation.
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Total water consumption increased by approximately
31.21% from approximately 907.00m® in FY2019
to approximately 1,190.11m?® in FY2020. This was
mainly due to an increased water usage following an
increase in the number of the Group’s employees
when compared to FY2019. The Group will continue
to monitor the water usage and, where necessary,
implement more water-saving measures to manage
water usage.

Due to the Group’s business nature, the Group did
not encounter any problem in sourcing water that is

fit for purpose.

Summary of water consumption performance:

Indicator Unit

R BHfr

Water consumption?* m3

FEKE1 ST AR
Water consumption intensity m?3/employee
FEREE SNHEKEB
Note:

4. Water consumption data excluded that of the Hong
Kong headquarters since the water consumption was
covered in the monthly management fee.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Use of Packaging Material

Due to the Group’s business nature, the use of
packaging material is not considered as a material
ESG aspect to the Group.

The Environment and Natural Resources

As an ongoing commitment to good corporate social
responsibility, the Group realises its responsibility
in minimising negative environmental impacts in
its business operations. Although the Group’s
business operations do not pose a large impact
on the environment, the Group conducts regular
assessments on potential environmental risks of its
business, adopts preventive measures accordingly
and ensures compliance with relevant laws and
regulations. The Group will continue to actively seek
out other ways to reduce its environmental footprint.

Indoor Air Quality

Poor indoor air quality poses both short- and
long-term threats to the employees. Therefore, the
Group remains vigilant in ensuring that the workplace
has good indoor air quality, indoor air quality is
regularly monitored and measured. During FY2020,
the indoor air quality of the Group’s offices has
been satisfactory. To improve indoor air quality, air
purifying equipment is used in offices and the air
conditioning system is cleaned periodically. These
measures resulted in achieving a satisfactory indoor
air quality level.
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B1.

Employment

The Group recognises that employees are the most
valuable asset of the Group and are the foundation
of the Group’s success. As such, the Group has
continued with its good employment practices to
ensure sustainable growth of the business. Relevant
employment policies are formally documented in
the Employee Handbook, covering recruitment and
remuneration, compensations, working hours and
rest periods, diversity and equal opportunities, etc.
The Group periodically reviews these employment
policies to ensure continuous improvement of its
employment standards and competitiveness against
companies of the similar industry.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had
approximately 145 employees. Breakdown by
gender, age group, employment category and region
are as follows:

Gender B
Male Bk
Female 4
Age Group FieHER
Under 40 Years Old 405 AT
41 to 60 Years Old 41ZE605%
Above 60 Years Old 607% A £
Employment Type ElEmn
Full-time 2B
Part-time E iy
Geographical Region HE
Hong Kong B
China ==

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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During FY2020, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with employment-related
laws and regulations that would have a significant
impact on the Group, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Company Law of the People’s Republic of China and
the Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China.

Recruitment, Promotion and Remuneration

Employees are recruited via a robust, transparent
and fair recruitment process based solely on
their experience and suitability for the positions,
regardless of their age, religion, ethnicity, origin,
gender identity, physical disability and marital status,
etc. Employees are assessed and chosen based
on their ability and potential to fulfil the Group’s
current and future needs. The Group is adamant in
treating and evaluating its employees in a fair and
unprejudiced way.

Remuneration and promotion are based on
job-related skills, qualifications and performances.
The Group will conduct an annual performance and
salary review to determine any salary adjustments
and/or promotion opportunities. The Group also
gives preference to internal promotion in order to
provide incentive to employees for their consistent
and continuous effort.

Remuneration packages include variable bonuses,
annual leave, maternity leave, etc. In accordance
with the applicable laws of mainland China, the
Group legally pays “five social insurance and
one housing fund” for its employees in mainland
China, namely endowment insurance, medical
insurance, unemployment insurance, employment
injury insurance, maternity insurance, and housing
provident fund. For employees in Hong Kong,
monthly contributions to the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are made pursuant to the Mandatory
Provident Fund Ordinance of Hong Kong.
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Working Hours and Rest Periods

To ensure a healthy work-life balance for employees,
the Group has formulated policies in determining
the working hours and rest periods for employees in
accordance with local employment laws. Subject to
company or departmental arrangement, employees
are eligible for overtime payment.

Compensation and Dismissal

The Group offers fair compensation packages for
employees based on employees’ personal capability
and benchmarks. In addition, the Group complies
with the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of
Hong Kong and Labour Law of the People’s Republic
of China, which cover employees who sustain
personal injury by accident or disease arising out of
the course of employment.

The Group prohibits any unreasonable dismissal
under any circumstances and ensures that dismissal
would be conducted based on reasonable and lawful
grounds supported by internal policies. Verbal or
written warnings will be issued before the official
dismissal to provide the staff with an opportunity for
improvement. If no improvement is noted, the Group
shall then consider dismissal only upon receiving
dismissal instruction from the relevant department.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group values diversity in its talent pool and is
dedicated to ensuring that equal opportunities are
given to each employee. The Group is committed
to creating and maintaining an inclusive and
collaborative workplace culture. Furthermore, the
Group is dedicated to protecting its employees
from discrimination, physical or verbal harassment
based on race, religion, colour, gender, physical or
mental disability, age, place of origin, marital status,
and sexual orientation. The Group does not tolerate
sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace in
any form. The Group also strives to ensure that
complaints, grievances and concerns, including
whistle-blowing, are being dealt with promptly,
confidentially and impartially.

Other Benefits and Welfare

The Group understands that good benefits and
welfare encourages retention and fosters a sense
of belonging, therefore the Group actively seeks
to introduce additional benefits and welfare where
possible.

Health and Safety

Provision of Safe Environment to Employees

The Group highly values employees’ health and
safety and is always committed to maintaining a
safe and pleasant working environment for all its
employees. The Group has also maintained strict
compliance with local laws and regulations and has
adopted occupational health and safety guidelines
recommended by the Labour Department and
Occupational Safety and Health Council.
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During FY2020, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with health and
safety-related laws and regulations that would
have a significant impact on the Group, including
but not limited to the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance of Hong Kong, the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Production
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Prevention and Treatment of Occupational Diseases
of the People’s Republic of China and the Fire
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China.
During FY2020, there were no reported cases of
work-related fatalities and no lost days due to work

injury.

To ensure a hazard-free working environment the
Group stresses the importance of keeping the
corridor clean, classifying and recycling wastes
where possible, cleaning air-conditioning equipment
and carpet on a regular basis and participating in
regular health and safety seminars. To minimise the
risk of a fire hazard, fire extinguishers are strategically
placed and fire exits are free from obstruction.

Prevention Control on COVID-19

In view of the COVID-19 outbreak in early 2020, the
Group has taken proactive measures to safeguard
the health and safety of its employees and business
partners and has complied with public health
measures implemented by the local authorities. The
Group has increased the frequency of sanitisation in
the Group’s premises and prepared surgical masks
and hand sanitisers for the use of its employees.
To further minimise the risk of cross-infection, all
employees and clients of the Group are also required
to perform temperature checks before entering the
Group’s premises.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Development and Training

General Disclosure

Training and Development

Training and continuous development are
indispensable to the Group’s employees to keep
abreast of the rapidly changing trend in the industry.

Employees are encouraged to apply for internal and
external training courses to refresh prior knowledge.
The Group encourages employees to familiarise
themselves with newly updated guidelines, maintain
their competitiveness within the industry and ensure
legal compliance in dealing with sensitive matters
and data.

Internally, the Group holds work-related talks and
seminars, such as anti-corruption training and
anti-money laundering training. Training contents
are regularly updated to be in line with the industrial
standard, the Group’s business nature and provide
maximum benefit to the employees.
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B4. Labour Standards

Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

Child and forced labour are strictly prohibited during
the recruitment process as defined by laws and
regulations. Personal data is collected during the
process to assist the selection of suitable candidates
and to verify candidates’ personal data and that
they have reached the minimum legal age to work in
respective jurisdictions.

The Human Resources Department also ensures
identity documents are thoroughly checked. The
Human Resources Department has established a
reporting mechanism to monitor ensure compliance
with all relevant laws and regulations. If violation
is involved, it will be dealt with in the light of the
circumstances promptly. Upon discovery of child
labour or forced labour, the said person will be
discharged immediately. The Board will discuss
preventive measures to avoid a similar event from
happening again.

During FY2020, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with child and forced
labour-related laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but
not limited to the Employment Ordinance of Hong
Kong, the Labour Law of the People’s Republic of
China and the Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Fair and Open Tendering

The engagement with service providers takes place
under a fair and open tendering process, it takes
suppliers’ experience, reputation, prevailing market,
price and reputation into account. The Group
has established procedures for procurement and
logistics management to ensure that the products
procured are of satisfactory quality, thereby reducing
procurement cost. The Group strives not to over-rely
on a specific supplier in order to ensure stability of
the supply chain. At the same time, the Group aims
to strengthen collaborative relationships with existing
suppliers. Should the performance of the supplier fall
below contractual expectations, the contract may be
terminated.

Employees are reminded to avoid situations that
may lead to or involve potential conflict of interest.
Any discrimination against certain vendors without
reasonable grounds and any types of business
bribery are strictly prohibited. To minimise carbon
footprints, the Group endeavours to support local
procurement where possible and give priority to
purchase recycled and environmentally friendly
products.
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B6. Product Responsibility

Solid corporate governance and risk management
are essential to the Group’s long-term development
and sustainable growth. The Group periodically
revises existing corporate rules and regulations
and ensures strict compliance with local laws and
regulations.

During FY2020, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
that would have a significant impact on the Group,
concerning advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress, including but not limited to,
the Money Lenders Ordinance, the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance, the Securities and Futures
Ordinance of Hong Kong and the Protection of
Consumer Rights of the People’s Republic of China.
During FY2020, the Group did not receive any cases
of product or service-related complaints. Due to
the Group’s business nature, product recall is not
applicable to the Group.

Money-lending Assurance

As a licenced money lender in Hong Kong, the Group
holds an active Money Lenders Licence. In addition,
the Group abides by the Money Licensing Conditions
of the said licence. As a result of a more stringent
additional licensing conditions on money lender
licences, a risk-warning message must be present in
all advertisements in relation to their money lending
business. The guideline stipulates that advertisement,
whether in textual, audio or visual form, must
contain the relevant subsidiary’s telephone hotline
for handling complaints and a well-established risk
warning statement. The said risk warning statement
must also be clearly audible in the audio part of the
advertisement.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Customer Privacy Protection

The Group protects legitimate rights and interests
of its customers, respects the rights of customers’
information assets and strictly complies with the
customers’ information security management
systems and standards. The Group has formulated a
set of privacy guidelines in regard to the collection,
retention and accessibility of information to ensure
that the lessee’s sensitive information is only used
for its intended purposes and to prevent information
leakage. All employees are trained to respect the
confidentiality of customers’ information, while only
certain employees can access sensitive customer
data. Moreover, employees are required to sign a
confidentiality agreement to hold them accountable
for should there be any unlawful information leakage.

Customer Service Quality

The Group strives to provide excellent services
in response to customers’ enquiries. A customer
services team has been established, standard
procedures have been established to handle
customers’ opinions and comments. To further
enhance and better the Group’s services, customers
are encouraged to provide feedback on their
experience. Feedbacks are recorded in detail and
appropriate follow-up actions will be taken should it
be deemed necessary.

Procurement Quality Control

The Group has a dedicated quality control team to
ensure the products procured are of satisfactory
quality and would not pose any significant health
threat to its consumers. Standard procedures are
established to govern the procurement, quality
assurance and storage of these products. Due to
the Group’s business nature, the Group has an
insignificant amount of business dealing regarding
labelling matters.
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B7. Anti-corruption

The Group values and upholds integrity, honesty and
fairness in how the Group conducts business. The
Group emphatically asserts its zero-tolerance stance
regarding any behaviours that not only violate local
laws and regulations but also severely damage the
Group’s reputation.

During FY2020, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with laws and regulations
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering
that would have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing
(Financial Institutions) Ordinance, the Money Lenders
Ordinance, the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance,
Securities and Futures Ordinance in Hong Kong, the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic
of China and the Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China. During FY2020, there was no
concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer nor its employees.

Anti-money laundering and Counter-financing of
Terrorism

As a professional financial services provider, the
Group is particularly sensitive to the signs of
money laundering and financial crimes. Apart from
complying with local laws and guidelines established
by regulatory authorities, the Group recognises that
the responsibility to help protect the integrity of
the financial system lies within us. The Anti-Money
Laundering and Counter-Terrorist Financing Policy
is in place to safeguard the interests of the Group.
It states the roles and responsibilities of compliance
officers and details procedures such as conducting
a customer due diligence process before beginning
business dealings with customers and reporting
suspicious transactions.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Prevention of Money Laundering, Fraud and Bribery
Practices

The Group is sensitive to the prevention of poor
money laundering, potential fraud and bribery
practices. Therefore, the Group provides guidelines
on such policies to employees to remind them
of good practices to prevent unnecessary legal
complications.

Community Investment

Community Participation

The Group is committed to providing career
opportunities to local residents and considers the
development of the community’s economy as part
of the Group’s sustainable development strategy.
To this end, the Group has established relevant
guidelines to encourage its employees to give back
to the society which not only benefits the society but
also nurtures a good corporate culture.
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THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX
OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG

LIMITED

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPls
IEER BE - —HMEER
RBERNER

Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1: B
General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A1.1 (“comply or explain®)

BRETIREA 1 ([TETHER])
KPI A1.2 (‘comply or explain”)
BRETIEEA .2 ([NETHER])
KPI A1.3 (‘comply or explain”)

BRETIEEA 3 ([NETHER])
KPI A1.4 (‘comply or explain”)

FREMIERALA([TETHEE])

8 mpsmmepaRsm

5l&

Description

fiit

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to Exhaust Gas and GHG emissions,
discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste.

BHERLREREHR  MAKRT A A

EREZREYMNELASN

@ BX: &

(b) BFHBITABERY ERNREEE RO
HH o

The types of emissions and respective emissions

data.

BERUIIE 1B SR B PR B -

GHG emissions in total (in tonnes) and intensity.

RERBEHNE UEFE) REE -

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and

intensity.

FELESERNEE (U E) REE -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and intensity.
FELAEZREENEE (VAEHE) REE -

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Emissions

735

Emissions — Air Emissions

HERU — RAEBHERR

Emissions - GHG Emissions
BB — REREHR
Emissions — Waste Management
Not applicable — Explained
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Emissions - Waste Management
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs
TERE BE  —MEBER
MEBRMER

KPI A1.5 (‘comply or explain”)
BREBIEIEALS ([ METHERE])

KPI A1.6 (“comply or explain”)

FREMIERALG ([ TNETHERE])

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
BEA2: EFEER
General Disclosure

—REE

KPI A2.1 (“comply or explain”)

BRERUERA2 ([TETRUERE )
KPI' A2.2 (‘comply or explain”)

B ERUERA.2 ([T TRURRE )
KPI' A2.3 (“‘comply or explain”)

FIRERUERA2.3 ([T TRURE )
KPI A2.4 (“comply or explain”)

FIREMIERA2.4 ([ TNETHEE])

KPI A2.5 (‘comply or explain”)

FREMIRIRA25 ([ NETHEE])

Description
fiit

Description of reduction initiatives and results
achieved.
AU B E N E e R AERR -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and
results achieved.
HRRBRERESERENN L  BEHFREN
B RPIEHR

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw materials.
BUFERER (B1EER  KREMEME) K
= o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type
in total and intensity.

REREDNERR  SEEERERERTE -
Water consumption in total and intensity.

BREKERTE -

Description of energy use efficiency initiatives and
results achieved.

W B RE AR B P ERR

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency initiatives and results achieved.
HCKEGE R/KR R A ERRERE - ARAKE
BEIGIEEhE

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and with reference to per unit
produced.
HARmAAREMENEE AR E) REEER

b &

Section/Declaration

1R L

Emissions - Air Emissions, GHG
Emissions, Waste Management

R — REBHER  RERBH
W BEYER

Emissions — Waste Management

PERy — BEMER

Use of Resources
BRER

Use of Resources — Energy
Efficiency
BIREA — seREE

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption
BIRGEA — KIRERE

Use of Resources — Energy
Efficiency
BREA — el

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BIREA — KIRERE

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material

Not applicable — Explained
BIREA — ERaEME
NER — ERE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and KPIs

IERG BE —REER
WRRNER

Description
fiit

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 : BERXARE

General Disclosure

—MREE
KPI A3.1 (“comply or explain”)

FRERIERAS ([ METHEE])

Aspect B1: Employment
BEB1 : &
General Disclosure

—RBE

KPI B1.1 (Recommended Disclosures)

BRENEEB (BERE)

120

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant
impact on the environment and natural resources.
WEBTAHRERARERELNEATENHE -
Description of the significant impacts of activities
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
HMEREDURBERAABERNEAZEREK
BEBRBTENTH -

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

AEFM K ERE  BERES  TERE - BREY-

TEge  Ziolt  REGUREMFERET

) :

a) B&: &

b) BFUHBETABEAZENRRERK
ROIEERS -

Total workforce by gender, employment type, age

(
(
group and geographical region.

®IER - BREER  FRARNEESNESR
o
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Employment
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPlIs
ITEHE  BED - —MEER
RMERNER

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

BEB2: REERR

General Disclosure

—RBE

KPI B2.1 (Recommended Disclosures)

BRENIREB2.1 (RERE)

KPI B2.2 (Recommended Disclosures)

BARENERB2.2 (RERE)
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Description
fiit

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the
issuer relating to providing a safe working
environment and protecting employees from
occupational hazards.

BURHZ2IERERRERSRLBEERE
#

=

(@ B &
(b) BFHBETABERTENBBEEZ AN

Number and rate of work-related fatalities
ETEBEMETHAAB R

Lost days due to work injury.
AIGHEAIERS -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

BEB3 : R R
General Disclosure

—RBE

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and
skills for discharging duties at work. Description

of training activities.

AR E BT LERE N AMBRRENEER -
HEEE

Section/Declaration

1R L

Health and Safety

Health and Safety
REEZ 2
Health and Safety
RERZ 2

Development and Training

EEY T
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPlIs
ITEHE B —MEER
WMERNER

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

BEB4 : HTER

General Disclosure

—RBE

KPI B4.1 (Recommended Disclosures)

R AR (BRERE)

KPI B4.2 (Recommended Disclosures)

R EMIEREBL.2 (REARE)

wE

Description
fiit

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BB ILET KRGS TH

(@) BF: K

(b) BTHETAREAZENHBEER
ROIBER -

Description of measures to review employment

practices to avoid child and forced labour.

B R EAINERAR P E T REHST -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such

practices when discovered.

M EERE RIS EREBER ARG S

e

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[BMEBS : ftEREE

General Disclosure

—RE

122 mpmmmepaRsm

Policies on managing environmental and social
risks of the supply chain.
EEHRANRE R SRMBE -
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Labour Standards

Labour Standards
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General Disclosures and KPlIs
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Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[BEB6 : ERFAHE

General Disclosure

—REE

Description Section/Declaration
fiit B85
Information on: Product Responsibility

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to
products and services provided and methods
of redress.

RBAMRRERNRENREERZS  BE B8 EmEf

RALEEEA LA AR

@ BE: &

(b) BFHBETAREARZENBREZERROIN
BHf -

KPI B6.1 (Recommended Disclosures)  Percentage of total products sold or shipped Product Responsibility

BRERUEEB6.1 (BERE)

subject to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EEIEELRERBH TR ARFEEMMARN EmaE
WRE BN o

KPI B6.2 (Recommended Disclosures)  Number of products and service related Product Responsibility

BRENUERB6.2 (RERE)

complaints received and how they are dealt with.
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and KPlIs
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WMERNER

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
BEB7 : REF

General Disclosure

—REE

KPI B7.1 (Recommended Disclosures)

BRERIERBT 1 (RARE)

Aspect B8: Community Investment
[BEBS : itE#RE
General Disclosure
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Description
fiit

Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

AEVILERR 8% K

(@) BE: k&

(b) BFHBETAREATENEREZERAON
Bt e

REROLRER

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
REGHAHBTASHEEERLIEE
RARM AR RFAL

BRE)S

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

BN R2ERERETACENELREEN
EREZBLDHEERBHRBMENBE o

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

Section/Declaration
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Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

Community Investment
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Directors and Senior Management

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhu Min, aged 72, graduated from Zhejiang University with
a master’s degree in Industrial Management and received a
MS degree in Engineering Economics from Stanford University.
He co-founded Future Labs Inc. in 1991 which was later
acquired by Quarterdeck Corp.. In 1996, he co-founded WebEx
Communications Inc. which was successfully listed on NASDAQ
in 2000 and then acquired by Cisco Systems Inc. for US$3.2
billion in 2007.

In 2003, Mr. Zhu became the sole investment partner in China
of New Enterprise Associates (NEA), a renowned U.S. based
venture capital fund focusing on early- and middle-stage
companies, assisting NEA to successfully invest in a group of
independent innovation enterprises in China. In 2005, Mr. Zhu
founded Cybernaut Investment Group, one of China’s best
venture capital houses in 2015 selected by Forbes. It is one of
the leading private equity and venture capital fund in China.

In 2007, Mr. Zhu donated US$10 million to set up Zhejiang
University International Innovation Institute (ZIl) with Zhejiang
University in a drive to promote domestic technological and
industrial innovations.

Mr. Zhu has many years of experience in computer, network
communications and services. He is a well-known scientist
in the field in the United States. In 2002, he was named by
Business Week as one of the 25 most influential people in
global e-commerce. In 2008 and 2009, Mr. Zhu was selected by
Forbes as one of China’s best venture capital investors. At the
first China Public Entrepreneurship and Innovation Conference
held in 2016, he was granted the title of China’s Pioneer in
Innovation and Entrepreneurship by virtue of his reputation in
the international investment community.

Mr. Zhu is the founder and chairman of the board of
Cybernaut Investment Group Limited, the Vice president of
China Society for the Promotion of Science and Technology
Commercialization, the founder and dean of the Zhejiang
University International Innovation Institute (ZII).

Mr. Zhu is currently the directors of its subsidiaries, namely
MELABBE R ER2AF Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education
Technology Limited (“#/M A &]”, “Huzhou Company”), Cybernaut
Asia Pacific Limited, Total Tycoon Limited and Cybernaut
Technology International Limited.

At the date of this annual report, Mr. Zhu directly and indirectly
held 990,284,000 shares of the Company.
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Directors and Senior Management
ESENEREEE

Dr. Chen Huabei, aged 55, holds a bachelor's degree from
Shandong University, China a master’s degrees from Aichi
University of Education, Japan and a doctor’'s degree from
Northeast Normal University, China. He currently serves as
the president of Seadragon Innovation Institute of International
Education. Dr. Chen had served as a deputy director of the
education, science, culture and public health department and a
director general of the information center of State Administration
of Foreign Experts Affairs (SAFEA). He had also served as a
commissioner general of China Association for International
Exchange of Personnel Overseas office of Japan. Dr. Chen’s
major research interests are Japanese philosophy history and
internationalization of education and talents.

Mr. Lu Yongchao, aged 41, obtained a diploma in Business
Administration for Real Estate Entrepreneurs in China at Sun
Yat-sen University and a diploma in English at Guangdong
University of Foreign Studies. Mr. Lu was a team member of
Ample Luck International Capital Group Limited, a domestic
well known fund management group. Mr. Lu has extensive
experience in business development, market development,
media management, finance and Information Technology
industry and years of investment, financing and fund
management history. He has rich experience in the enterprise
strategic management, internet strategy, brand management,
investment and financing management. He was the founder of
Enjoymedia Holdings Company Limited, which was listed on
the OTCBB in 2006 and was named one of the hundred most
Chinese Concept corporation listed in United States. Prior to
that Mr. Lu had been the Chief Executive of the online websites
YESITE and ITNOW, as well as the Whirlpool Kit Department
Head in China. Mr. Lu had assisted listing and financing of
different enterprises while working in an investment company
in China, and had served as the director of Taiwan listed
corporation China Mobile Digital Group. He also had served as
a director of a well-known German outdoor brand VAUDE.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lu resigned as the directors of its subsidiaries, namely
Eagle Pioneer Limited, Accurate Trade International Limited,
China Safety Holdings Limited, Happy Way Technology Limited
and Great Select Global Limited with effect from 13 March 2020
and Total Tycoon Limited with effect from 9 July 2019. Also, he
has resigned an independent non-executive Director of other
listed companies. At the date of this annual report, Mr. Lu held
6,100,000 shares of the Company.

Ms. Yip Sum Yu, aged 31, is currently an executive director of
the company and was appointed as our non-executive Director
of the company from 10 November 2014 to 13 March 2020.
Ms. Yip has gained valuable experience in investments and
investors relations in connection with both listed and private
investments. She did not hold any other directorships in public
companies the securities of which are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years. Ms.
Yip is also the directors of its subsidiaries, namely Great Select
Global Limited, Accurate Trade International Limited, China
Safety Holdings Limited, Happy Way Technology Limited and
Eagle Pioneer Limited with effect from 13 March 2020.

Ms. Yip Sum Yu re-designated from non-executive Director to
executive Director of the Company with effect from 13 March
2020.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald, aged 64, was the Executive
Director of the Company since his appointment as an executive
director on 10 October 2014. Mr. Sin received his bachelor’s
degree with extended major in accountancy from Queensland
University of Technology, Australia in 1994. Then he pursued his
postgraduate studies with research and coursework at Griffith
University, Australia in 1994. He obtained his master degree
in business administration from the University of Southern
Queensland, Australia in 2006. Furthermore, Mr. Sin pursued
his doctorate studies at University of Wales Trinity Saint
David in 2017 and had taken online postgraduate business
core studies of Harvard University in 2020. He is currently an
associate member of HKICPA and a fellow member of the CPA
Australia. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Sin has served
companies in different industries in Hong Kong, including those
listed in Hong Kong and overseas. He possesses over 20 years
of management experience in areas of accounting, business
strategy and corporate restructuring. At the date of this annual
report, Mr. Sin held 17,452,000 shares of the Company.

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald resigned as an executive Director and
appointed as Chief Financial Officer of the Company with effect
from 13 March 2020.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

128 mpsmmeraRLm

REREE 64 RZT—NE+AT
HEZEARRABITES « EEER—
ANNFERBEBNE LB EARESHE
EEB T BR] o BERER — NN EF RN
REIFIABYEE TR - HR=
EERNFERRNEETHAZINER
BIE LA o I ARERZT—tF
REBBRET = —EREFABYGEG 240
WRZEZZFRERHAZE LEEZ
ODRERRXEER - B ERABBSETAD
AEEERBMNESHMASZEFREE -
MAEXRRA  AEECREBTRITE
AR (BEZEREBREINETZA
AR - BB BB20F S - EHE
BERAHXSHEFTEEBES RAF®
HER - kR BARR17,452,000880%

,f/'\ ®

KEREFE T _TF=A+=HEE
BERTEFUCRZERANRBNHR

BE o
o



Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chow Chi Wa, aged 52, was appointed as our non-
executive Director on 27 November 2013. He holds a master
degree in Corporate Governance from the Open University
of Hong Kong, a master degree in Corporate Finance and a
master degree in Finance (Investment Management) from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He has been a executive
Director of Sino Splendid Holdings Limited (stock code: 8006)
since November 2013. Mr. Chow is a certified public accountant
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. He is an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Company Secretaries and the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and Administrators. He possesses extensive experience in
finance and accounting.

Mr. Chow Chi Wa resigned as an non-executive director with
effect from 31 May 2020.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tong Yiu On, aged 54, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He is a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (‘HKICPA”). Mr. Tong is currently the company
secretary of China Ocean Industry Group Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 651). He served as the chief financial officer of Infinity
Development Holdings Company Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 640)
and concurrently acted as its executive director and company
secretary from July 2011 to May 2018. From September 2000
to November 2008, he served as the chief financial officer and
company secretary of Sinotronics Holdings Limited (currently
known as Kingwell Group Limited, a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1195)) and
he concurrently acted as its executive director from December
2002 to November 2008. Prior to joining such company, he had
nine years of financial management, accounting and auditing
experience from various companies listed in Hong Kong and
overseas and an international accounting firm.
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Directors and Senior Management
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Mr. Li Yik Sang, aged 46, was appointed as our independent
non-executive Director on 10 October 2014. He has over 19
years of experience in auditing, finance and accounting. He has
served as the chief financial officer, authorised representative
and company secretary of Meike International Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 953)) from August 2009 to January 2016. Mr. Li
served as an audit assistant and a semi-senior auditor in Grant
Thornton from November 2000 to December 2002. He later
worked as a staff accountant, senior accountant and manager
in Ernst & Young from January 2003 to January 2007. He
acted as the chief financial officer of China Packaging Group
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 572)) from January 2007 to
July 2009. He also served as an independent non-executive
director of China Agrotech Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1073))
from December 2011 to June 2014. He received his bachelor’s
degree in commerce from the University of Queensland,
Australia in December 1998. He received his master’s degree
in commerce (information systems) from the University of
Queensland, Australia in August 2000. Mr. Li has been a
member of CPA Australia since April 1999 and was granted a
certificate of certified practicing accountant of CPA Australia in
November 2006 and he has been a member of HKICPA since
February 2007.

Mr. Cao Ke, aged 46, was appointed as our independent non-
executive Director on 10 June 2015. He received his bachelor’s
degree in economics from Nankai University in China in 1995 and
a master’s degree in business administration from the University of
Hawaii in USA in 2001. He possesses over 10 years of experience
in financial management and over 8 years of experience in financial
investment and project management. He served as Chief Financial
Officer in Guangdong Esquel Textile Enterprise Co., Ltd., Jiemi
Int’l Trade (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. and Guangdong Qide Education
Service Ltd.. From January 2010 to March 2020, he served as
Chief Investment Officer in Youngy Investment Holding Group Co.,
Limited which is a reputable investment company in the PRC.
From October 2015 to March 2020, Mr. Cao served as the Vice
Chairman of the Board of Directors for Gefeng Environmental
Protection Technology Co,. Ltd. Since December 2012, he served
as Supervisor in AnHua Agricultural Insurance Company Ltd and
Shenzhen Huaxunark Technology Co., Limited. Since March 2020,
Mr. Cao is the chief executive officer of Zhuhai Chang Cheng
Investment Management Company Limited.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Wang Matthew Yang (“‘Dr. Wang”), aged 53, joined
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited on 12
May 2017 as Co-Chief Executive Officer of the Company. He
currently serves as the President of Cybernaut Investment
Group and Chief Scientist of #i/IZ%. He has been serving
as senior director of IBM Global Technology Committee (one
of 18 people worldwide), member of IBM American Innovation
Leadership Committee, vice chairman of Center for China and
Globalization (CCG), deputy director of China Big Data Expert
Committee, deputy director of China National Committee of
Cloud Computing Experts, council member of Council 2005
of Western Returned Scholars Association (WRSA), director
of China Entrepreneurs Association, executive director of
Zhejiang University Innovation Institute International (ZIIl),
visiting professor of Zhejiang University, Tsinghua University,
China Europe International Business School and Cheung Kong
Business School. He has served as IBM global vice president
and general manager of China Development Laboratories (CDL).
He is a holder of a doctorate degree in computer science from
Vanderbilt University (BfE2EAZ) and a MBA degree from
George Washington University (&4 B8 K22,

Dr. Wang joined IBM since 1998 and he was first appointed
as the chief architect of IBM’s global supply chain for personal
computers. After that, he was subsequently appointed as the
senior project director of IBM’s global services department,
being in charge of some projects in the aspects of electronics,
automobile, petroleum and others, with the funds involved
reaching several billion US Dollars. He also helped IBM to
establish the outsourcing center in India.
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Directors and Senior Management
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In 2002, Dr. Wang joined the Research and Development
Department in his capacity being the executive assistant to
the president of IBM’s Global Research and Development
Center. His main job duties were to develop research in
respect of technological development and strategic direction.
Innovation Frontier Engineering, led by him, was a part of the
national innovation plan of the U.S. and was directly initiated
by the U.S. President. Since 2006, Dr. Wang was seconded
to station at the headquarters of Asia Pacific region and was
appointed as the general manager of IBM’s Software Technical
Sales. His duties were to lead more than 2000 professionals
in respect of technical sales and services distributed in the
Greater China, Japan, Korea, Australia, New Zealand, India and
some Southeast Asia countries, being dedicated to provide the
customers with various software and industrial solutions.

In 2008, Dr. Wang served as IBM global vice president and
general manager of the China Development Laboratories (CDL),
promoting the implementation of IBM’s cooperation with the
Chinese government and universities, including participation in
the Seattle China-US Internet Forum, leading more than 5,000
people in Beijing, Shanghai, Taipei, Guangzhou and Shenzhen.
On 1 March 2016, Dr. Wang announced its accession to
Cybernaut Investment Group, which manages more than
RMB60 billion M&A funds for investments in overseas assets,
especially equity, and connects domestic industries. It uses
technology, capital, and international methods to enhance
domestic investment, industrial transformation, upgrading and
development.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Lee Yim Stephen, aged 45, is currently the executive
director of Soaring International Limited (Soaring), which holds
100% owns equity interest of VT Zero Limited. As the director
of the Soaring enterprise, he oversees the eCommerce division
of the group companies, and also acts as the CEO of VT Zero
Limited. Mr. Lee was graduated with a BA (Hons) Finance
from Hong Kong University in 1998. With his enthusiasm
in information technology field, he joined Innaworks Ltd as
development specialist from 1999 to 2001. And from 2002
to 2005, he held the position as senior developer in Tai Fook
Securities Limited and Emperor Capital Group. With his years
of past experience in IT sector and as software developer in the
finance industry, Mr. Lee founded the eBusiness startup named
VT Zero Limited in 2007. Prior to his startup business, he was
a Project Manager in UBS business group. With his strong
experience in software development and insight on internet
shopping, Mr. Lee managed the business of VT Zero Limited
to achieve an yearly turnover of HK$10 million within the first
two years. Soaring International Limited enterprise is now the
wholly-owned subsidiary of Cybernaut International Holdings
Company Limited, with business majoring on eCommerce of
branded electronic products and second hand mobile devices.

Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin, aged 46, is currently the executive
director and business development director of Soaring
International Limited (Soaring), that was founded with his
partner Mr. Lee Yim Stephen in 2007. He is also the director of
VT Zero Limited, subsidiary of Soaring. Mr. Ng was graduated
with a BA (Hons) Information Systems from City University of
Hong Kong in 1998. Upon graduation, he joined Hong Kong
International Terminals, IT Infrastructure division and Hutchison
PortsnPortals.com until he served as development specialist
in Innaworks Ltd. from 2000 to 2001. He also participated the
development of online securities trading platform in TaiFook
Securities during the period of 2002 to 2005. Then with his
years of past experience in internet application on research
and development in shipping and finance industry, Mr. Ng
worked as a system analyst in CCASS division of HKEx until he
joined Mr. Lee Yim Stephen to start the eBusiness venture in
2007. Mr. Ng has expertise on internet marketing and always
aims at exploring more online sales channels for the Soaring
International Limited enterprise, in a view to reach fast growing
online shoppers all over the world.
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Directors and Senior Management
ESENEREEE

Mr. Cheung Wing Lok Tommy, aged 39, joined the Company
in 2014. He is currently the directors of its subsidiaries, namely
N RLL  H BRI AR AR Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education
Technology Limited (“#/N27]", “Huzhou Company”), Time
Credit Limited, Time Pioneer (Hong Kong) Limited, Total
Tycoon Limited, China Safety Holdings Limited and Happy
Way Technology Limited of the Group. Mr. Cheung received
his bachelor’s degree in accountancy from Curtin University of
Technology, Australia in 2006 and associate degree of Business
Administration from HKU SPACE in 2004. He is currently an
associate member of HKICPA and CPA Australia. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Cheung was an auditor and possessed over
7 years of experience in areas of auditing and accounting. Other
than serving as subsidiaries’ director, Mr. Cheung also involved
in daily administrative and executive duties in the subsidiaries of
the Group.

For the purpose of this section, “*” denotes unofficial English translation.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacturing and selling
of paper converting equipment and other relating equipment
(disposed on 27 May 2020), eCommerce, eCommerce
solutions and related support services and selling of information
technology products, money lending, as well as, provision of
internet education services.

The Group’s turnover is mainly derived from business activities
in Mainland China. An analysis of the Group’s income for the
year is set out in note 7 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the Company’s major subsidiaries as at 31
December 2020 are set out in note 42 to the financial
statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income on pages 167 and 168 of this
report.

The state of the Group’s affairs at 31 December 2020 is set out
in the consolidated statement of financial position on pages 169
to 170 of this report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Company is not aware of any arrangement under which a
shareholder of the Company has waived or agreed to waive any
dividends.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The result, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements, are summarised on page 305 of this report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of property, plant and equipment of the Group as at
31 December 2020 are set out in note 18 to the financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are
set out in note 37 to the financial statements.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report,
there was a sufficiency of public float the Company’s securities
as required under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold
or redeemed any of its listed securities for the year ended 31
December 2020.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption
available to the shareholders of the Company by reason of their
holding of the Company’s securities.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Details of the movements in reserves of the Group during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its
shareholders as at 31 December 2020 were nil (31 December
2019: nil).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of sales and purchases for the year attributable
to the Group’s major customers and suppliers are as follows:

Percentage of
the total purchases/
sales accounted for

Purchases
— the largest supplier 22%
— five largest suppliers combined 38%
Sales
— the largest customer 2%
— five largest customers combined 6%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had an interest
in the five largest suppliers or customers of the Group noted
above.

At no time during the year under review, none of the Directors,
their associates or shareholders (which to the knowledge of the
Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) has any interest in the customers or suppliers disclosed
above.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group has always kept our sustainable development that
aligns with the harmonious relationship to the environment
and committed to pay close attention to conserving natural
resources. The Group strives to minimize our environmental
impact by water-recycling initiatives, sewage treatment
implementation, energy saving and wastage reduction, and
encouraging recycle of office supplies and other materials. On
gas emission, advanced equipments have been employed in
various production procedures to recover part of the wastage
particulates generated during production process and minimize
the emission to the fullest extent. The Group dedicates to
improving equipment efficiency and quality management in order
to reduce power consumption. It also requires our factories to
operate in strict compliance with the relevant environmental
regulations and rules and possess all necessary permission and
approval from the relevant PRC regulators.

The Group always insist on the ideology on issues of
environmental protection, being conventional, safe and clean.
To enhance environmental awareness and encourage daily
participation among staff in the continuous improvement of
environmental protection, the Group implements green office
practices, such as implementing paperless practice whenever
possible and engaging staff regularly on low carbon office
measures.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Board recognizes that employees, customers and business
partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group. The Group is committed to building a close and caring
relationship with its employees and business partners and
improving the quality of services to the customers. Employees
are regarded as the most important and valuable assets of the
Group. The Group ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated
and its workers are provided with regular training courses on
operation of different types of machinery, as well as work safety.
The Group strives to motivate its employees with a clear career
path and opportunities for advancement and improvement
of their skills. It is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate social governance essential for creating a framework
for motivating staff, and contributes to the community in which
we conduct our businesses and creates a sustainable return.
It also stays connected with its customers and suppliers and
has ongoing communication with the customers and suppliers
through various channels such as telephone, electronic mails
and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has compliance and risk management policies
and procedures, and members of the senior management are
delegated with the continuing obligation to monitor adherence
and compliance with all significant legal and regulatory
requirements. Our Audit Committee is delegated by the Board
to monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements and such policies
are regularly reviewed. Any changes in the applicable laws,
rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and relevant operation units from time to time.
Since the Group has subsidiaries in China and Hong Kong, the
establishments and operations shall comply with relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong. During the year
ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group’s operation has complied with all the relevant
laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong in all material
respects.
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DIRECTORS, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhu Min (Chairman)
Dr. Chen Huabei

Mr. Lu Yongchao

Ms. Yip Sum Yu?

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald'

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chow Chi Wa?
Ms. Yip Sum Yu'

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Tong Yiu On
Mr. Li Yik Sang
Mr. Cao Ke

Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Wang Matthew Yang
Chief Financial Officer

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald'

U Resigned on 13 March 2020

2 Appointed on 13 March 2020
g Resigned on 31 May 2020

DIRECTORS’ PROFILES

Directors’ profiles are set out on pages 125 to 130 of this
report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Zhu Min’s appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the executive
director and chairman of the Company will be determined by the
remuneration committee of the Company and the Board with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company
and the prevailing market situation.

Dr. Chen Huabei’s appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the executive
director of the Company will be determined by the remuneration
committee of the Company and the Board with reference to his
duties and responsibilities with the Company and the prevailing
market situation.

Mr. Lu Yongchao's appointment has no fixed term and is
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company. His remuneration as the
executive director of the Company will be determined by the
remuneration committee of the Company and the Board with
reference to his duties and responsibilities with the Company
and the prevailing market situation.

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald, our former executive Director who
was appointed for an initial term of three years commencing
from 10 October 2014 renewable automatically for a successive
term of three year each commencing from the next day after
the expiry of the then current term of appointment, unless
terminated by either Mr. Sin or the Company giving not less
than three months’ notice in writing expiring at the end of the
initial term or at any time thereafter.
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Ms. Yip Sum Yu has entered into a service contract with the
Company. Her appointment has no fixed term and is subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company. Ms. Yip is currently entitled to a
remuneration of HK$384,000 per annum which has been
reviewed by the remuneration committee and determined by the
Board with reference to her duties and responsibilities with the
Company and the prevailing market situation.

Mr. Chow Chi Wa, our former non-executive Director who was
appointed for an initial term of one year commencing from 27
November 2013 renewable automatically for successive term of
one year each commencing from the next day after the expiry
of then current term of appointment, unless terminated by either
party has given at least three months’ notice in writing expiring
at the end of the initial term or at any time thereafter.
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Mr. Tong Yiu On was appointed for an initial term of one year
commencing from 10 October 2014 renewable automatically for
successive term of one year each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
unless terminated by either Mr. Tong or the Company giving not
less than three months’ notice in writing expiring at the end of
the initial term or at any time thereafter.

Mr. Li Yik Sang was appointed for an initial term of one year
commencing from 10 October 2014 renewable automatically for
successive term of one year each commencing from the next
day after the expiry of the then current term of appointment,
unless terminated by either Mr. Li or the Company giving not
less than three months’ notice in writing expiring at the end of
the initial term or at any time thereafter.

Mr. Cao Ke, our independent non-executive Director was
appointed for an initial term of three years, subject to retirement
by rotation at the annual general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Company’s articles of association. Mr. Cao
will be entitled to a director’s fee to be determined by the Board
based on his anticipated effort and expertise to be exercised on
the Company’s affairs.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has an unexpired service contract which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than normal statutory compensation.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Group to protect the Directors and officers of the Group against
any potential liability arising from the Group’s activities which
such Directors and officers may be held liable.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Apart from the particulars disclosed in note 40 under the
heading “Related party transactions” to the financial statements,
there were no other transaction, arrangement or contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business, to which
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party
nor there were any other transaction, arrangement or contracts
of significance in relation to the Company’s business between
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries subsisting
at the end of the year or at any time during the year in which
a Director or an entity connected with a Director had, whether
directly or indirectly, a material interest.

No contract of significance had been entered into between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling
shareholder (as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

No contract of significance for the provision of services to
the Company or any of its subsidiaries by the controlling
shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries was
entered into.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, so far as was known to the Directors
and our Chief Executive Officer of the Company had an interest
or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company, which were required to be recorded in the register
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO were as follows:
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Long and short positions in the Shares and underlying REBROREERAGZEFERAR

Shares
Interest in Approximate
Name of Number of underlying Shares percentage of
Shareholder Nature of interest securities held of share option  shareholding
(Note 1) (Note 1) (%)
MikiEz 3 o)t
BEkE &R EanE FsESHEA HRRER =344
(Hiat1) (Fiit1) (%)
Mr. Zhu Min Interest in a controlled 356,000,000 Shares (L) - 8.96%
corporation
REEE R EE RS 356,000,000 &R 17 (L)
Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald (Note 3) Interest in a controlled 17,452,000 Shares (L) - 0.44%
corporation
HBIRL ST (H/773) Rt EE R 17,452,000 BRER A (L)
Mr. Lu Yongchao Interest in a controlled 6,100,000 Shares (L) - 0.15%
corporation
RStk REHEEER 6,100,000 & 13 (L)
Cybernaut International Limited (Note 2)  Beneficial owner 634,284,000 Shares (L) - 15.95%

BERLHERBRAR (Hit2) EREBA 634,284,000 AR 17 (L)

Notes: HieE -

1. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in our Shares. 1. [LIRKRZATRAEARRRMDZIFE °

2. Cybernaut International Limited is the legal and beneficial owner 2. EBRLBBERAFRARNARZIEEE
of approximately 15.95% of the entire issued share capital of the TTIRAELI15.95% M EERE=HF A °
Company. Cybernaut International Limited is wholly owned by Mr. BERLBABERARBAHCELER
Zhu Min. f e

3. Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald has resigned as executive director and 3. GEBEEER-_ZE-_TFE=RT+=HE

ERTES  WRZERMBRES -

has appointed as chief financial officer on 13 March 2020.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS

The Directors and the chief executive officer of the Company are
not aware that there is any party who, as at 31 December 2020,
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company, which would fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or be directly or indirectly interested in 5% or more
of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights
to vote in all circumstances of general meetings of the Company
or substantial shareholders as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was adopted on 7 June 2010 (the
“Adoption Date”), for the purpose of providing incentives or
rewards to selected eligible participants for their contribution
to the Group. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the
Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten years from the
Adoption Date.

Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include the
following:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time) of the
Group or any entity (the “Invested Entity”) in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest (including
any executive director but excluding any non-executive
director of the Group or any Invested Entity);
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(i)  any non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(i) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(v) any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to the Group or any
Invested Entity;

(v any shareholder of any member of the Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vii) any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to any
area of business or business development of the Group or
any Invested Entity; and

(vii) any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture,
business alliances or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group.

The maximum number of Shares issuable upon exercise of the
options which may be granted under the Share Option Scheme
and any other share option scheme of the Group (including
both exercised and outstanding options) to each participant in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to Shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.
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Share options granted to a Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
respective associates (as defined under the Listing Rules),
are subject to approval in advance by the independent non-
executive Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Director who is the grantee of the options). In addition, where
any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
independent non-executive Director, or to any of their respective
associates, would result in the Shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person in excess of 0.1% of the Shares in issue and with an
aggregate value (based on the closing price of the Shares at
the date of the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, in a 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant, such grant of
share options are subject to Shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period for
the share options granted is determined by the Board, whose
period may commence from the date of acceptance of the
offer for the grant of share options but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of the grant of the option
subject to the provisions for early termination under the Share
Option Scheme.

The subscription price for Shares under the Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board, but shall not
be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange on the date of the
offer of the grant, which must be a trading day;

(i)  the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer of
grant; and

(i) the nominal value of a Share.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Pursuant to the ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 7 October 2015, a
mandate was granted to the Directors to grant share options
under the Share Option Scheme for up to 204,922,800 shares.
Since then the Company has granted a total of 200,000,000
share options, none of which has been exercised or cancelled.
The total number of shares available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme as at the date of this 2020 Annual Report, was
204,922,800 shares, representing approximately 5.15% of the
total number of issued shares.

Since the Adoption Date and up to 31 December 2020,
120,000,000 share options has been granted by the Company,
representing 3.02% of the issued share capital of the Company
as at 31 December 2020.

MOVEMENT OF THE SHARE OPTIONS

Movements of the share options which were granted under the
Share Option Scheme, during the year under review were listed
below in accordance with Rule 17.07 of the Listing Rules:
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as at as at

1 January 31 December

Exercise 2020 Number of share option 2020

Date of price (HKS$) NZEEE | B L e 2

Grantee grant TR —A—R  Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  +=R=t-H

ERA BHAM () AfTE BB BT Eit# B&¥ AR T

Eligible participants 7 May 2019 0.198 120,000,000 - - - - 120,000,000

Note 1)
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Total 120,000,000 - - - - 120,000,000
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Annual Report 2020 149
—B-BEEH



Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

Notes:

1. These options should be valid for a term of three years
commencing from 7 May 2019. The closing price of the
Company’s shares on 7 May 2019 (the trading day immediately
before the date on which these options were granted) was
HK$0.196.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during the
year ended 31 December 2019 was estimated as at the date of
grant, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Dividend yield (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) 40
Risk-free interest rate (%) 1.638
Expected life of options (year) 3

Closing share price at grant date (HK$) 0.198
The expected life of the options is based on management
expectation and is not necessarily indicative of the exercise
patterns that may occur. The expected volatility reflects the
assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future
trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted during
the year was approximately RMB Nil (2019: RMB6,040,000)
of which the Group recognised a share option expense of
approximately RMB Nil (2019: RMB5,956,000) during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

EMPLOYEES’ INTEREST IN SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2020 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the employees or any of their spouses or children
under the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in the Company or any other body
corporate.
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RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed under the sections “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ Interest in Shares” above, at no time
during the year under review was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of
the Company or their respective associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in,
or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MATERIAL TRANSACTION

Reference is made to the announcement made by the Company
on 11 February 2020, relating to the disposal of the subsidiary
(“Disposal”) of the Company, where the Sale Shares represents
100% of the issued share capital of the Disposal Company
(“Accura Machinery & Manufacturing (Taicang) Co., Ltd.”). The
discontinued operation are re-represented as set out in note 45
to the financial statements. The material transaction of Disposal
constitutes a discloseable transaction of the Company under
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors or the substantial shareholders of the
Company and their respective associates (as defined under the
Listing Rules) had any interest in a business which competes or
may compete with the business of the Group or has any other
conflict of interest with the Group during the year and up to the
date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on
a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts of significance concerning the management
and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the
business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year, other than those are disclosed in this report.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in this report, as of 31 December 2020, none
of the Directors or their respective associates had engaged in
or had any interest in any business which competes or may
compete with the businesses of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees and senior
management of the Group is set by the remuneration committee
of the Company on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
remuneration committee of the Company, having regard
to market competitiveness, individual performance and
achievement.
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The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an
incentive to eligible participants including directors (excluding
non-executive directors), employees and consultants of the
Group. Details of the scheme are set out in note 38 to the
financial statements.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report”
of this annual report.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The Group had no charitable donations during the year ended
31 December 2020.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Please refer to the section headed “Management discussion
and analysis” in this annual report for a business review and the
future prospects of the Company. Please refer to the notes to
the financial statements in this annual report for the principal
financial risks faced by the Company. Please refer to Note 43 to
the financial statements in this annual report for the important
events of the Company after the financial year ended 31
December 2020.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board may declare dividends in the future after taking into
account the Group’s operations, earnings, financial condition,
cash requirements and availability and other factors as it may
deem relevant at such time. Any declaration and payment
as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to the
Company’s constitutional documents and the Companies Law,
including the approval of the Shareholders. Future declarations
of dividends may or may not be reflected from the Company’s
historical declarations of dividends and will be at the absolute
discretion of the Board.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with the requirements as
set out in the Listing Rules for the purposes of reviewing and
supervising the financial reporting process and internal controls
of the Group.

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tong Yiu On (Chairman),
Mr. Li Yik Sang and Mr. Cao Ke. The Audit Committee has
reviewed and discussed with the management and the external
auditor for the financial reporting matters including the annual
results for the year ended 31 December 2020.

AUDITOR

The Board appointed Elite Partners CPA Limited as the auditor
of the Company and a resolution to re-appoint the retiring
auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited, will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. There have been no
changes of auditor in the past three years.

By order of the Board

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
Zhu Min

Director

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

elite
partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE MEMBERS OF CYBERNAUT INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liabilities)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set
out on pages 167 to 307, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2020, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Key audit matters

FMREHER

Independent Auditor’'s Report
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Impairment assessment of goodwill and intangible assets

B R RS E R EE

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had goodwill and
intangible assets of approximately RMB283 million
and RMB59 million respectively, which were allocated
to three cash-generating units, namely Money lending,
eCommerce and Internet education services (the
“CGUSs”"). For the purpose of assessing impairment,
the Group appointed an independent external valuer
to assess the recoverable amount of the CGUs, which
were determined by management based on the higher
of value-in-use and fair value less costs of disposal.
The valuation requires significant judgement made by
management in determining the CGUs.

We had identified impairment assessment of goodwill
and intangible assets as a key audit matter because
significant management judgement was used to
appropriately identify the CGUs and to determine
the key assumptions including estimated future
income, operating margins and discount rates. After
the management assessment, management has
concluded that there is an impairment loss of goodwill
of approximately RMB92,523,000 during the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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Our audit procedures to address the impairment
assessment of goodwill and intangible assets
included the following:

BPRERE LB EERENENETEFERENAT

e Assessing the management’s identification of CGUs
based on our understanding of the Group’s operations.
REHMYE BEEEKLENBEETLEEEHRESE
A BMR)R

e Assessing the reasonableness of the underlying cash
flow projections prepared by management, used for
the determination of the value-in-use of the CGUs,
including but not limited to calculation methodology,
assumptions, growth rate, operating margins and
discount rates.
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e Comparing the current year actual cash flows with
the prior year cash flow projections to consider if the
projections included assumptions that were overly
optimistic.
BAFENERRS TSR FFNIRSMETRETT
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e Testing on the accuracy and reliance of the input data
used for the preparation of the cash flow projection on
a sample basis.
BREAEEAS BN AR SR ETREAZERE
BEEMERAISE o

e Assessing the sensitivity analysis on key assumptions
being used in the cash flow projection (e.g. using a
range of higher discount rates and lower revenue
growth rate).
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Key audit matters

FMREHER

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 R M o T i (£

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had trade
receivables of approximately RMB31 million, net of
impairment. We had identified impairment of trade
receivables as a key audit matter because significant
judgements had to be made for the assessment of the
recoverability for each debtor including trading history,
credit history and estimated future cash flow.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit
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Our audit procedures to address the impairment of
trade receivables included the following:
HFIRIEE ZEUIERENEARFBREAT

e Testing the accuracy of the ageing of receivables
balances on a sample basis.
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e Assessing the reasonableness of management’s
loss allowance estimates on trade receivables by
examining the information used by management
to form such judgements, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and
forward-looking information and examining the
actual losses recorded during the current financial
year and assessing whether there was an
indication of management bias when recognising
loss allowances.
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e Testing on large individual aged receivables
balances, understanding the rationale for
management’'s provisioning decisions by
reference to payment patterns during the year as
well as other information available.
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B2EFANNTEAREMBEEEHBERERRE
BHBIRTE 2 215 ©

e Assessing the level of cash collected by the
business after the year end of past due receivable
balances to consider any additional provisioning
requirements.
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Key audit matters
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Impairment assessment of loan receivables
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As at 31 December 2020, the Group had loan
receivables of approximately RMB152 million. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, there is an
impairment loss recognised of loan receivables of
approximately RMB18,892,000. We had identified
impairment assessment of loan receivables as a
key audit matter because significant management
judgement had to be made for the assessment of the
recoverability of the receivables. (e.g. the credit history
and estimated future cash flows).
RZZZEF+_A=1+—H " BEEEZEKRERY
ARK152BETL - REBEZZ=_TF+=-_A=1+—
HIEFER X E5ERIARKERREERNAR
#18,892,0007T © HPAFT 1 7% % FE W AR IA /9 AT @ Yy 1
(P EELEERARRRERE 2HET) AEHERE
I8 JE 2 77 R e BB e U & FORUE AT il 8 A
REBRETEIE -

Independent Auditor’'s Report
WA R L

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMmEmAEERRFHER

Our audit procedures to address the impairment
assessment of loan receivables included the
following:

BAEEERRERHBENENEAEFEENIT

e Discussing with management if there is any
indicator of impairment of the loan receivables
and assessed the reasonableness of

management’s assessment, in particular, those

balances had been past due.

HERENwmENEFEE HREMRERSR - I

AEEEENMNEEN  LAERZSAKRER

H -

e Testing on a sample basis on the settlement
made by the borrowers during the year and their
subsequent settlement with reference to the
repayment schedule.
BREAEXEV2REFEFRHERARENEEL
SREKREREZSEEDAR -
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Key audit matters

FMREHER

160

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EfmEdmAEERRFHER

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s
loss allowance estimates on loan receivables by
examining the information used by management
to form such judgements, including testing the
accuracy of the historical default data, evaluating
whether the historical loss rates are appropriately
adjusted based on current conditions and
forward-looking information and examining the
actual losses recorded during the current financial
year and assessing whether there was an
indication of management bias when recognising
loss allowances.
BRREEREEENARAGRABER  FAHE
BESERKERNERBEHGGIESAE 25
FE B QBRI - RIRE AR RATIE 1t
BRI EELEEXRLRC A ABRREE M
BFEEAHSNERER  WEEISEBEERT
HREEFEEERRENTR o

Reviewing and testing the Group’s credit control
policy over extension of existing loans and
monitoring of interest repayments according to
the terms as stipulated in the loan agreements.

REERBETHRENGR  BELIR EEE
WEEZRHEX  BELRREERREBEFEE
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Key audit matters

FMREHER

Control over REXZ (IkR) HEHERRAF
(Capital Wowxue (Beijing) Education Technology
Limited *) (“Wowxue”)

HRAX2 (ER)BEFHREARAT (X2 1) 225
®

The directors, after consulting legal opinion, are of
the view that the Group has control over Wowxue
through the Contractual Arrangements (defined in
Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements)
and has accounted for it as a subsidiary of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2020
despite the absence of formal legal equity interest
held by the Group in Wowxue. Please see Note 42
for details.

EFLHANEEERE  RE EXEBEBRSOTH
(EERGEAVBMKRMTI2) BEERBZ ZH# -
YTREBEZE_ZE-_EF+_A=1+—HLEFEBHHE
" BEENMBARAK &% HSELRNRK
BHEAEVEERE - FIB5F2 R MEE42 -

Independent Auditor’'s Report
WA R L

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMmEmAEERRFHER

Our audit procedures to assess the control over R
BARZ (IbR) HEREBR AT (Capital Wowxue
(Beijing) Education Technology Limited) included the
followings
BAFHEERADRE (L R) HERKRAR A R Z #E 4
BZEFREFBEUTAR
e Reading the relevant agreements and other
relevant documents, discussing with lawyer
engaged by the Group, considering the relevant
legal opinion provided by the Group and the
requirements in the relevant accounting standard
to determine whether the Contractual Agreements
have given the Group control over Wowxue.
RETEHNTHRER BEXEEBRBZES
- BEAAGE R AR B EREE
mL R WER BEBEMREMZERER
BEREEBEAERNZHE -

e Assessing the Group’s analysis and conclusions on
whether or not it controls over Wowxue based on
the Group’s analysis on its power over Wowxue’s
relevant activities, and the magnitude and
variability of variable returns from its involvement
with Wowxue. Also evaluating the appropriateness
of the Group’s assessment on its legal or
constructive obligation to absorb loss of Wowxue
by reviewing relevant agreements or contracts,
and whether the Group has provided liquidity
support or credit enhancement to Wowxue.
fh EEBRAEFRAHARBERENIITAGE
e ZameER ESREEASRBEDHNE
N URERDERBNERMESAZEHRNE
BEEIRBIENDT - R BAEHEERE
FENFNET BERESTEARBREBEMEREN
EEHMERT - RESHABRMNI M FFK
BRI EENRE M
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Key audit matters

FMREHER
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BRLEERZERERAR

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EfmEdmAEERRFHER

Assessing the Group’s analysis and conclusions
on the existence of Wowxue or significant
influence over Wowxue. Making inquiries and
inspections of the relevant contracts and
agreements of investments to evaluate the
Group’s assessment of its power to control over
Wowxue’ relevant activities, or to participate in
Wowxue and operating policy decisions.

il EEEWARETENRGHEAENEAY
ST NEER o RBABTEHKRENBBE L
MipZThT BESEREZAHALHEEEHH
ZEHE - ARTZARERBRL L BRORE
$ e

Reviewing the minutes of the meetings of
Wowxue, the Board of Directors of Wowxue.
Evaluating the Group’s reassessment of its
influence over Wowxue on a continuous basis
if facts and circumstances indicated that
there were changes. Furthermore, checking
the appropriateness of related disclosures of
structured entity.

EHNABRAREEZGNGALE - MEBEMBR
KAZETEL  BEETH SEEAZERE
EEFR G - BHN - IRE T AEB(L T BNAERERE
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and such internal control as
the directors determined is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

18 M 2 BLEN R
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the
terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
B R E RS

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Chan Wai Nam William with
practising certificate number PO5957.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10th Floor,

8 Observatory Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui,

Kowloon,

Hong Kong, 31 March 2021

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

meBEskEMEEWER

Continuing operations
Revenue
Cost of sales/service rendered

Gross profit

Other gains or loss, net
Impairment loss, net of reversal
Selling and distribution costs
Administrative expenses
Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Income tax credit/(expense)

Loss for the year from continuing operations

Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from
discontinued operations

LOSS FOR THE YEAR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
(EXPENSE)/INCOME

ltem that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or l0ss:

Exchange differences arising on
translation of foreign operations

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/
INCOME FOR THE YEAR

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE
FOR THE YEAR

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

RREERE
WA
HERERBKA

EF

Hfth U 25 3B 18 F 50
BIEEE - R
HERDHEKA
TBRAX

BT

FREL A BB
FEBiEe /(Fx)

REFELEXB 2 FEBR

ERIEEERY
RECRIEBEXREZ
FREF

FEBR

Htt2E (FX) /a2

AR R K EN DB E R a Ay
EH :
MBI R ELN
R =R

FERM2E (FAX)/
a2

FEREMAXAN

ARAHRAANEIEFE
(B51R), /A -

BERIEEER

Notes

FitEE

11

12
13

45

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_ZTF+_A=+—HILEE

2020 2019

. k22 —T-NF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETTT
(Represented)

(=E5)

285,208 286,860
(218,751) (213,353)
66,457 73,507
41,738 (6,072)
(117,973) (108,306)
(4,154) (3,092)
(69,568) (77,925)
(19,581) (15,808)
(103,081) (137,696)
1,647 (592)
(101,434) (138,288)
24,051 33,245
(77,383) (105,043)
(10,817) 3,794
(10,817) 3,794
(88,200) (101,249)
(100,278) (131,648)
24,051 33,245
(76,227) (98,403)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GeBEsRkEMEEBER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BHE—Z-FEE+-_A=1+—HILtEE

Loss for the year attributable to
non-controlling interests:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Total comprehensive (expense)/
income for the year attributable to
owners of the Company:
Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Total comprehensive expense for the
year attributable to non-controlling
interests:

Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Loss per share:

From continuing and discontinued
operations
Basic (RMB cents per share)

Diluted (RMB cents per share)

From continuing operations
Basic (RMB cents per share)

Diluted (RMB cents per share)

168 mpmmmpraRLE

Notes
HtsE
SR FEES

RREEEXER
BARIERERER

FARRAAREEERE
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BRIEEER
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REFENCRIEREERE

EX(BRARED)

wE (BRARED)
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EX (BRARED)

g (BRARKED)

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

2020 2019

. k22 —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TT ARETFT
(Represented)

(&=E5)
(1,156) (6,640)
(1,156) (6,640)
(77,383) (105,043)
(111,158) (128,429)
24,051 33,245
(87,107) (95,184)
(1,093) (6,065)
(1,093) (6,065)
(88,200) (101,249)
(Restated)

(&&E5)

(1.92) (2.48)
(1.92) (2.48)
(2.52) (3.31)
(2.52) (3.31)




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Current assets

Inventories

Trade receivables

Loan receivables

Other receivables, deposits and
prepayment

Restricted bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and bills payables
Other payables and accruals
Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Tax liabilities

Bank and other borrowings
Promissory notes

FREBHEE

ME - BE k&

EREEE

Bk

BEE

BAHEFABRZ SR
BE

RERE

FE

B 5 WA

&I E X

HAifEW R - e M
B RIR

XRHRITER

RITHEBRERS

REBAR

B S ENFERENRE
H b e SRIE R EET & A
aHaE

HEAE
RITRHEMEE
B

24
25
26

27
28
28

29
30
31
32

33
35

mE MR R R

At 31 December 2020
RZEZTF+-_A=+—H

2019
—ET-NF

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT AREET T
11,550 11,930
3,508 3,405
282,933 385,919
58,783 71,695
569 1,011
357,343 473,960
12,659 15,325
30,583 56,891
152,450 139,042
87,977 61,942
8,754 12,305
87,175 158,268
379,598 443,773
30,200 71,451
37,665 12,569

= 3,995

2,811 2,688
3,193 5,902
3,367 26,952

= 46,570

77,236 170,127
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ma MR R

At 31 December 2020
RZZ=TF+=-A=+—H

2019

—E-NEF

Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

B 5 AR®TT ARBEFIT

Net current assets mBEERE 302,362 273,646

Total assets less current liabilities HWEMERTDHARE 659,705 747,606
Non-current liabilities ERDAR

Lease liabilities HEEE 32 470 592

Deferred tax liabilities BEFTRAE 34 12,514 18,690

Promissory notes A E R 35 334,737 289,072

Contingent consideration HARE 36 = 39,068

347,721 347,422

Net assets HEFRE 311,984 400,184
Capital and reserves BEX R

Share capital A&7 37 337,128 337,128

Reserves ffEf (20,463) 66,644

316,665 403,772

Non-controlling interests JERRRRIER (4,681) (3,588)

Total equity ek 311,984 400,184

A,

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March

2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

DIRECTOR
EE

Zhu Min
Sk

70 mpsmmeraRLD

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

DIRECTOR
EF
Lu Yongchao
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Asat 1 January 2019

Loss for the year

QOther comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

Lapse of share options

Release of special reserve upon
disposal of subsidiaries

Recognition of equity-settled
share-based payment expense

As at 31 December 2019 and
asat 1 January 2020

Loss for the year

Qther comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

As at 31 December 2020

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBEXR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_T-_ZEF+-_A=+—HILFE

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company

EINGE TN AT
Capital Share Non-
Share Share redemption Special ~ Statutory  options Exchange Accumulated controlling
capital ~ premium reserve reserve  reserves reserve reserve losses  Subtotal interests Total
-2
k¥ ROER REORE RHRE  EEGH BERERE ERGR RHER it FARER i
RMB'000 RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETRT ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR
(Note g) (Note b)
(Hka) (WD)
RZF-NE-A-A 337,128 587,684 17918 46,867 48,818 8,626 14,453 (568,578 492,916 2477 495393
FEEE - N - - - - - (98,403) (98,403 (6,640)  (105,043)
FEEMZERE
- - - - - - 3219 - 3219 575 3,794
FR2AMTEE
- - - - - - 3219 (98,403)  (95,184) (6,065)  (101,249)
BAMIERE - - - - - 8,626) - 8,626 - - -
HENEARBBRE R
- - - (46,867) - - - 46,867 - - -
EANRALEE AR
AERMARAR . - - - - 6,040 - - 6,040 - 6,040
RZ2-NF+ZR=1-H
RW=E=%%-A-A 337,128 587,684 17918 - 48,818 6,040 17,672 (611,488) 408,772 (3,588) 400,184
FERE - - - - - - - (16227)  (16,22)  (1,156)  (77,383)
EEAMRERE
- - - - - - (10,880) - (10,880) 63 (10,817)
FE2ARZEE
- - - - - - (10,880) (16,221)  (87,107) (1,093)  (88,200)
RZSZFF+ZA=1-H 337,128 587,684 17,918 - 48,818 6,040 6,792 (687,715) 316,665 (4,681) 311,984
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

e

Ea@Ex

For the year ended 31 December 2020

S
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Notes:

172

Special reserve represents the difference between the nominal
value of shares of the Company issued as consideration in
exchange for the aggregate of the paid-up capital of the
subsidiaries of the Company arising upon the corporate
reorganisation to rationalise the Group’s structure prior to listing
of the Company’s shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The amount would be transferred
to accumulated losses upon disposal of subsidiaries.

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the
People’s Republic of China (“PRC”), the PRC subsidiaries
are required to provide for PRC statutory reserves, including
enterprise expansion fund and general reserve fund, by way of
appropriations from its statutory net profit (based on the PRC
statutory financial statements of the PRC subsidiaries) but before

dividend distributions.

All appropriations to the funds are made at the discretion of the
board of directors of PRC subsidiaries. The board of directors
of the PRC subsidiaries shall decide on the amounts to be
appropriated based on its profitability each year.

The enterprise expansion fund may be used to increase registered
capital subject to approval from the relevant PRC authorities. The
general reserves fund may be used to offset accumulated losses
or increase the registered capital subject to approval from the
relevant PRC authorities.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HEEERER

Operating activities
(Loss)/profit before taxation from:

Continuing operations
Discontinued operation

Adjustments for:

Interest income on bank deposits

Fair value change of contingent consideration

Fair value change of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss

Fair value change on extension on
promissory notes

Interest expenses

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation on right-of-use assets

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
trade and loan receivables

Written down of inventories

Impairment loss recognised in respect of goodwill

Impairment loss recognised in respect of
other receivables

Amortisation of intangible assets

Share-based payment expenses

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital

(Increase)/decrease in inventories

Decrease in trade receivables

(Increase)/decrease in loan receivables

Increase in other receivables, deposits and
prepayment

(Decrease)/increase in trade and bills payables

Increase in other payables and accruals

Net cash (used in)/generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash (used in)/generated from
operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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2020 2019
bt e 22 —E-NEF
RMB’000 RMB'’000
AR%TT ARBTT

(Represented)

¢ 27
(103,081) (137,696)
24,051 33,245
(813) 972)
(2,834) 7,116
404 987
(35,521) -
19,581 16,856
1,964 2,296
4,227 2,922
21,546 47,557
- 1,460
92,523 61,225
5,390 5,442
25,499 24,702
- 5,956
(25,840) (45,754)
27,096 25,342
(7,132) 2,050
7,651 4,226
(41,640) 26,961
(34,841) (27,341)
(23,505) 1,574
29,046 10,239
(43,325) 43,051
(7,314) (6,266)
(50,639) 36,785
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERETRER

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

Investing activities REED

Interest received B IH 8

Purchase of property, plant and equipment EEWE  BEL&H
Purchase of intangible assets EEEVEE

HEMBRRZRERNFE
RE/(FA) EERRITER
BERATEFABRSZSREE

Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries
Withdrawal/(placement) of pledged bank deposits
Purchase of financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss

Net cash (used in)/generated from RETE (FRA) FER&SHE
investing activities
Financing activities MR EE

Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERENERTS
Interest paid BATHE

Repayment of bank and other borrowings EERITREMEE
Proceed from bank and other borrowings RITRHEAME EFTEHIEA

Net cash used in financing activities MEEEHMARERE
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BeRBEEEY
cash equivalents (BY),/ BMPE
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of FNREREEEED
the year
Effect of exchange rate changes ExEHNEE
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FRASRESEED
the year,
representing bank balances and cash iR & B IRR RS

as stated in the consolidated statement of PASRITAE SR R 25 7R
financial position
representing bank balances and cash

attributable to a discontinued operation

PAB AR IF AR T e
RITEHBRR LT

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

74 mpemmepsRA

2020 2019
=N ~F-hE
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR%TT ARETFT
(Represented)

¢ <E27))

813 972
(2,296) (1,875)
(12,587) -
6,217 46,117
3,009 (6,763)
- (1,984)

(4,844) 36,467
(4,647) (2,867)
(352) (1,250)
(3,559) (86,768)
2,200 26,853
(6,358) (64,032)
(61,841) 9,220
158,268 138,743
(9,252) 10,305
87,175 158,268
87,175 112,151

- 46,117

87,175 158,268




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

GENERAL

Cybernaut International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability and its shares are listed on
the Stock Exchange. The addresses of the registered
office and principal place of business of the Company
are disclosed in the corporate information section to the
annual report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) are investment holding, eCommerce,
provision of internet education services and money
lending.

For the prior year up to 27 May 2020, the Group was
engaged in manufacture and sale of paper converting
equipment and other related equipment segment. Detail of
the disposal was set out in Note 46.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (‘RMB”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BHE

176
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards and the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to Definition of Material
HKAS 1 and HKAS 8

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The application of the Amendments to References to
the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and
the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

EREEMBEHEERN ((F
RMEHELER ) Z88T

RAEFERFERNEBMBRE
BRI Z185]

RAFE @ NEBRFERELELE
WRE  EEAEARZZE_ZF
—A—HAszERBzFEHRA
HlERNE ST REEZE Y
BMaERNSI BB REEESY
FHRIAE ((BASRMAE]) Bk
BT 5 BB HREER Z8F] -

EAGEERAE
1RREEDS
ERIEBHZ
)

BRMBRTEDN EHOTE
FaR®2 BT

BREMNESE

BB B RELE
RIEOSE - &
BEETEAE
395% R BB
BHREERET
SR ZAEET

o R

RAFERBEEVHRELELZR
BZHMSERNSIAZETRERE
MBEBELRNZEITHAKERA
FEMRBEFENMBAN KRR
R/ SR ZEGE W BERRETIN
BEERAYEEATE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments’

Amendment to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions*

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual

Framework?

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,

Phase 2°

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to

Sale or Contribution of Assets

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28  between an Investor and its

Amendments to HKAS 1

Associate or Joint Venture®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)'

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use?

Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs

2018-2020?

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2022.

S Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to

be determined.

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

The directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the
foreseeable future.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In
addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (‘Listing
Rules”) and by disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement
date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is
determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS
2 Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that
are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 16, and
measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE_Z-_TE+-_A=+—HULEE
3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value

measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3

based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value

measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or liability.

;I 8 0 Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from
the date the Group gains control until the date when the
Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried
at cost as established at the date of acquisition of the
business less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination.

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently when there is indication that the unit may be
impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets
of the unit on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying
amount of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss
for goodwill is recognised directly in profit or loss. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue recognition

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when
it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to
the Group and the amount of income can be measured
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net
carrying amount on initial recognition.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15

Nature of goods or services

The nature of the goods or services provided by the Group
is as follows:

° manufacturing and sales of paper converting
equipment and other relating equipment

° eCommerce
o internet eduction services
Identification of performance obligations

At contract inception, the Group assesses the goods
or services promised in a contract with a customer and
identifies as a performance obligation each promise to
transfer to the customer either:

i a good or service (or a bundle of goods or services)
that is distinct; or

ii. a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and that have the same
pattern of transfer to the customer.

A good or service that is promised to a customer is
distinct if both of the following criteria are met:

i the customer can benefit from the good or service
either on its own or together with other resources
that are readily available to the customer (i.e. the
good or service is capable of being distinct); and

ii. the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract (i.e. the promise to transfer
the good or service is distinct within the context of
the contract).

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

i the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

ii. the Group’s performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example, work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced; or

ii. the Group’s performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the distinct good or
service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group’s unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the
same contract are accounted for and presented on a net
basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers within HKFRS 15
(continued)

Timing of revenue recognition (continued)

The sales of paper converting equipment and other
relating equipment and eCommerce are recognised at a
point in time at which the customer obtains the control
of the promised asset, which generally coincides with the
time when the goods are delivered to customers and the
title is passed.

Service income from internet education services are
recognised over time when services are rendered.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services, or for administrative purposes. Property, plant
and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets less their residual values over their useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.
Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

WEEERFEFRHBR
(#])
AR (&)

BB B HREERFE 15 EL BRI
WA (&)

WA HER 2 ) (48)

HEMKRN T RENMEMHEBRE
AR B F RS TN B P RIS BT A
BERGENX K (—REEY
RN TEF KA SRR
[F)) #ERR o

B R A IR H IR WA R IR H
PR 75 B B s T HE RS BEGR ©

M BERRE

WE BEMRXBAFIEANEE
FHEERIRBIAETERAELZ
BVEE - W% - BERRETIIR
AR EL 1R RETHTE R E & REHR
BER (E) REEE B RS
B o

FETRAERFNRBERERE
B0 LAMUEH & 22 A A 30 0B R £R
BE - At Al A FS - RIREE
MFTET AR BERE BRIER
Af - QERFOR R E AR B E RS T
HE T EARRIE -

WE BEMRBEHEHERHERRK
ERMBECRAZEESTEES
ARELBEMBERERILER - HEX
BENE BELRREBHEBMEL
ZEMKEEEETIREHE MR
GRRAEEERAECANERE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Lease
Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains
a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16
at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-
alone price of the non-lease components.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. It also applies the recognition
exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments
on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another

systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease

liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives

received;

any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group
in dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

REEERFEFHBR
(#)
HE (&)

REEERAHBA (B)

MAHEREEEEERE

HREHERB B BRETR12(E
AR ATREREEEENH
E ASEEAEHEE®EAR
% o HVSERM R EARNEEE
EEHE HHEENEEEESE
MEENHENRERENANZE
ORI EM R GUAER BFS o

EREEE

ERREENKAES

HEREBENGTESE

o AR A B Z BT ERI AR
MEMK  BRERFOERNE

EER

o  AREBEAMTMIBEEK
Vi N4

s AKEFRHEBHREREE
BREREEMESHRER
HEEEZHE R RARM AT
ME M BIEFFTEE
ERTACZR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Lease (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful
life and the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Lease (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)
Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the present
value of lease payments that are unpaid at that date.
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include:

° fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise the option; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to
terminate the lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Lease (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted

by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use

assets) whenever:

° the lease term has changed or there is a change in

the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

the lease payments change due to change in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the
initial discount rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination and
recognised separately from goodwill are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded
as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets
acquired in a business combination with finite useful
lives are reported at costs less accumulated amortisation
and any accumulated impairment losses, on the same
basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when
no future economic benefits are expected from use or
disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of
an intangible asset, measured as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. RMB) using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of transactions are used. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity under the heading of
foreign currency translation reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation, (i.e. a disposal
of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary
that includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange
differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support
to the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
income”.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes
and the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognised
as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of
the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions
Share option granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based
payments determined at the grant date without taking
into consideration all non-market vesting conditions is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period,
based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that
will eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share option reserve).

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited or
cancelled after the vesting date or are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

When shares granted are vested, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share capital.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before taxation”
as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or
expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

WEEERFEFRHBR
(#)
BURRAD 7 2 B9 4 3K

UREEE SR D BN AL S
A& B 1% i A g

AR MEEBURG 2 EMBAL
1E 2 ARSOHE 8 B 2 B {0 B 7 5 5K
DEBEATARELBHZAFE

e -

REt B FTA SET 5 5 B IR R R
HEHEENREEEURD BE
B2NRORATFELREASEY
RERRFENER TANMGR &
EREENRBBIMAHE SR
o (FBRERE) (EAREIE N -

RBIREETRE - RENRBRE
8 A RERR 2 RIA S BB E ) 4
B - 5 BRENGEB B HRER
Woek iE s S i m B D RTTE
AIJ R 5% 10 8 B A8 fef 1 O RE B8 2 SR IR
T E R EE

RERERMDEBRE - TRIRER
REHBER R RS BB A -

BIE

PiT 15 75 78 S $5 FE {<F BV B 75 38 SR 3T
BiIAZ 480 o

AR

T3 85 73 98 T 40 6F P 2R B i
B - ERBEAEINGRA RS
B o 2 T2 R AR BT R0 [ BT
BB - To e BATE E AL R R AR R
AR S A R AR SRR BB
TE B AT o 74 8 B0 BB O T R R
o HIK B AR EL B R 45 2 B R
S -

Annual Report 2020 195 -
—B-BEEH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

196

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable
profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are
generally recognised for all deductible temporary difference
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference
arises from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that
there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be
recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax for the year

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is
included in the accounting for the business combination.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

RRBERFEFIEE
(#&)

BioE (4)

FEEHE (&)

EEMBAEERABNREERE
FEREEZHRAANBRER 2R
R E - BRERERTIURKREHR
EEBKBERERIHE (RBE)
REE o

BEERBRBEREEZFTERRZ
RAKE RPN EEHRKE 54
BHEERABZREEMKELZ
HAGHZHBE

i B A 450 5% Il #1717 4 ) S AN HA R
HEERAMBAAGEEN AM
FEYRRF RS R — ER
ERBRZHENABRE - REHR
HEEEBBAEREH -

A FZETR RAEAL R

BIEA R RE R IR TSN IR & P FERR ©
BN AR IBHEER BTN ER A
R atREBREL BB
BARFTAEBEHZGTREN °

Annual Report 2020 197
—B-BEEH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

198

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are calculated
using the weighted-average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for inventories less
all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to
make the sale.

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation
can be established, or otherwise they are allocated to
the smallest group of cash generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be
established. The recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating units to
which the corporate asset belongs, and is compared with
the carrying amount of the relevant cash-generating unit
or group of cash-generating units.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying
amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit)
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable
amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit) in prior years. A
reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after
the related asset is ready for its intended use or sale is
included in the general borrowing pool for calculation of
capitalisation rate on general borrowings.

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation
or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(“‘FVTPL”) are added to or deducted from the fair value of
the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable
to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities
at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
and payments (including all fees and points paid or
received that form an integral part of the effective interest
rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial
liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net
carrying amount on initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets
Classification of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured
at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to
present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification of financial assets (continueqd)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a
financial asset that are required to be measured at the
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
theme (‘FVTOCI”) as measured at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL") if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently
at amortised cost and debt instruments/receivables
subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to
the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next
reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised
by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the
reporting period following the determination that the asset
is no longer credit-impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)
Classification of financial assets (continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are
subsequently measured at fair value with gains and losses
arising from changes in fair value recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the reserve;
and are not subject to impairment assessment. The
cumulative gain or loss will not be reclassified to profit
or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and will be
transferred to retained profits.

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments
are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to
receive the dividends is established, unless the dividends
clearly represent a recovery of part of the cost of the
investment. Dividends are included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss includes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains or loss”, net line item.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

REEERFETHBR
(#)

ERMEE ()
EHEESE (&)

IETE At A AT AR MEE WS
ZBEATE

BAFEFARMEERKSEZBA
TAREDERRAFENE &
FEESELNREREBRREM
EHBEPER YRFHETR
At BAETRER G - RitkE
BB ITEHRDBEHERAR
BEZB%  URKERERERM -

AN & B RE R UCER AR B A A B
ZEBRATERENRENEBERSP
BR - RIFREABERTIE D
BEKAR - REFTABEF [HAbK
AJIEA o

BAVEFABGZZEREE

TREENTTEREHR AR
NP EF AR ERERIEE R
BAFEAAEMEE R EER
% QIR A FEFARSAE -

REREHRR - RO FEFAER
MEMEERQFEFTE  MEMA
RPERDFEERIBEER - R
BRERNRaNEEFESEL
TR EEMRIA AR S A
B WERF AT E Al Y2k sk 5 1805 58
HA e

Annual Report 2020

—zomsrg |\ 203



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)
Impairment on financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (‘ECL”) model on financial assets
(including trade receivables, loan receivables, other
receivables and bank balances) which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of
ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes
in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (‘12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible
within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments
are done based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the reporting date as well
as the forecast of future conditions.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of
a default occurring since initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets (continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if available)
or internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit default
swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that
are expected to cause a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

3.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

REEERFETHBR
(#)

ERMEE ()

EHEENRE (&)

(i)

EE R ARIE

RFHEEERREH KRR
BERREN  AEEEHE
MTAERSBELENEDA
R T AEEAHERA
BAEMBORBRELR - RNE
BETIER  @EEAEY
BRADXFHNEERTELER
(BREEERREBARED
VB E R ERATA EUS BV Al
HEMHER) °

BRI - AEBEFGEER
A D ARIEINE - 45T 5
EEMAZEEE :

e SEMTEANB(WE)X
AREEFRNERK
BHIEARBIL

o EEERNNEHTSHE
BAEEL  flOEE
BEAERM - EBA
05 B 8 4019 5 (B K 0B
EF

e TRHKSEHEBARE
THEERBGMENE
EBRERDOER B
BHREERRBRRASE
kTR

Annual Report 2020 205
—B-BEEH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION AND

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Financial assets (continued)
Impairment on financial assets (continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

206

° an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor;

° an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk and revises them
as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before
the amount becomes past due.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets (continued)

(i

(i)

Definition of default

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 180 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)
would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment on financial assets (continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.

Financial assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition
event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data and forward-looking
information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased
and probability-weighted amount that is determined
with the respective risks of default occurring as the
weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual

cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with

the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects

to receive, discounted at the effective interest rate

determined at initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received
and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument
classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss
previously accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is
reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument
which the Group has elected on initial recognition to
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is not reclassified to
profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets (continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial assets (continued)

A modification of a financial asset occurs if the contractual
cash flows are renegotiated or otherwise modified.

When the contractual terms of a financial asset are
modified, the Group assesses whether the revised terms
result in a substantial modification from original terms
taking into account all relevant facts and circumstances
including qualitative factors. If qualitative assessment
is not conclusive, the Group considers the terms are
substantially different if the discounted present value of the
cash flows under the new terms, including any fees paid
net of any fees received, and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from
the discounted present value of the remaining cash flows
of the original financial asset, after reducing gross carrying
amount that has been written off.

For non-substantial modifications of financial assets that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial assets will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted
at the financial assets’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the
carrying amount of the modified financial assets and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to
the carrying amount of the financial asset is recognised in
profit or loss at the date of modification.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

REEERFEFHBR
(#)
THMEE (H)

HULTER e B A E (B)

HERER I AR EHRE L
Reng NBLomEEBR-

EREMEENSNGERE - XK
EeEZEMERBEEERER (B
EHERER) @ HERERIGKREE
BYEREGREERER - WEE
A RBEE R ER - METIRKT
BemnEERRERFNXRREIRAE,
BRE(BREFMSNEBALMRE
AEWRER) ERE /M EENOFHRIR
EREMIIRBRE OREC MEERR
HARER) HEEZD10% » BIAKH
BIERFHEERER -

HR TR IR REETF
EXEH - AR EENREE
BEREEREHWASREERZE
BMEENRBERNXREIRANREF
H-MELENRXZRALEARKE
EREMEENKREEFFAE I
ERGFHNEE  HEREER
HEMNEFARABENERBHER

L
S e
T ERR ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the
financial liability is (i) contingent consideration of an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies, (i) held for trading or (iii) it is designated as at
FVTPL.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

o it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
repurchasing it in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

o it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a
financial guarantee contract or a designated and
effective hedging instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

(Continued)

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for
trading or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a
business combination may be designated as at FVTPL

upon initial recognition if:

such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

the financial liability forms part of a group of
financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which
is managed and its performance is evaluated on
a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment
strategy, and information about the grouping is
provided internally on that basis; or

it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the
entire combined contract to be designated as at
FVTPL.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

REEERFEFHBR
(#)

ERMEERES (F)
EHEE (F)

B EABRZRZEREAE (B)

RTAERT - £RMEEEEEE
ZERABRKRBTEXEBAMHZ
KA HEN TR A EERIN) KRR
R 1 E /R A FE AR

B RS RS AR R D T
ENERTEAELRZT—
BIER 3%

RIFAKE AR E BB E
B RE R RIREAIRE
AAREENEBESENE
o ARemABER—MAXE
B mATFEEEFGEREZ
THMEEXTRAE (KME
FE)—ED =K

HEKBE —@ExZERAR
TETAZEHN—ED - A
REEMBREENFEIRA
HABNDAHANEERE
NFEFABSE G LR —

% o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL,
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk
of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes
in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income
would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. For financial liabilities that contain embedded
derivatives, such as contingent consideration, the changes
in fair value of the embedded derivatives are excluded
in determining the amount to be presented in other
comprehensive income. Changes in fair value attributable
to a financial liability’s credit risk that are recognised
in other comprehensive income are not subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred
to accumulated losses upon derecognition of the financial
liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and bills payables, other
payables and accruals, bank and other borrowings and
promissory notes are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration
paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision
affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following is the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have
made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies and that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial
statements.

Control over a subsidiary

The Group’s management needs to assess whether the
Group has the power over Wowxue and is exposed to
significant variable return of Wowxue. If such power and
exposure exist, the Group should consolidate Wowxue. The
judgements the Group used in determining if it has control
over Wowxue detailed in Note 42.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets with
respect to depreciation and amortisation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible
assets according to the industrial experiences over the
usage of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets and intangible assets and also by reference to
the relevant industrial norm. If the actual useful lives of
property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets are less than the original estimated useful
lives due to changes in commercial and technological
environment, such difference will impact the depreciation
charge for the remaining periods.
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CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables and loan
receivables

Trade receivables and loan receivables with significant
balances and credit-impaired are assessed for ECL
individually.

In addition, for trade receivables and loan receivables
which are individually insignificant or when the Group does
not have reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort to measure ECL
on individual basis, collective assessment is performed
by grouping debtors based on the Group’s internal credit
ratings.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables and loan receivables are disclosed in note 25
and note 26.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses each cash-generating unit annually
to determine whether any indication of impairment exists.
When an indicator of impairment exists, a formal estimate
of the recoverable amount is made, which is considered
to be the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. The carrying amount of the property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets are reviewed
for impairment when events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable
in accordance with the accounting policy as disclosed
in the relevant part of this section. Estimating the value
in use requires the Group to estimate future cash flows
from the cash generating units and to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Estimated allowance of inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on
an assessment of the net realisable value of inventories.
Allowances are applied to inventories where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the net realisable
value is lower than the cost of inventories. The identification
of obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement
and estimates on the conditions and marketability of the
inventories. Where the subsequent selling prices decline
or increase in costs of completion and those necessary to
make the sales, additional allowance may arise.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of
the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the cash-
generating unit (or a group of cash-generating units) and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the actual future cash flows are less than
expected, or change in facts and circumstances which
results in downward revision of future cash flows or
upward revision of discount rate, a material impairment
loss or further impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of goodwiill
is RMB282,933,000 (2019: RMB385,919,000) (net of
accumulated impairment loss of RMB184,963,000 (2019:
RMB109,993,000)). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 22.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

EXHER G A RERR
ZERRIE (#])

A EERE

AEEREBEHFER ERFENT
MM FEELEE - MESMFHIE
NEPBRTAZ2RFEERFER
A AEEEELERE - BHRE
FRAFEAHFENRANAHE
PR 1 th B HI BT R (5t - REIRE
ETRITHRAARRELHERT
PRI IN - R A] BEE A RSN
o

BB E

ErmEEtREAYRECED
RReELEM (FRSELEMA
A) Z AR Bl & B AE A B
REEXAFERDIERAZES
FoABEGEREER  AREZAMR
ARBREREELEMN (HREE
EEMER) RKB SR EE R
RERUFERE - EERARKRS
MEEREMREERBEREDE
BORKBEREIRN THAKERE b
1Tk - RIFTRE MR ERBERE
S —FREREE °

o

R—FB-_ZTF+_A=+—H &
EMEREEAARK282,933,000
JC = T R N
385,919,0007T) (B REHREE
BAR® 184,963,000t (ZZE— AN
& AR#¥109,993,0007T)) ° AJH
Bl &M EF BRI 228 -

Annual Report 2020 217
—B-BEEH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

218

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that the entities
in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and
cash equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the
Company, comprising share capital, reserves and retained
profits.

The management reviews the capital structure on a semi-
annual basis. As part of this review, the management
considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with
each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the
management, the Group will balance its overall capital
structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buybacks as well as the issue of new
debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6.
(a) Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets EMEE
Amortised cost S P AR
Financial assets at fair BRAFEFABRRZ
value through profit or loss TRIEE
Financial liabilities eMAR
Amortised cost BIHAAR

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss TRAE

Financial risk management objectives and
policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
trade receivables, deposit, loan receivables, other
receivables, restricted bank deposits, bank balances
and cash, trade and bills payables, other payables,
promissory notes and bank and other borrowings.
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risk (price risk,
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The management manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Market risk
Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risks of changes in
market interest rates related primarily to the Group’s
loan receivables with floating interest rates.

The table set out below demonstrates the sensitivity
to a reasonably possible change in interest rates in
the current year, with all other variable held constant,
of the Group’s loss before taxation (through the
impact on floating rate borrowings).

2020 —E-EF
RMB AR
RMB AR
2019 —E-NF
RMB AR
RMB AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through
its investment in listed equity securities and financial
derivatives. Management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with
different risks. The Group’s equity price risk is mainly
concentrated on equity instruments quoted in the
TSX Venture Exchange.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date.

If the prices of the respective equity instruments had
been 10% (2019: 10%) higher/lower, loss for the
year would decrease/increase by RMB57,000 (2019:
RMB93,000) as a result of the changes in fair value
of investment in listed equity securities.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to
trade and other receivables, loan receivables and
bank balances. As at 31 December 2020, the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk, which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties
arising from the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The
Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated
with its financial assets.

The Group deposited bank balances with approved
and reputable banks. Bankruptcy or insolvency of
the banks may cause the Group’s right with respect
to pledged bank deposits and bank balances held
to be delayed or limited. The directors monitor the
credit rating of these banks on an ongoing basis,
and consider that the Group’s exposure to credit risk
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 were minimal.

For other receivables, the directors make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other
receivables and based on historical settlement
records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The directors
believe that there is no significant increase in credit
risk of the Group’s outstanding balances of other
receivables since initial recognition and the Group
provide impairment based on 12m ECL. Based on
the assessment, impairment of other receivables
(net of reversal) with the amounts of approximately
RMB5,390,000 (2019: RMB5,442,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

For loan receivables, the directors make periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of loan
receivables based on historical settlement records,
past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive
forward-looking information.

The Group considers loan receivables as doubtful if
the repayment of principal and/or interest has been
overdue for more than 3 months and principal. The
Group considers the loan and receivables as loss
if the repayments of principal and/or interest have
been overdue for more than 6 months for loan and
loan interest receivables; and in cases the collection
of principal and/or interest in full is improbable.

Based on the above assessment, impairment of
loan receivables with the amount of approximately
RMB18,892,000 (2019: RMB54,776,000) was
recognised in profit or loss during the year ended 31
December 2020.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as
14% (2019: 15%) and 49% (2019: 59%) of the
loan receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and five largest customers respectively.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

6. ®MTA (&)

(b)

CREARERE B HREE
(%)

1FEmER R E G ()

BRERERT S - EFRIEE
ERERY  BEERRTE
R E B (BN T2 R T 45
SHOAEEER) - 8RR
B3RO IR 1T BB
5FAE -

fWMAS R,/ A 8B Fa R
BIEA  AEEERENE
KRR o B R R ERE K
MEWNAES R /LB BT
HEE6eEA - kd28ukE
Aok, ZFSBTRATLE -
AEBEEHER N EEGRIAR
18 -

B LEh - BEZZE=F
F+_A=+—HLEFE " &
KA AR #18,892,0007T (=
T—NF : ARM54,776,000
7o) MEKREFREE R ER

MR 14% (ZF—NF : 15%)
K49% (ZZT—HF : 59%)
FEU B SR T 5> Bl FEUR AN 5 B &%
AREFRAREFHFIE @ &
rEBEEERBEF -
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The Group’s policy to manage credit risk is to deal
only with credit worthy counterparties. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has formulated a credit policy and, delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to

ensure that follow-up action is take.

Trade receivables are assessed based on provision
matrix, except for trade receivables with gross
carrying amounts of approximately RMB3,035,000
(2019: RMB1,535,000),
that are assessed individually. The Group performed

which are credit-impaired,

impairment assessment for the trade receivables
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a
provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss
experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the
loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different
customer bases.

The following table provides information about the
Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables
which are assessed collectively based on provisional
matrix except for those who are assessed individually
or credit-impaired:

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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6.

&mIA (H\)

(b)

SREARERE B HREE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. &«MTAH (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) SREAREEZBENREE
policies (continued) (&)
Credlit risk and impairment assessment (continued) EER R FEE (&)

Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss amounts allowance
FHIBGIR MR #2 -Fi b
RMB$’000 RMB$’000
AR®TRE AR®TT

As at 31 December 2020 R-E-Z&+-H=+—H

1 to 30 days 1230K 1.44% 9,665 91
31 to 60 days 31 260K - - -
61 to 90 days 61290k 1.75% 9,155 105
91 to 180 days 91 =180k 1.94% 9,027 115
Over 180 days 180 KA E 3.11% 3,146 99
30,993 410

Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss amounts allowance

BHER L ERRERE
RMB$'000  RMBS$’000
AREBTT ARETE

As at 31 December 2019 R-_Z—hF+-A=+—H

1 to 30 days 1230k 1.11% 37,758 420
31 to 60 days 31£60K 1.11% 10,637 118
61 to 90 days 61£E90K 1.38% 1,381 19
91 to 180 days 91E180K 2.59% 502 13
Over 180 days 180K L 18.93% 10,825 3,642

61,103 4,212
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed
by management to ensure relevant information
about specific debtors is updated. During the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
recognised impairment amounts of approximately
RMB2,654,000, RMB5,390,000 and RMB18,892,000
(2019: RMB7,764,000, RMB5,442,000 and
RMB54,776,000) for trade receivables. other
receivables and loan receivables respectively.

The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised under the simplified
approach:

6.

&mIA (H\)

(b)

EREREE B REE
(%)

EEmE KR ER I ()

BAEERTEREBEAR

FEHFHNBEERAMERN
BHRGE - WHBAMNHE
EK AL )T ] B A Al
EHEERAE - TEETH
W ZESE UEEREE
BAHEBEREEEH -
RBEE_Z2_ZTF+-_A=
+—RILFE  A&EEEH
B E ZEWFRIE - HibfE
WHENERERERS R
K EANREE2 654,0007C
AR5 390,000 % AR
#18,892,000T (=& — AN
F: AREET 764,0007T © A
RIS 442 000T R AR
54,776,0007T) AIRE °

TRETRBOEERNEH
BHMEEBRE

Lifetime
ECL

(not credit-
impaired)
2HHHY
BEEBR

Lifetime
ECL
(credit-
impaired)
2HRH
EHEBR

(FERRE) (EREE)

RMB’000
AR®TT

4,212

RMB’000
AR®WTT

4,862

5,652

Total

#at
RMB’000
AR®TE
4,862

7,764

As at 1 January 2019 A—E—-NF—HA—H

Impairment loss B (BE), /R EEE
(reversed)/recognised

As at 31 December 2019 HK=-Z—HAF+-_HA=+—8H

and as at 1 January 2020

Impairment loss recognised &R E &2
Disposal of subsidiary e Y E A T
Exchange realignment FE H 2 =X

As at 31 December 2020

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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ERZFE=ZTF—H—H

R_ZF_FTF+_-_A=1—~H

4,212

1,154
(4,952)

(4)

8,414

1,500
(6,879)

12,626

2,654
(11,831)

4

410

3,035

3,445




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (continued)
The following table show reconciliation of loss

allowance of loan receivables under general
approach is as follow:

As at 1 January 2019 RZZE-n&F—A—H

Impairment loss recognised EHAREESR

As at 31 December 2019 R-Z-NF+_A=+—H
and as at 1 January 2020 ERZE_TF—H—H

Impairment loss recognised ERERRESR

Exchange realignment b 5, B

As at 31 December 2020 R-_Z-_ZF+-_A=+—H

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based
on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

&I A (&)
(b) EEEAREEREZBHRBE
(%)

1FEmER R E G ()

TRERZE —ROAER R B

ERRBEREELYE
Lifetime ECL
(credit-
12m ECL impaired) Total
2HRY
12{8F A8 BEEER
EEBER (EERE) et
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AEBTRE AR%TRE AR%Tx
- 17,720 17,720
11,977 42,799 54,776
11,977 60,519 72,496
18,892 - 18,892
109 550 (659)
30,978 61,069 92,047
BB /A

REERDESRRME @ A
SEERMMEREEERRRE
MBNAEEEE RS MR
EFEYKF - REREERE
MERPOTE -

TRHAVAREE ZEITES R
BEZHRTEMIMA - TX
REAEEEFELNRZER
BHMZzEemMBBERBRRADR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

228

Financial risk management objectives and

policies (continued)

Liquidlity risk (continued)

As at 31 December 2020

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Lease ligbilties

Bank and other borrowings
Promissory notes

As at 31 December 2019

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Lease liabilities

Bank and other borrowings
Promissory notes

 Juk k- 22
+ZRZt+-8
BAEME
EHERARESER
HEaf
BAREES
e

AZ3-0E

+ZR=t+-8
BARfE
AEAERETER
HEak
SAREMES
HASE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate
mEEY
RRiE

%

%

3.36
3.25
1417

2.59
50

&mIA (H\)

(b) TEEAMEEZBHREE

(&)

REELEE (&)

More than

On demand 1 year Total

or less than but less than  undiscounted
3 months Within 5 years cash flows Carrying
BEXE 1 year BR1E RER amounts
HRIEA 15k o5 HEREHEE ]
RMB' 000 RMB' 000 RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT AREBTT ARETT
30,200 - - 30,200 30,200
37,665 - - 37,665 37,665
- 2,875 474 3,349 3,281
- 3417 - 3417 3,367
- - 382,166 382,166 334,787
67,865 6,352 382,640 456,857 409,250
71,451 - - 71,451 71,451
12,569 = = 12,569 12,569
- 2,736 5% 3,331 3,280
= 27,859 = 27,859 26,952
= 46,570 295,650 342,126 335,642
84,020 77,165 296,151 457,336 449,894




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

()

Fair values measurements of financial
instruments

The following table presents financial liabilities
measured at fair value in the statement of financial
position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
The hierarchy groups financial liabilities into three
levels based on the relative reliability of significant
inputs used in measuring the fair value of these
financial liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the
following levels:

- Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets and liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date;

- Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable
for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices);
and

- Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that

are not based on observable market data

(unobservable inputs).

The level in fair value hierarchy within which the
financial liability is categorised in its entirety is based
on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE—

e rmn e R = e Bl IlEE T

6. ®MTA (&)

()

ERMIREZATEFGE

TREFNREBERAFERE R
BHRARANRAFEFEZ S
BEE ZELABEIEZE
PRBEATEMERZEE
BABE ZBEAEN - #e
BmedEEsA=EARA - AF
EERZHERET

- — & HEBRNFER
Hﬂﬁ'ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ)&ﬁﬁ%
BT L ER 2 RIE
(REHAE) :

- FH:HREEXERE
B#Z (ARER) REE
(MEERTH) TEER
ZEABE (TEEE—
BABEZHE) &

- E=H:EBEXBEY
FEE RN AT B R 5 IR
ZEASE (TR BEE
AEHE) -

HeRMBEZERIIMEBR
FEEBR AR TIERHRF
EFf EBEANZ & ERHE8A
g -
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE-2-TF+-A=t+—ALLFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

()

230

Fair values measurements of financial

instruments (continued)

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the financial
assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the

consolidated statement of financial position are

grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

Financial assets at
31 December 2020
Financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial assets at
31 December 2019
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at
31 December 2019
Contingent consideration

payable

RZBZBF+ZA
Et—HzemRE

BOFEFABRZ
TREE

R-B-N¥+ZAR
Et—RzemRE
BRHE AR
ZEREBE

R-E—-hE+ZA
=t+—HZz&MAR
FERF SRR E

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

6. &MIH (&)

(c) &BMIAEZAFEFE (H)
RZBEZZEER T —NEFT
—A=1+—8B  REEUBIK
NEAREAFEFEZEHE
ERAERAFEERZHHE
M

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—k b E=8 #at
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR
385 184 - 569

536 475 - 1,011

- - 39,068 39,068
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RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 6. #MTIR(&|)

(c) Fair values measurements of financial (c) &MIBAZAFEE (H&)

instruments (continued)

Relationship of
significant
unobservable
Valuation Significant inputs
Financial Fair value techniques unobservable and fair value
assets/liabilities Fair value as at hierarchy  and key inputs ~inputs measurement
IEFTHR
{kERER EXTURR BABRRLTE
SURE /AR RUTEEZAFE ATERR IEBARE BANE HEZRBRE
2020 2019
ot Ju J: “2NE
Listed equity securities Listed equity securities of Listed equity securities of Level 1 Quoted bid prices ~ N/A N/A
at FVTPL Ellipsiz Communications Ltd. Elipsiz Communications Ltd. in an active
- communications services - communications services market
and solutions - RMB385,000 and solutions - RMB536,000
RATEIAERY Elipsiz Communications Ltd. ~ Ellipsiz Communications Ltd. £ ERURME Byl TR
IRl s: L EiRARS L FHRAES ZENE
- BHRBREATE - - EARBREAAE -
ABRH385,00070 ARH536,0007
Derivative financial assets ~ Assets RMB184,000 Assets RMBA475,000 Level 2 Binomial option N/A N/A
pricing model
fTEeREE BEARB1840007T BEARH475,0007C 28 CEimE AER TER
EERR
Contingent consideration il Liabilities RMB39,068,000 Level 3 Binomial option Expected The higher the
payable pricing model volatility of Nil discount rate,
(2019: 12%) the lower the
consideration and
vice versa.
ERZARE ES &EAR%39,068,0007 2= EAME RHRER TREEE KB
EEER (CE-nE: - Rk o
12%)
There were no transfers between Level 1 and 2 REA » F—REE—H2H
during the year (2019: Nil). WHEBELEER (ZE—1F :
') o
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—RHILEE

7. REVENUE

An analysis of revenue is as follows:

Continuing operations SIEREER

Revenue from contracts with customers & B 75 R & 42 81| 55 1557 &6 &
within the scope of HKFRS 15, AZBEAHWA ZEE

disaggregated by major products or EmR%EE D)

services lines:

Revenue from sales of eCommerce HEETTFEB WA
Revenue from provision of internet REREE BB E RS
education services ZUWA

Revenue from other sources outside BB IEHREERZE 1555
the scope of HKFRS 15: &0 [E S0 EAtn SORUA -

Revenue from money lending business K B &% 2 WA

Note: Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point in
time and revenue from provision of internet education
services is recognised over time.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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KA
WAR DT
2019
—E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARETTT
(Represented)
(Fe=351))
243,664 241,680
24,623 28,962
268,287 270,642
16,921 16,218
285,208 286,860

Hiat - HEE R WA [ B R R 2R
B he R B B A2 A AR TS A WA BB R
RIHERS TERR o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENTS

HKFRS 8 “Operating segments” requires operating
segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker (the
executive directors) (“CODM”) in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performance.

The Group’s operating activities are attributable to three
operating segments focusing on: i) money lending; ii)
eCommerce; and iii) internet education services. These
operating segments have been identified on the basis of
internal management reports prepared in accordance with
accounting policies which conform to HKFRSs, that are
regularly reviewed by the CODM.

On 27 May 2020, the manufacture and sale of paper
converting equipment and other related equipment
segment was disposed.

On 12 April 2019, the manufacture and sale of advanced
steel flow control products segment was disposed.

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and
results by reportable and operating segments:

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

EESE

FEEMBHREERESHR LD
BB - R E D RV AN
SEENEBZABZH®DBIER
HE  ZFEAHB2HmA BT EH A
B2BERR %(iﬂﬁ%%)ﬁi%
LERRE]ER  NEBZHEHE
TERD BN KRBEFE -

AEBZEEFHBEN=[LEEH
B BER )RE NETE
K BEBRERE RS - 2EKED
BHOERFER AP B REER 2
B REAGER 2 A E R REM
A WHEEZEEERKETEHR
& e

F_ZEFRAA-tTLH - EBH
Ly Ko BH AR OR N TRk s J EiAtb

ko

o IR 3
%ﬂflw

%
&5

ZE-NFHOA+=H BHE
098 K S 6 = i al KA R EE R 0 B o

‘x‘F’"%

BA2 RED %B%U%‘E’U$%@
H&U\&%iﬁ DATEAT
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TE+-_A=+—HULEE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. BERE(W\)
Segment revenue and results DEBBAREE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_ZTZ_ZEZF+__A=+—HL
FE

Continuing operations

RREERY

Internet
Money education

lending  eCommerce services  Consolidated
ER@
41 BTEH HERS

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR

Revenue WA 16,921 243,664 24,623 285,208
Gross profit E7l 14,778 31,907 19,772 66,457
Segment profit HEbail 5,975 3,680 14,693 24,348
Unallocated corporate income I /NI N 6,213
Unallocated corporate expenses AARARAY (133,642)
Loss before taxation BBRIER (103,081)

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR ERAR

OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Segment revenue and results (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

Continuing operations

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

EESE (]|

RPN R K 4E ()

BE_ZT-NAF+-A=1+—Hit

FE

SRR

Internet

Money education
lending eCommerce services  Consolidated

B
& BFEH HERG e
RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT
(Represented)
(B=71)
Revenue WA 16,218 241,680 28,962 286,860
Gross profit EH 14,098 30,688 28,721 73,507
Segment (loss)/profit A (B518) /5 (35,524) 3,158 24,140 (8,226)
Unallocated corporate income RARATRA 932
Unallocated corporate expenses N NG [T (130,402)
Loss before taxation BREiAEE (137,696)
Segment (loss)/profit represents the (loss)/profit incurred DB (BER),/ HEAESDBELEN

by each segment include depreciation, amortisation and
impairment, but without allocation of certain administration
costs and other income. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.

(E18), &5 (BEFE - BEIR
B) BEXESRETITRRARE
A o T B IR 2 B e R ¥
fEmmEELERRERESNITE
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TE+-_A=+—HULEE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. BERE(W\)
Segment assets and liabilities PHEERERE
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE_ZTZ_ZEZF+__A=+—HL
F£E

Continuing operations

RREERY

Internet

Money education
lending  eCommerce services  Consolidated
ERA
i (- L g L BEEH #e

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARRTRT  ARBTR ARBTR ARRTR

ASSETS BE

Segment assets DEE 227,559 72,929 64,918 365,406
Unallocated corporate assets AARAREE 371,535
Consolidated total assets BREERE 736,941
LIABILITIES i

Segment liabilities NHEE 19,529 41,386 6,950 67,865
Unallocated corporate liabilties AOERAAR 357,092
Consolidated total liabilities SREERS 424,957

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8. BER®(W\)
Segment assets and liabilities (continued) ITHBEERARE (H)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 (continued) BE_ZTZ_ZEZF+_-_A=+—HL
FE (&)

Continuing operations

RREERY

Internet

Money education
lending  eCommerce services Unallocated  Consolidated

ER#R
H& LELL HERHE xR &8
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARRTT  ARWTRE  ARMTR  ARRTR  ARRTR

Other segment information Ao HEH
Amounts included in the measure HESEET

of segment profit or loss or AP HBEERET AR

segment assets: 28
Addition to property, plant and PENE  HER

equipment B - 2,296 - - 2,296
Addition to right-of-use assets REEREAE - 984 - 3,688 4,672
Depreciation of property, plant VER B

and equipment e 173 978 2 785 1,964
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FRIEAEINE 2,024 363 - 1,818 4,205
Interest income KA (409) - (207) (197) (813)
Interest expense MERR 43 42 - 19,496 19,581
Income tax expense/(credit) FiRREY /() - 854 3,675 (6,176) (1,647)
Impairment loss recognised/(reversed) 5% ZEUFIER

in respect of trade and ERERER /(%E)

loan receivables WAEEE 18,892 (455) 1,623 - 20,060
Impairment loss recognised LA EKGUERR

in respect of other receivables ighicy = 58 5,148 184 = 5,390
Impairment loss recognised HEERANAEER

in respect of goodwil - 92,523 - - 92,523
Amortisation of intangiole assets EREERH - - 25,499 - 25,499
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities

For the year ended 31 December 2019

ASSETS
Segment assets

Unallocated corporate assets
Assets relating to discontinued operation

Consolidated total assets

LIABILITIES
Segment liabilities

Unallocated corporate liabilities
Liabilities relating to discontinued operation

Consolidated total liabilities

238 | mpempRERA

BE
NHEE

APRRTBE
BAEERIARRH AR

APRLAAAE
RUCRIBERTC AR

FRakeR
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8. WEHE(WE)

THEERER

BE-E-NFT-A=t-ALER

Continuing operations

REOEEK

Internet

Money education
lending eCommerce services Consolidated

EBA
HE ETEB BERHE A
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTTR
239,990 95,888 53,904 389,782
485,309
42,642
917,733
2,135 57,683 6,962 66,780
400,834
49,935
517,549



8.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019 (continued)

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

8. EEHM(E)
THEEREE (K)

BE_Z-NE+_A=T-ALFE ()

Continuing operations

BRIEEHE
Internet
Money education
lending  eCommerce services  Unallocated  Consolidated
B
& ETEE HERE v e
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT  AREBTT ARETT ARETT ARETR
Other segment information Rt p s
Amounts included in the measure SESPRIREE
of segment profit or loss or KD HEER AL
segment assets: Ex il
Addition to property, plant and RENE  BER
equipment & - 1,866 9 - 1,875
Addition to right-of-use assets RERAEEE 3,620 459 - - 4,079
Depreciation of property, plant EN UG
and equipment e 165 699 42 1,240 2,146
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEENE 1,023 172 - 1,673 2,868
Interest income FEWA (10) - (30) (932) (972)
Interest expense MERR 37 4 - 15,767 15,808
Income tax expense/(credit) FEfRT/(E%) - 730 6,038 (6,176) 592
Impairment loss recognised HEHEWTIER
in respect of trade and FEWE RN
loan receivables REEE 39,293 632 1,714 - 41,639
Impairment loss recognised At YRR
in respect of other receivables MRESE 3,372 1,823 247 - 5,442
Impairment loss recognised REBRRORESE
in respect of goodwill - 61,225 - - 61,225
Amortisation of intangible assets B EERY - - 24,702 - 24,702
For the purposes of resource allocation and performance AED B ANERD ERRBFEME -
assessment between segments:
All assets are allocated to reportable segments, other B%E‘MEW%EEF\ﬁ“%%xﬁ%&é&{ﬁ\ﬁ
than partial right-of-use assets, partial property, plant and 2 EVEE BATEIENEREE 3§
equipment, goodwill, intangible asset, financial assets Hi TR « e REMFE BE%‘J?E T_
at fair value, partial other receivables, deposits and A R EB A IRAT ﬁ?&fﬁéﬁl\'ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁi’]

prepayment, restricted bank deposits and partial bank

balance and cash.

EAREDNH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-_ZBF+-A=+—HItEE

8.

240

OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED) 8.

Segment assets and liabilities (continued)

All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments, other

than promissory note, partial other payables and accruals,
lease liabilities, tax liabilities, partial bank and other

borrowings and deferred tax liabilities.

Information about geographical areas

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s
revenue from continuing operations by geographical

market:

The People’s Republic of China
(the “PRC”) (country of domicile)

Europe

Asia (other than the PRC and
Hong Kong)

North America

Hong Kong

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

hEARLME ([HE])
(REER)

Wl

DN (TEREFEEREE)

=M
)

EESE (]|
THEEREE (K)

BRAARE - B0 EMEMFEAR
EEtER  HERE  HEAE -
BB ERIT R E A B E U FELE IR
BEN FTEREASEEARE

53 -

HEEH
TREHAREZLEDTHE S0
RSB -

For the year ended
31 December

BE+-A=t+—HIL*FE

2020 2019
- —TNF

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARETTT
(Represented)

(F &%)

27,259 29,058
218,423 211,812
10,442 890
1,960 3,625
27,124 41,475
285,208 286,360




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR ERAR

8. OPERATING SEGMENTS (CONTINUED)

Non-current assets

Continuing operations BEREXES
Hong Kong B
PRC R

The non-current asset information above is based on the
location of assets excluding the financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss.

Information about major customers
No individual customer contributed more than 10% of the

Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

8. W®WESE(WE)

FRBEE

As at 31 December

®»+=-BA=+—H
2020 2019
—E_mE —T—NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARBFIT
221,369 277,394
135,405 195,555
356,774 472,949

UEFRBEEERTIREBEEE (T
BREAFEFABRENEREE)

I EME °

IREFEHR

BE T _ZFEN_FT—NF+=
A=+—BHLFE  BMEREANEPL
AAREEERBIBE10% 2 A -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—RHILEE

9. OTHER GAINS OR LOSS, NET

Continuing operations

Interest income on bank deposit

Government grant

Sundry income

Fair value gain/(loss) on contingent
consideration

Fair value loss on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Fair value gains on extension of
promissory notes

During the current year, the Group recognised government

grants of RMB898,000 in respect of

subsidies, of which RMB898,000 relates to Employment
Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong government.

10.

Continuing operations
Trade and loan receivables
Other receivables

Goodwill

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

262 mpempaRERA N

IMPAIRMENT LOSS, NET OF REVERSAL

9. HtRBEGRPHE

2020 2019
bt o -3 3 —T—NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARBTIT
(Represented)
(g&&E7)
BIEREEE
RITIF A F B A 813 972
ER I #3 B) 898 =
HIFUA 2,076 1,059
SAREBHRTE
Was /(E18) 2,834 (7,116)
BRAFEFABZZEREE
Z A EEE (404) (987)
ERAHEBRN T AN
35,521 =
41,738 (6,072)

RAFE
Covid-19-related

» ANEBFLCovid-1948 7
& BN RE R IR T B A R 898,000
gL+ H AR®898,000 T8 M E B
B R e [RBEZE 5T 8] -

10. REGR » MERED

2020 2019
—E_EHF —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT AREFIT
(Represented)
(&=7)

BEEEES
B S I IE & R E R 20,060 41,639
H & U SR IE 5,390 5,442
(&R 92,523 61,225
117,973 108,306




11.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e B HRRHE

FINANCE COSTS

Continuing operations
Interest charge on lease liabilities
Interest charge on promissory notes
Interest charge on bank and

other borrowings

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

11. BERE
2020 2019
—E_EF —T—hF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT AREFIT
BEEEES

MEEEEZ A 140 70
AR BB T A 19,229 15,606

MERTT R EMEES M
A B 212 132
19,581 15,808

Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-_ZBF+-A=+—HItEE

12. LOSS BEFORE TAXATION

244

Continuing operations

Loss before taxation has been arrived
at after charging/(crediting):

Auditor’s remuneration
Impairment loss

recognised in respect of trade and

loan receivables

Impairment loss recognised in
respect of other receivables
Impairment loss recognised in

respect of goodwill

Amortisation of intangible assets
Cost of inventories recognised as

an expense

Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Short-term lease payment
Net exchange loss/(gain)

Share-based payment expenses
Staff costs (including directors’

emoluments)

— Salaries and other benefits
— Retirement benefit scheme

contributions

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

12. BRRAIEGE

FREERE
BB B R HIRR  (GEA)
THIEBRER :

Z e =
8 2 B UGKIA R
P& Wi 5 R e R Rk (L 1R

FhEL A FE U IR FERR Y
HEEE
SR B ERNREER

BB EEH
BRBAXZFERA

ME - BERRETE

EREEENE
FEEEE R

X EE (k) B8
CARS AR 7 EE 5 3R X2
BIRA (BRESEHE)

— ¥ REMEN
— RRE A BIHK

2020 2019
ot Jot 3 —E-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARETTT

(Represented)

(78 &%)

792 793
20,060 41,639
5,390 5,442
92,523 61,225
25,499 24,702
211,757 210,992

1,964 2,146

4,205 2,868

385 1,309

1,869 (161)

- 5,956
20,504 19,694
974 909
21,478 20,6083




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

Continuing operations BEBEXES
Current tax: BNEARRIE :
Hong Kong BB
PRC Enterprise Income Tax B TS
Deferred tax: BRI :

- Current year - REFE

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill”") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018
and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%,
and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The
profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat
rate of 16.5%.

Provision for the PRC Enterprise Income Tax was made
based on the estimated taxable profits calculated in
accordance with the relevant income tax laws and
regulations applicable to the Company’s PRC subsidiaries.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

13. IR (EBR) BAX

2020 2019
Sl ==

RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARBTTT
(Represented)

(F&=5))

854 730

3,675 6,038
4,529 6,768
(6,176) (6,176)
(1,647) 592

RZZE—NEFE=A=-1+—8 ' &F
MESBRB T —EFRB (BF])
(B75) EPIER ([1EHIESR]) -
Sl A ARSI F 1S8R GE o &G
BERR_ZE-N\F=ZA=+N\B%
EXBEEZTREZEFEER -
BREMAGHFINESHRESNE &8
WEBEEE ZEH2,000,000/% T
F5128.25% 2 B R B - MR
2,000,000 7T 2 & M A1 16.5% 2
R - TS MRS FEHE
FIEERZEEER 2 i BES
1#216.5% 2 B — T EKHH -

B R TS BB TR IR 5 e
AR A (58 AR AN R B B B
RAZBEABIERERE) 1E
ILI——ll o

RECPBEERAETE) ([HRE
FEBUA]) REEMERAE R G
5l - P EIKE AR E K25%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

13. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 13. FRRRMAX (&)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused RBEBAR  AEEHERDAT
tax losses of RMB46,042,000 (2019: RMB73,070,000) HEEBARMA46,042,000T (=ZF
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax —NF : AR¥73,070,0007T) & 7]
asset has been recognised in respect of such unused tax A% ENFTHEE o AR EETER
losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. B&aAR MU ERZEARSA

BEBREARTERAEE

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss FABEHRGFEERRAME
before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit or HEamsk 2 BRI AIE LR T ¢

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
—t e £3 —ETNF

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT AREET T
(Represented)
(&&E7))
Continuing operation BEBEXES
Loss before taxation BRA% RIS 1R (103,082) (137,696)
Notional tax at the applicable tax rate R ABRATIE FLEE =
to losses in the tax jurisdictions EEREATEETA
concerned HEHIE (15,851) (15,242)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ~ NAIHIFI G2 2 T 7S 5o 28
for tax purpose 22,949 17,851
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBTBAZ HBZE
tax purpose (2,137) (7,535)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RIERFIBEE 2 RIS £ (432) 11,694
Deferred tax upon revaluation of assets &E &= ¥ {H{E%E < IEEFIA (6,176) (6,176)
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FRFTEH (KR ), Bk (1,647) 592

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

14. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 14. EERFETRARBZEHE
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors ENHENTEESREZTHA
and the Chief Executive, were as follows: BEZMem T :

Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme  Share-based

Fees  allowances contributions payments
EhiEFIEtE HUEkHE
fig HERRH = BRAR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AE®TRT  ARWTR  AEWTR  AE®TR  AE®TR

For the year ended BE_2°ZE+CA
31 December 2020: =+—-HLEE:
Executive directors: HIES
Zhu Min R 320 - - - 320
Chen Huabei 1817 160 - - - 160
Lu Yongchao RIKil 267 - - - 267
Yip Sum Yu (Note 7) 58 (Wiz1) 252 - - - 252
Sin Kwok Wai Ronald (Note 7} EELRL (A1) - 100 3 - 103
Chief Executive: FEHAR
Wang Matthew Yang 5 - - - - -
Non-executive director: FHES:
Chow Chi Wa (Note 2) REE (22 89 - - - 89

Independent non-executive BUIHTES

directors:

Li Yik Sang YN 107 - - - 107

Tong Yiu On ERZ 107 - - - 107

Cao Ke En 107 - - - 107
1,409 100 3 - 1,512

Notes: BiaE -

1. Ms. Yip Sum Yu was re-designed as executive director 1. RIZTZTF=A+=R0 " E®m
and Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald has resigned as executive ZETFAENTES - REBEREE
director and has appointed as chief financial officer on 13 ERERNTESWEEZERNE
March 2020. BEL o

2. Resigned on 31 May 2020. 2. NRIZETFRA=1+—HEfFE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

14. DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended BE"Z-hE+2R
31 December 2019 =t—-HLEE:
Executive directors: HIES
Zhu Min A
Chen Huabei (Note 1) Bt (fis1)
Lu Yongchao Bk
Yip Sum Yu (Note 3) 58 (i2s)
Xu Yejun (Note 2) REE (it2)
Sin Kwok Wai Ronald (Note 3] EERRL (47523)
Chief Executive: FEIHAE
Wang Matthew Yang 15
Non-executive director: FRTES
Chow Chi Wa A5
Yip Sum Yu (Note 3) Eim(H23)
Independent non-executive BUFNTES:
directors:
Li ik Sang 3L
Tong Yiu On BRZ
Cao Ke £l
Notes:

1. Appointed on 11 June 2019.

2. Resigned on 10 October 2019.

3. Ms. Yip Sum Yu was re-designed as executive director
and Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald has resigned as executive
director and has appointed as chief financial officer on 13

March 2020.

The performance related bonus is determined by the

performance of individuals.

None of the directors waived or agreed to waive any

emoluments for both years.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

14, EEREIETHRARZEHE
(#)
Retirement
benefit
Salaries and scheme  Share-based
Fees allowances  contributions payments Total
RINEFIEE AR B
we  HERkEH f% R @t
RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARETL  ARETR  ARETL  ARETR  ARETR
317 - - - 317
88 = = = 88
264 - - - 264
26 - - - 26
- 885 16 - 901
212 - - - 212
351 - - - 351
106 - - - 106
106 - - - 106
106 - - - 106
1,576 885 16 - 2,477
Htat

1. RZE-NAFAA+ BEZEE-
2. REZE-NAFETATHEBHE-

3. W-E-ZTE=FA+=0 BB
LEFERTES - REBERELE
ERERTESTIEEZER/NE
HES -

i RIARE 2 EAL IR IZEARE

=21

MEFE  HMEEEREXRF
RWEREAME -

3

=

):EO
7
X

¢l



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

15. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, one (2019: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note
14 above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2019:
two) individuals were as follows:

¥ KRRk
BRI ETEI R

Salaries and allowances
Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

15. AEEREHMER

EXAEEREREFALESR @ —
FZ(ZE-NF =R)RERAZ
B HB2ER LXMW 1498
B THB(ZZE—NF : WA)
ALTZMENT

2020 2019

ol ek 2 3 —E-NF
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARBETT
3,408 2,320

51 32

3,459 2,352

REZHMENFATHEZA :

2020 2019
et 23 —ENF

Number of Number of

employee employee

PN BB AR

Nil to RMB1,000,000 =% ARK%1,000,0007T 2 -
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 AR #¥1,000,001 &

AR#1,500,0007T 2 2

There was no compensation paid during the financial
year or receivable by directors or any employees for
loss of office as a director of any member of the Group.
No payment was made by the Group or receivable
by directors or any employees for both years as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Company.

RAFBFEARE AR ES
EREMRERREARBE EMK
B XA A E =B 1 8 U ) ( f) 4
& -REMEFE AREMEX
N EE R EMIESEYEME
ARRHMBRRBREES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE

15.

16.

17.

250

—E_EF+_A=+—HItFE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES
(CONTINUED)

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any subsidiaries of the Company was a party and in which
a director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.

DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid or proposed by the Company during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, nor has
any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting
period.

LOSS PER SHARE
For continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss figures are calculated as follows:

Loss for the year attributable to
the owners of the Company FEEE

Add: hn

Profit for the year from
discontinued operations

FZ s A

Loss for the purpose of basic and

diluted loss per share from ERERNREEEE
continuing operations ms 2BE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

ZANCIE ¥ PN =P

KEERIEKERBTZ

AREFELEEEZ

15. AREEHMHER (&)

16.

17.

RERKFRAEMEHEARFRA
REAEFRMMEARBEFEEARE
BEBBENEARS THEA
B MEFEEXEENRETRER
BEARES ©

B2

ARR Y BN EIZRRTEES
FTEFR-_FT-NAET_A=T
—ALFEZKRE EE®WMEHR
TR IR M ERAE -
BREBR

FRRERK

ARBFEAANEEBRERREE
BRI RIBIA T 8IRETE

BT ZAENT

2020 2019

- Je- 3. 3 —E-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AER®Tx ARET T
(76,227) (98,403)
(24,051) (33,245)
(100,278) (131,648)




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

17. LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 17. BERER (8)
For continuing operations (continued) BELSEER (&)
Number of Number of
CHETCE shares
Bir8H SnEZ4=
2020 2019
ol Jol- <33 ZE-NEF
000 "000
T B Tix
Number of shares B & E
Weighted average number of ordinary — St ERXEA 7 #5%
shares for the purpose of basic EEm 5 2 SR
and diluted loss per share DRE 8 3,975,448 3,975,448
The calculation of diluted loss per share for each of the HEHRE—_ZE-_ZEER_-_ZE—NE
two years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 had not T A=+ —BLEMEFESFZ
taken into consideration the assumed exercised of the FREBSERBITES ABRRITFER
Company’s outstanding share options as it would reduce RAIMATEZERE EEgE
the loss per share. HERBERD -
From continuing and discontinued operations REFELSERCRIELEEK
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share AKRANBIEEANELHREFELS
from continuing and discontinued operations attributable BRI E RS R 7 TR E AR NS
to the owners of the Company is based on the following B TIRIE A N ESIETE
data:
2020 2019
ot Jod £ 3 —E-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT AREET T
Loss B8
Loss for the purpose of basic and MERERNREEEE
diluted loss per share mE < &8 (76,227) (98,403)
The denominators used are the same as those detailed FRRANEEEXHERERREE
above for both basic and diluted loss per share. BB LERR e
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-_ZBF+-A=+—HItEE

17.

252

LOSS PER SHARE (CONTINUED)
From discontinued operations

Basic and diluted earnings per share for the discontinued
operation are RMBO0.60 cents per share (2019: earning
RMBO0.83 cents per share), based on the profit for the year
from discontinued operations of RMB24,051,000 (2019:
profit RMB33,245,000) and the denominators detailed
above for both basic and diluted loss per share.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

17. BREE ()
RETRIEE %K

ERIEEEEB cERERNREE
BN EFBRARKE0.60D (ZF—
NE : SRBFARE0.835) * Tb
BEREERIELEXEB 2 FE R
FIARB24,051,000 L (=ZZF— R
F EFI AR#¥33,245,0007T) &
X ERERARBE BB
ZOBEEE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BEREH
Furniture Plant,
and fixtures ~ machinery
and office and Motor
Buildings  equipment  equipment vehicles Total
RERKER BE BER
BF BOERME R RE #it

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETL  ARBTL ARETL ARETR  ARETR

Cost: BE .
As at 1 January 2019 W=Z-h&—HA—H 37,442 4,146 968 830 43,386
Additions RE - 1875 = - 1,875
Exchange realignment R A% 185 383 - 63 631
As at 31 December 2019 and RZIB-1E
1 January 2020 +ZA=+-HR
—2-%%-8-H 37,627 6,404 968 893 45,892
Additions AE - 2,083 - 213 2,296
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HMBAR - (500) (968) (512) (1,980)
Exchange realignment ERTEEE: (613) (479) - (34) (1,126)
As at 31 December 2020 R-BZE%
+ZA=+-H 37,014 7,508 - 560 45,082
Accumulated depreciation and REHERFE
impairment:
As at 1 January 2019 RZE-hE—A—-AH 28,128 1,749 931 669 31,477
Provided for the year FREE 865 1,270 37 124 2,296
Exchange realignment R 30 97 - 62 189
As at 31 December 2019 and RIB-n§
1 January 2020 +ZB=+-HR
ZB-85-A-H 29,023 3,116 968 855 33,962
Provided for the year FRELE 418 1,490 - 56 1,964
Disposal of a subsidiary LE—HIBAR = (500) (968) (512) (1,980)
Exchange realignment EREL (133) (258) - (23) (414)
As at 31 December 2020 R-SZBE
+=A=+-H 29,308 3,848 - 376 33,532
Carrying amounts: IREE :
As at 31 December 2020 RZBZEE
+ZA=+-H 7,706 3,660 - 184 11,550
As at 31 December 2019 RZE-NE
+-A=1-H 8,604 3,288 - 38 11,930
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e M BRRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TE+-_A=+—HULEE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. Y% - BERRE (8)
(CONTINUED)
The above items of property, plant and equipment are i WEERXEEBEERE
depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated BOEREERBEGFTRIREEE N
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated T B F K5 E R H (G5 A5 A F A
residual value, at the following rates per annum: ZIE
Buildings 4.5% — 18% EgF 4.5%—18%
Leasehold improvements ~ 20% or over the lease term, HEMERE 20% sk iz A -
whichever is shorter B E A%
Furniture and fixtures and ~ 18% REREER 18%
office equipment E RN
Plant, machinery and 9% RE -~ s Kk 9%
equipment B
Motor vehicles 18% E 18%
The buildings are situated on land in the PRC held under BFRURPBEAMEEE - W55
medium term leases and in Hong Kong held under long BEPBHANREHROFE -
term leases.
No impairment loss has been recognised during the years REBEE_Z_ZFR_ZT—-NFT
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. ZA=T—HILFE  BERERR
BE1E -
19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 190. EHESE

Prepaid
lease Leasehold

payments buildings

AMHERARE HREF

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AER®TFRE AR®TRT ARWTRT

Carrying amounts: IRmEE :
As at 31 December 2020 R=_ZE-_ZF+_-_A=+—H - 3,508 3,508
As at 31 December 2019 R-_ZT—hFE+-_A=+—8H 198 3,207 3,405

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, additions
to right-of-use assets were RMB4,672,000 (2019:
RMB4,079,000), which related to the capitalised lease
payments payable under new tenancy agreements.

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive
income is as follows:

Depreciation charge of right-of-use

assets by class of underlying asset: FREEENESR !
Prepaid lease payments FEMAERIE
Leasehold buildings HEEF

WIREEERE DN

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

19. EREHE (#\)

REBEE-_ZE-_ZF+=-_A=+—H
IEFE  FEFEAEEEAARE
4,672,000 (ZE—NLF : AR
4,079,0007T) @+ HEFFTHERH
B NHE AL E B ZIBERE -

RBEZEEMEEEETEIENE
MEEZHAXEBE 2T

2020 2019
—2-2F —TNF

Exchange realignment of right-of-use &8 & EERIZ] 5 &1 A #E

assets by class of underlying asset: BEE R FAE
Leasehold buildings MEEF

Prepaid lease payments

The Group’s prepaid lease payments represent leasehold
land in the PRC under medium lease within 50 years.

As at 31 December 2019, certain of the Group’s leasehold
land with net carrying amount of RMB198,000 was
pledged to secure short-term bank borrowings.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, certain of the
Group’s leasehold land has disposed through disposal of
subsidiary.

Leased buildings
The Group leases various leased buildings for its

operation. Leased contract are entered into for fixed term
of more than 1 to 2 years.

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TR ARBFIT

(22) (54)

(4,205) (2,868)

(4,227) (2,922)

(166) 50
FEAEERE

REB BN HEFRELR S
A ERIFS0F A R HBEAORE
ZHEELH -

R=FE—hE+=A=+—8 ' &
SEEERETEREMFEAARE
198,000 LI E L + LAEISREHA
IRITIEE °

REBEE-_ZE-_ZTF+_-_A=+—H
tFE  AEEEBEBEHEHREBER
AIEERTHELH -

HERTF
AEEREXBHESZREHEE

F o HEANZBEEHYBEBIE2
& o
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—RHILEE

20. GOODWILL

Cost:

As at 1 January
Disposal of a subsidiary
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December

Accumulated impairment:
As at 1 January

Disposal of a subsidiary
Impairment

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December

Carrying amounts:
At 31 December

5%
m—A—H
HE—EHBAT
PE SRR

W+—A=+—H

REtisE :
m—HA—8
HE—FRNBAE
IE

b 5 SR

W+=A=+—8

REE :
R+—A=+—H

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units

(“CGUSs”) identified according to business segment (net of

impairment) as follows:

Money lending
eCommerce
Internet education services

256 | mpemprRERA

WIE
ETEH
B E RS

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

20.

Notes

B &

[k

2020 2019

ot ot -3 3 —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥TT ARBTIT
495,912 491,484
(6,542) -
(21,474) 4,428
467,896 495,912
109,993 47,178
(6,542) -
92,523 61,225
(11,011) 1,590
184,963 109,993
282,933 385,919

BEENEEAKRERATERD
BHBNREELENM ([HEeEL

Bz ) (HBREE)

2020 2019
=T —E-NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARET T

69,285 73,708
90,076 188,639
123,572 123,572
282,933 385,919




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Money lending

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired 90% issued share capital of Time
Credit Limited and goodwill of approximately
RMB103,318,000 was recognised upon completion
of the acquisition.

eCommerce

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the
Group acquired the entire issued share capital
of Soaring International Holdings Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Soaring International Group”) and
goodwill of approximately RMB229,740,000 was
recognised upon completion of the acquisition.

Internet education services

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
Group acquired 100% issued share capital of
Cybernaut Technology International Limited and its
subsidiaries and therefore goodwill of approximately
RMB123,572,000 was recognised upon completion
of the acquisition.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

20. m& (&)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

HE

REBEE-_Z—AF+_A=+
—HIEFE  AEERETR
HEEBRARZI0%E 3T
BEAR 3R U B SEAK 1R FE R T
249 A R#103,318,0007T °

EFEH

RBEE-ZZ-—AF+=A
=+—HLEE AEH
UZ B8 T Soaring International
Holdings Limited & E i B A
7] ([Soaring International&
B ) 2 2HE TR - R
WHE T EEREEBOARKE
229,740,0007T °

EBBBE RS

RBE_Z—+tF+-A=
T—BILEFE  AEEKE
T Cybernaut Technology
International Limited K E [} B
ABE]Z100% 2 BT
SRR S SER 12 R B XA
R ¥123,572,0007T °
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

21.

258

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost:
As at 1 January 2019
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2019 and
as at 1 January 2020

Additions
Disposal of a subsidiary
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2020

Accumulated amortisation
and impairment:

As at 1 January 2019

Provided for the year

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2019 and
as at 1 January 2020

Provided for the year
Disposal of a subsidiary
Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2020

Carrying amounts:
As at 31 December 2020

As at 31 December 2019

B

R-ZF-NF—H-H

3Tt

RZB-n%
+ZAZ+-BER

~2-2%-f-H

AE
HE-RRBAR
3

RZB-BE+A
Z+-8

RHEMBREE

R=F-15—A-B

ERERE
i3k

RZE-NEF
+ZA=t+-BEk

~8-2%-f-H

EERE
HE-RNEAR
e

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

21. BUEE

Technology Customer Contract
know-how relationship Platform backlog Total
SRR ERRRE FR  AREEH it
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT AREBTT ARETR ARETE
101,549 10,733 118,593 9,844 240,719
2,095 = - - 2,095
103,644 10,733 118,593 9,844 242,814
- - 12,587 - 12,587
(2,236) (10,733) - - (12,969)
(3,814) - - - (3,814)
97,594 - 131,180 9,844 238,618
101,549 10,733 30,974 1,066 144,322
- - 23,718 984 24,702
2,095 - - - 2,095
103,644 10,733 54,692 2,050 171,119
- - 24,515 984 25,499
(2,236) (10,733) = = (12,969)
(3,814) - - - (3,814)
97,59 - 79,207 3,034 179,835
- - 51,973 6,810 58,783
= = 63,901 7,794 71,695




21.

22,

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

The above intangible assets have finite useful life. Such
intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis
over the following periods:

21.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

BERE (8)

tHEFEEABARNAERF
- ZEENEETIRATHRER
BAREHH -

Technology know-how 3 to 10 years EHE I 3E104F
Customer relationship 10 years EEBIER 104
Platform 5 to 10 years ST 5E104F
Contract backlog 10 years RFEMEL  104F
No impairment loss has been recognised during the years REBEEZZT_TFR_T—NF+
ended 31 December 2020 and 2019. ZA=T-RIEFE - BERERR
BEERE -
IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND 22, H& K% &E 2R EBK
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill and FBREANRME - M5E20 %21 sk
intangible assets set out in Notes 20 and 21 have been BEREFEEE»EZE=(RE
allocated to three CGUs, comprising money lending EXBA - BEREDE ‘*??ﬁ
segment, eCommerce segment and internet education BoEREBBHAE RIEDEL
services segment. The carrying amounts of goodwill Hﬂiuxfﬁﬁuﬁ’\ﬁéﬁ%&ﬁﬁxﬁﬁ(?ﬂ
and intangible assets (net of accumulated impairment) bR 25HRVE) HBREERT
allocated to these units are as follows:
Goodwill Intangible assets
(i} EREE
2020 2019 2020 2019
—Z2F% il —Z_ZF —NEF
RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTRE ARETI ARBTR ARETR
Money lending BIE 69,285 73,708 - -
eCommerce E il 90,076 188,639 - =
Internet education services SHRHE R 123,572 123,572 58,783 71,695
282,933 385,919 58,783 71,695
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BHE

22,

260

—E_EF+_A=+—HItFE

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Money lending

The recoverable amount of the money lending CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation
and based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That
calculation adopted cash flow projections covering a
5-year period (2019: 5-year period), based on financial
budgets approved by the management with discount rate
of 13% (2019: 14%) per annum. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period (2019: 5-year period) are extrapolated with
2% (2019: 3%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales, gross
margin and revenue growth of 5% to 11% (2019: 7% to
18%). Such estimation is based on the money lending
CGU'’s past performance and management’s expectations
of the market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the money lending CGU. Management
believes that any reasonably possible changes in any of
these assumptions would not cause the carrying amount
of the money lending CGU to exceed the recoverable
amount of the money lending CGU. If the discount rate
was changed to 13.1%, while other parameter remain
constant, the recoverable amount of CGU would equal its
carrying amount.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

. B R &R E R ER R
(#)

Bi&

MERCELBU2AIREISED
RIBEEREEFERREBEBLGE
R EERE - Ex%ﬁ'”?ﬁ‘%ﬁﬁﬁﬁf‘
EEEHENMBRIEE RITRE
F18% (ZF—NEF : 14%>E|’J£¢
HfE (ZE2—NF - AFHE) AR
%m%iﬁxﬁﬂ ﬂiﬁﬂfﬁ(_ _7‘1
F: AFHHE) B 2B eRETIRE
% ZT—NF : 3%) IR EE
cEAEEFENEBEERR
BREAEHE  ENERKALE
§5%i11%(f7 NE:THE
18%) EFNMIRERA w2
A AR TDERMERS
EEBEUNBERRIAEEEHT
SERMNTAHEH -

REE-_ZT-_TFR_T-AF+
“A=+t—HLEE AEEERE
EETRERELSEMEER
B - BEEERS  HEMZFER
HIREAAEAEES  HTe8
BHERSEL BN REER
HEAMKE S - WAEREES
13.1% @ MEMBBEFTE - A
ReELBUMAKRESERER
HEREE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)
eCommerce

The recoverable amount of the eCommerce CGU has
been determined based on a value in use calculation
and based on a valuation by an independent valuer. That
calculation adopted cash flow projections covering a
5-year period (2019: 5-year period), based on financial
budgets approved by the management with discount rate
of 19% (2019: 13%) per annum. Cash flows beyond the
5-year period (2019: 5-year period) are extrapolated with
2% (2019: 3%) growth rate. Other key assumptions for
the value in use calculations relate to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows which include budgeted sales,gross
margin and revenue growth of 13% to 14% (2019: 3%
to 16%). Such estimation is based on the unit’s past
performance and management’s expectations of the
market development.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, management
of the Group have consequently determined impairment
of goodwill directly related to the eCommerce CGU
amounting to RMB92,523,000 (2019: RMB61,225,000).
The impairment loss has been included in profit or loss
in impairment loss line item. If the discount rate was
changed to 9.6%, while other parameters remain constant,
the recoverable amount of CGU would equal its carrying
amount.

22,

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

HERERLREZRENR
(#)

E7EH

ETEEREELENZAKES
BERBEREAETERRER L
HEMAEEETE - ZTEERA
ERERBEMENTREE RITR
KEE19% (ZE—NE - 13%) K
REHE (ZE—NF - AFHRA)
NIRSRETER - AFHE (ZF—
NE : AFHE) BB RETIR
Bo2% (ZT—NF : 3%) KIERE
HE SHEEFENHEMEER
REBFEEEHEE EMNEREKA
BREI1IB%E14% (ZF—1F : 3%
£16%) ERAMBRESRA Rz
hat B8 - BREAMET HEREMD
BERAREEEYMISEENTE
HA1S H ©

REBEE_ZT-_ZTF+=-_HA=+—H
HFE AEEEREREBET SR
ErEEReELENEEERZ
BEEREARK92,523,0007t (=
T—NF : AR¥G1,225,0007T) °
BMEBEEABRPHREESE
BH - WER KRB 59.6%  MEAM
DYBEFTE  ARESELEBEUD
e S EEENEERE -
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE—

22,

262

oxmr e = 3= e Bl lEE T

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Internet education services

The recoverable amount of the internet education services
CGU has been determined based on a value in use
calculation and based on a valuation by an independent
valuer.
covering a 5-year period (2019: 5-year period),
on financial budgets approved by the management with
discount rate of 13% (2019:
flows beyond the 5-year period (2019: 5-year period)
are extrapolated with 3% (2019: 3%) growth rate. Other
key assumptions for the value in use calculations relate

That calculation adopted cash flow projections
based

14%) per annum. Cash

to the estimation of cash inflows/outflows which include
budgeted sales, gross margin and revenue growth of 5%
to 25% (2019: 5% to 25%). Such estimation is based on
the internet education services CGU’s past performance
and management’s expectations of the market
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019,
management of the Group determines that there is no
impairment on the internet education services CGU.
Management believes that any reasonably possible
changes in any of these assumptions would not cause the
carrying amount of the internet education services CGU to
exceed the recoverable amount of the internet education
services CGU. If the discount rate was changed to 23.6%,
while other parameters remain constant, the recoverable
amount of internet education services CGU would equal
its carrying amount.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

22,

HERERLREZRENR
(#)

EMRHE R

EMEBERGRASELEM A
WEeREREEXREESR %ﬁ&*ﬁ

BEVAEMNEEEE - X8
TERBEREEBHENMREE

RFREGFI13% (ZT—IF:
14%)NAFEHE (ZFT-—AF A
FHIRM) ARSRETEN - AFEIMH

“E-NF AFEHRRZEAS

METIRE3% (ZF—NF : 3%)
MEBERERHES - EREBEENHE

HhEERIJEAFEZHEE - 5
ERBABRSNZE25% (ZZE— N1
F:5%ZE25%) EFAMBELRA
M Z A o B DER
EMBERERBEREeELABEMLNB
ERELREBEEHT S ERNTELS
(Eha

REE_T_TFER_FT-NFT
_ﬂ:+—EIJJ:¢E CAREER
BEETEMBURERERELE
I ERE - BEERR @ HMEM
ZEBR BB EMA A g &

BT eS8 ERBAHERBREE
ABENEREEBLETKRE S
B oo AL KRB R23.6% @ MHEAD

DEHHTE - MEBRBHERS
ReELEMMAIKROSERER
HIREE



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Equity securities listed in Canada RINER L2 RAFESH

Derivative financial assets TESHEE

Notes:

(a) The above listed equity investments represent common
shares of an entity listed in Canada. The directors of the
Company have elected to designate these investments in
equity instruments as at FVTPL.

(o)  The derivative financial assets represent 2,500,000 units
common share purchase warrant (‘Warrant”) of an entity
listed in Canada. Each Warrant entitles the holder to
acquire an additional common share at CADO.15 per share
in two years from the date of issue.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

23. BAFEFABEZEME

E

2020 2019

ol Jol -1 —E-NE

Notes RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
B 5 AR®FT ARBTIT
a 385 536

b 184 475
569 1,011

Hiat -

() Lk EWMBRAEERE—FENEAXL
MEEMNLTER ARRERER
BEZERNERTAZREEES
BAFERABZIER -

b) ZITEEBEER—MEMERET

EHEM2,500,00017 & i IR R AR
B(IRREF] - BHRREE
TR ARERIR BT B EAE R4
NEZROIS5MITHEREE —
AREESNE AR
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e M BRRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE

24,

264

—E_EF+_A=+—HItFE

INVENTORIES

Raw materials
Work-in-progress
Finished goods

Less: Allowance for inventories

Movement in the allowance for
inventories:

At beginning of the year
Impairment loss recognised
in respect of inventories

Disposal of a subsidiary

At end of the year

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZRERAT

R
R
UK

o FEEE

ERBERD -
RER)

FLIF SRR AVREE 1B
& — R B A A

RER

24. 8
2020 2019
—E-BE —E-hNE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARSTT AREFIT
- 3,664
— 8,070
12,659 9,190
12,659 20,924
= (5,599)
12,659 15,325
2020 2019
=2 —Taf
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARET T
5,599 4,139
869 1,460
(6,468) -
= 5,599




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The credit period granted by the Group to certain
customers is within 180 days (2019: within 180 days),
while payment from other customers are due immediately
when goods are delivered. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance, presented
based on the goods delivery and services rendered date
at the end of the reporting period, which approximated the
respective revenue recognition dates:

0 - 30 days 0230H

31 — 60 days 31260H

61 — 90 days 61290H

91 — 120 days 91£120H

121 — 180 days 121£180H
181 days to within 1 year 181 HE1F AR

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

25. BHBEKRA

AEBERETEFPREZEERR
180 AR (ZE— 14 : 180H A
W)+ EAE P AR R E Al
B e LN ARREHRRESR
R AT IR AR 75 B R (2% B /UL
AR B HRD) 272 8 5 EUK

B (IR B D17
2020 2019
2=l ==
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TT ARBT T

9,574 37,338
- 10,519
9,050 1,362
8,912 44
- 445
3,047 7,183
30,583 56,891
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE—

26.

266

oxmr e = 3= e Bl lEE T

LOAN RECEIVABLES

The Group’s loan receivables arose from the money
lending business during the year.

Loan receivables bear interest at variable and fixed rates,
and with credit periods, mutually agreed between the
contracting parties. Loan receivables are secured by
properties and personal guarantees by the debtors/certain
individuals. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly and
handled closely by senior management.

The loan receivables, net of allowance, at the end of the
reporting period are analysed by the remaining period to
contractual maturity date as follows:

=EAR
—EAE—%

Within 3 months
3 months to 1 year

Over 1 year which contain a repayment — LA F (SHREK

on demand clause BRGSO

The average effective interest rate was at 2% to 13.2%
per year as at 31 December 2020 (2019: 2% to 13.2%).

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of
the reporting period is the carrying amount of the loan
receivables. The Group seeks to maintain tight control
over its loan receivables in order to minimise credit risk by
reviewing the borrowers’ or guarantors’ financial positions.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

26. BT

FR - AEENRKERKRARE
E

RUWERZAZREENRREER
HmATNE T KRB E - BKRER
TIABEBA / EFTENALZHE
RAEAEREER - BEERRTI A
BREEEENELLBHREE -

3R MR 0 R 2K (IS )
WEEA NS ANERBE S
T -

2020 2019
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT AR¥ETTT
19,362 78,937
118,060 42,764
15,028 17,341
152,450 139,042

N-_ZE_ZTF+_F=+—H " F
BHEBREMRE2%E13.2% (==
—NEF : 2%E13.2%) °

RBERRZERNEERRBER
ERZEEE -  AEEEBERE
RAKERANE AR - KB
% %HEFM&ZE e EERE
EERER



27.

28.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENT

Other receivables H fth FE R IE
Deposits b
Prepayment TERTFIE

BANK BALANCES AND CASH/RESTRICTED
BANK DEPOSITS

Restricted bank deposits represents deposits of Nil
(2019: RMBS3,164,000) which have been pledged to
banks to secure bills payables and RMB8,754,000 (2019:
RMB9,141,000) which have been pledged to secure
short-term bank borrowings. The pledged deposits are not
available for use in the Group’s daily operation.

At 31 December 2020, included in the bank balances and
cash and restricted bank deposits was RMB86,409,000
(2019: RMB135,015,000) that was denominated in
HKD and RMB1,000 (2019: RMB236,000) that was
denominated in USD. All the remaining bank balances and
cash are denominated in RMB.

RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC and
the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the
foreign exchange control promulgated imposed by the
government of the PRC.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

27. At RIN - &R
Rf&RIEA

2020 2019
ol Jol -1 —E-NE
RMB(’ 000) RMB(’ 000)
AR®FT ARET T
75,900 54,132
6,639 2,439
5,438 5,371
87,977 61,942

28. SRITRBRES ZRHIE

T&Em

XRHRITFERIIIEEER TRIT
LS ENEENTFRET (2T —
hE : AR¥3,164,0007T) K E
NS EBRITEENARE
8,754,000t (ZZE—NF : AR¥
9,141,0007T) ° BEMF A #
REERBEEBHER o

RZZE_ZTF+=H=+—H ' &
ABRITEB RIS ARZRGIRIT
TR R EEARES6,409,0007T (=
Z—N1F : AR¥135,015,0007T)
TIAS LR E - T AR 1,0007T
(ZZ—NF : AR¥236,0007T) A
AETTEHE - FTBEBR TIRITARK
e UAAREEHE -

ARBETFBYIFERLBRER
KHEELESRTBEBRMEEHR
R SNEE BRI R o
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e M BRRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE

29. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

30.

268

—E_EF+_A=+—HItFE

The following is an aged analysis of trade and bills
payables presented based on the goods receipt date at

the end of the reporting period.

0 - 30 days
31 - 60 days
61 — 90 days

Over 90 days

The credit period granted by the suppliers to the Group is

within 30 days.

The carrying amounts of the trade payables at the end of

0%30H

31Z60H
61290H
90 R LA E

the reporting period are denominated in RMB.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

Other payables

Accrued professional fees
Accrued staff costs
Accrued other expenses
Other tax payables

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZRERAT

HAth JE S 5RIR
EETEXEHN
&5 B TR A
EET E M FE 2
H o e 1 TR

29. RHEFMRAREFRE

NTREZENFIENENEER
BERARRBURRERBHETZ

Bl AT -

2020 2019
—S_BF —TNF
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARETIT
5,539 52,773
3,464 3,248
8,809 1,632
12,388 13,798
30,200 71,451

HERRAKER L ZEER/I0

HA -

R|BEYR - EZRARAZERE

BEAARBE-

30. HftufEftRIARE B

2020 2019

ol Jol- 3 3 —T—NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARBETIT
34,573 10,125
2,307 1,654

266 352

519 171

- 267

37,665 12,569
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RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

31. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 31. AR
2020 2019
k.t 32 —T-NEF
RMB(’ 000) RMB(’ 000)

AR®TT ARBT T

Sales of paper converting equipment  $HEARFRIN T & - 3,995
The Group typically receives in advance before transfer AEB—REBEVERILERFZ
goods to the customers. The Group expects to deliver AWK - REEFERE—FL
the goods to satisfy the remaining obligations of these FRNFEAINEYARBITZS
contract liabilities within one year or less. EHBENFISRE -
The following table shows how much of the revenue TRBER-E_ZTEFR_ZTE—IF
recognised relates to carried-forward contract liabilities T A=+ —BZERRRAHEL
and how much relates to performance obligations that BENBEAREEBITHNELNE
were satisfied as at 31 December 2020 and 2019. BB -
2020 2019
—E_ZF —ETNEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000

AR®TRT ARETTT

Balances as at 1 January R—A—B 2 #& 3,995 2,490
Revenue recognised from performance FRFLE BT ZELIZES

obligations satisfied during the year R 2 WA (9,150) (26,999)
Consideration from sales of paper FRHEERFRINT

converting equipment during the year  Rfg 2 KB 9,542 28,504
Disposal of a subsidiary & —fEH B AR (4,387) =
Balances as at 31 December RTZA=+—RH2Z#&#% - 3,995

Annual Report 2020
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e M BRRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—RHILEE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES 32. HEAR
The exposure of the Group’s lease liabilities are as follows: AEBEBREABEHRRBLT -
2020 2019
—ZTEZF —ET-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARETTT
Current BN R 2,811 2,688
Non-current JEBNEA 470 592
3,281 3,280
2020 —E_Ef
Minimum Present value of
lease payments lease liabilities
BREHERMR HAERFERE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AE%TR ARRTR
Minimum lease payment due: RATREZBHFERER :
— Within one year -—FR 2,875 2,811
— More than one year but not more than — BB —EETRBRE
two years 474 470
3,349 3,281
Future finance charges ARBEER (68)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaERE 3,281

Amounts due for settlement within one year —FREIH X [MEFUE

(shown under current liabilities) (REBEETIIR) (2,811)
Amounts due for settlement after one year  —4{& 2|EAS (M FUE 470

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) 32. HE&AE (&)
2019 —E-NEF
Minimum Present value of
lease payments lease liabilities
BREHASMR HEARAE
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT ARETT
Minimum lease payment due: AT R 2 R S (EAR S5 :
— Within one year -—FR 2,736 2,688
— More than one year but not more than — BB —FE EAME
two years 595 592
3,331 3,280
Future finance charges RRBEER (51)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaBEHRE 3,280

Amounts due for settlement within one year ~ —ERE|E S A

(shown under current liabilities) (RREBETIT) (2,688)
Amounts due for settlement after one year — —F{&F|HIS HH) A 592

Annual Report 2020 271 %
—B-BEEH .



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

32. LEASE LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

2128

As at 31 December 2020, the effective interest rates of
the Group’s lease liabilities ranged from 1.58% to 6.94%

(2019: 1.58% to 2.88%) per annum.

The Group leases office premises for operation and these
lease liabilities were measured at the present value of the
lease payment that are not yet paid. All leases are entered

at fixed prices.

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with
regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored

within the Group’s treasury function.

The total cash outflows for leases including the payments
of lease liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2020
was RMB4,647,000 (2019: RMB2,867,000).

Lease obligations that are denominated in currencies other
than the functional currencies of the relevant group entities

are set out below :

Minimum lease payment due : R TR REEIHNSIERAEN
— Within one year - —FR
— More than one year but not  — #BiE—FETBBMRE

more than two year

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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. HREARKR(HE)

RZE_TF+-_A=+—8 -
AEBEEEENERFRNEN
T1.58%%6.94% (ZF— )\ F :
1.58%%2.88%) °

AEBEREXBHEHERIYE - Rk
ZEMERBERAANNAEEN
RWBEE - MAEEHRETE
{BF&RIAL °

AEEVEAESBAEEAERED
EARBETER HEREBEHAAL
KB EBBAE T -

BHE_Z2-_ZF+_A=+—H1
FEFEAE R RLER (21
HEBENR) RARMK4,647,000
T(ZE—NF : AE®2,867,000
JT) °

NHEEEEER 2GR AN
ERHELHOEEFEIINAT :

HKD RMB

#T AR®

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARETT ARETT
2,346 529

298 176




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The bank borrowings of RMB3,367,000 (2019:
RMB26,952,000) were secured by the Group’s bank
balance of RMB8,418,000 (2019: RMB8,940,000) and
leasehold land and building with a net carrying amount
of Nil (2019: RMB198,000) respectively at the end of the
reporting period and repayable within one year.

The bank borrowings of approximately RMB19,800,000
with fixed rate by 5.70% as at 31 December 2019 and the
bank borrowings of approximately RMB3,367,000 (2019:
RMB7,152,000) with floating rate at lower of prime rate
minus 2% and HIBOR plus 3% (2019: lower of prime rate
minus 2% and HIBOR plus 3%).

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has available
unutilised bank loan facilities of approximately
RMB5,051,000 (2019: RMB4,988,000).

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

33. BITRAMER

RBREBHR BTEEARKE
3,367,000 (ZE—NF : ARH
26,952,0007T) HIAREE AR
8,418,000L (=T —NF : ARK
8,940,0007T ) Z SRITAE R A R BR A
FENAT (ZE—NF : ARKE
198,0007T) 2 & £ 1 MIEF IR
o WER—FAEE -

R_E—-NE+-_A=+—8 %
ABR#19,800,000 THRITEE
ABEEFMES.70%:T B8 RHARE
3,367,0007C (ZE—H4E : AR
7,152,0007T) KIERITIEEARESR
MEF2% KB B RITREEFRE N
3% (ZZE—NF : REBFER2%
B BRITEEFRSM3%) (ABIK
ERE)FEFIEGE -

RZEBE-_FTFE+_-_HA=+—H " K
SEETAEMABANRITER
B4 ARES5,051,00070 (= —
hE - AR%4,988,0007T) °
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—RHILEE

34. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 34. BERRAER
Intangible assets
BLEE
RMB’ 000
ARET T
As at 1 January 2019 RZE-hEFE—H—H 24,866
Credit for the year FNEL (6,176)
As at 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 R=E—NF+_-_A=+—HE-_ZT-_TF—H—H 18,690
Credit for the year FRER (6,176)
As at 31 December 2020 RZZ-_ZTF+_A=+—H 12,514
35. PROMISSORY NOTES 35. ARRIE
2020 2019
—EEF —T—hEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARBTIT
As at 1 January Rn—A—H 335,642 237,056
Accrued interest charged JEET B U ELFI S 19,229 15,606
Issue of promissory notes upon I P MR 78 18 BT T
fulfillment of profit guarantee (Note c) 2 (Mizke) 37,016 78,499
Fair value change on extension on ERAREZER
promissory notes (Note a and b) NEEZE (fFakb) (85,521) -
Exchange realignment HE 5, e 2L (21,629) 4,481
As at 31 December RNt+=-—A=+—H 334,737 335,642
Analysis as: DA
Current BN &H - 46,570
Non-current FEBNHA 334,737 289,072
334,737 335,642
274 Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

35. PROMISSORY NOTES (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(@)

On 9 November 2015, the Company issued promissory notes
for an aggregate principal amount of HK$213.6 million at
2% interest per annum (the “PN1”) upon completion of the
acquisition of Soaring International Holdings Limited to
Mr. Lee Yim and Mr. Ng Hang Fai Calvin (the “Vendors”),
independent third parties not connected to the Group. The
PN1 are due on the third anniversary of the date of issue.
On 2 November 2018, the Vendors and the Company have
agreed to extend the maturity of the PN1 to 9 November
2020.

On 9 July 2019, the Company entered into the deed of
amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity date of
the PN1 to 9 July 2021 and decrease the interest rate from
2% to 1% per annum effective from 9 July 2019.

On 2 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity date
of the PN1 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate remained
to 1% per annum effective from 2 December 2020. The
effective interest rate of PN1 is 9.89%.

The fair value of PN1 was approximately to their principal
amount calculated at the effective interest rate of 1% per
annum (2019: 1%). The PN1 is classified as non-current
liabilities and are carried at amortised cost until settlement
on due date.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020

S

=== e =Sl =

35. ARXRIE (M)

Wizt -

R=F—AF+—AAB ' KAF
W5 U B Soaring International
Holdings Limited & [ 827 & @37
ERENBYE=FTHBELERR
BELE ([BEF ) RFEFE2%%
17784 48%213,600,000 7 7T K &
HEE(TPN1]) ° PNH‘NéﬁEl
WA FEZFEERE - R=F—N
F+—HA=H " EEEHMAEEH
EEPN1NEIAEREZE-"ZT =%
F+—AANAB -

T—AELANE  AAFE
EEnTi TR - #5PN1 2 5| HR
AERE—_ZE-_—FtAhB " I
BE-ZE—NFLANBEBEFE
H2%BE1% °

RZZE_TF+=-A=H 42
i YA HEZ & H‘J‘PN1Z:¥-‘J
HHEILE —Z--FWA—A "
WEZZ-_EFt+-A-BREF
% EHEFEPN % KT o PN1HYE R
FIZE 59.89% °

PN1BAFELNHEREASEE -
m;u%(_* —NEFE 1% HE
BEFIRFAHE - PN1 D AIER
HEEREEREE RS ENRE
SHAANFI) AR -
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

35. PROMISSORY NOTES (CONTINUED)

(o) During the year ended 31 December 2018,
Company issued promissory note of principal amount of
HK$55,000,000 (the “PN2”), non-interest bearing, upon
fulfillment of profit guarantee. The PN2 will be maturity on
29 September 2020. The effective interest rate of the PN2

is 13.36%.

On 25 September 2020, the Company entered into the
deed of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity
date of the PN2 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate
remained to 1% per annum effective from 25 September
2020. The effective interest rate of PN2 is 11.11%.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company
issued promissory note for an aggregate principal amount
of HK$110,000,000, non-interest bearing, upon fulfilment
of profit guarantees. The promissory note of principal
amount HK$55,000,000 (the “PN3”) and HK$55,000,000
(the “PN4”) will be maturity on 7 April 2021 and 29
September 2021, respectively. The effective interest rate of
PN3 and PN4 are 9.78% and 9.78%, respectively.

On 4 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity date
of the PN3 and PN4 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate
of PN3 and PN4 are 1% effective from 4 December 2020.
The effective interest rate of PN3 and PN4 are 9.78% and

9.78% respectively.

(c) During the year end 31 December 2020, the Company
issued promissory note for an aggregate principal amount
of HK$55,000,000 (“PN5”), non-interest bearing, upon
fulfillment of profit guarantees. The promissory note will be
maturity on 31 March 2022. The effective interest rate of

PN5 is 15.38%.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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35. AR (M)

(b)

REE=_T—-—N\F+=-A=+—8
WEFE - AARRERREFIRER
1T AR 5 555,000,000 T2
TeEH B AR ER ([PN2]) ° PN2
BR-ZE_TFNA=1THLBE
B o PN2 2 BEFR A %13.86% °

R=ZF=ZTFAA=FTFHH ' &2

RIEE TR BET 2285  DAKPN2
ZEHAERE_T__FHA—
A WYE-_T=TFNA=-THA
HBHE F IR M1 %7K F © PN2
HERAMEAE11.11% °

RBE-ZE—AF+=-A=1+—
HIEFE © KDQRREK TR
BRI S 4BFEA110,000,000
BILZ T ERARER - N& 5
£55,000,000 7t ([PN3]) &
55,000,000% 7t ([PN4 ) 2 73X,
ZRESIR-_E-_—FWA+Lt
Ak=—FE=—FAA=+hBE
Hi o PN3 K& PN4 2 B FIE 5 5l &
11.52% % 12.34% °

R—ZZE-_ZTF+-_AWAB ' A4
AIEE FEI B 2% - #5PN3
EPN4ZEHHBERE=ZFT ==
FOMA—H TE-_ZE=_FTF+
—AMB# - PN3EPN4RIFIR A
1% ° PN3 & PN4 7 & B | & 5 5
£9.78% 5% 9.78% °

RBE_ZT-_TF+=-_A=+—H
WEFE + AN AR E R i FR B
%317 4858 555,000,000
TLZ Nt A ([PN5]) °
RAEBER _T__F=A=
+—BEH - PN EEAN XA
15.38% ©
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36. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION

As at 1 January R—H—H

Fair value change NEEES

Issue of PN5 ZE{TPN5
Exchange realignment FE H =X

As at 31 December R+—B=+—H

On 26 July 2017, the Company entered into the Share
Purchase Agreement (the “SPA”) with Cybernaut Education
Limited, a company which is owned as to 90% by Mr. Zhu
Min, an executive director and a substantial shareholder
of the Company, (the “Vendor”). Pursuant to the SPA, the
consideration will be subject to adjust based on the net
profit after tax generating from operating activities (the
“Net Profit”) of Cybernaut Technology International Limited
and its subsidiaries as shown in the audited consolidated
financial statements for:

()  the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 30
June 2018 shall not be less than HK$7.5 million;

(i)  the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 31
December 2018 shall not be less than HK$7.5
million;

(i) the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 30

June 2019 shall not be less than HK$9 million; and

(iv) the Net Profit for the six-month period ending 31
December 2019 shall not be less than HK$9 million.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

36. HARKE

RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARETIT

39,068 108,402
2,834 (7,116)
(37,016) (78,499)
(4,886) (16,281)
- 39,068

R-ZTE—tH&+LA=-+/~8 £A27F
B Cybernaut Education Limited (—%
HARARTESTRFERRKHE
ERBI%Em 2 AR ([EH])FTL
Ehima ((ERnE]) o REERB
# © R{BZBE M Cybernaut Technology
International Limited & H ff/&@ A 7] 2 4%
BRGAEMBRERARZ KRB LEED
Z B FEN (RN ) FIAFE

) REE-F-N\FRA=tHL
ANE AR 2 %A E DR
7,500,000/ 7T :

iy HREBE=Z—)/\F+=-A=+—8
LESE A B 2 s F T E DR
7,500,000/ T

iy MEBEEZFT—LEF~A=+HL1
ANEABHEZEENATE LR
9,000,000/ 7T : &

ivy REBEE=EZ—NF+=-A=+—8
EAREAHBMZFEFAELR
9,000,000/ 7T ©
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE

36.

278

—E_EF+_A=+—HItFE

CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION
(CONTINUED)

The fair value of the contingent consideration was
determined by an independent professional valuer not
connected with the Group based on Binomial Option
Pricing Model. The fair value as at 31 December 2020 was
Nil (2019: RMB39,068,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, item (iv) have
been fulfilled, and PN5 have been issued accordingly.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, items (ii) and
(iii) have been fulfilled, and PN3 and PN4 have been issued
accordingly.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, item (i) have
been fulfilled, and PN2 have been issued accordingly.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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36. AR (&)

IAREAFENAEREERFEY
BUBEGEMZ_EABREEEER
FEE R-E-ZTF+-_A=1+—
BZAFEAZ(ZZE—NF : ARK
39,068,0007T) °

REBE_TE-_TF+-_A=+—HLEHF
B (iv)IBEEER - BEPNSE RER

o

X

-\
i

RBE-_ZT-NF+-A=+—HBILF
& - 2 (i) B RE (i) ED =K - EPNS
KPNAZHEZETT

RBE-_T— ) \F+_A=+—HLF
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RE MR ERAR

37. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised:
As at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019,
1 January 2020 and 31 December 2020

Issued and fully paid:
As at 1 January 2019, 31 December 2019,
1 January 2020 and 31 December 2019

Shown in the consolidated financial
statements
As at 31 December 2020

As at 31 December 2019

EBE:
R-ZE-N&—HF—8"
“T-NE+=A
=t-R Z%F-%F
—A—BR=Z=TF
TZA=1-H

ERTREE :
R-F-NF—A—H-

—E-A%t+-A=1+-8"

“T-FF-A-HRK
“E-NF+-A=+—H

REEMBERAT

RZE_ZF+-_A=1+—H

RZE-NF+=-A=1+—8

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

37. &

Number of
shares at
HK$0.10
per share Amount
HikEE0.10
ELTZBRIME &f
"000 HK$’ 000
T TR
20,000,000 2,000,000
3,975,448 397,545
RMB’000 equivalent
ARBTTHE 337,128

RMB’ 000 equivalent
ARBTTEE

337,128
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

38.

280

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a resolution passed on 7 June 2010
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors
and eligible employees, and will expire on 6 June 2020.
Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may grant options to eligible participant, including
directors (excluding non-executive directors), employees
and consultant of the Company and its subsidiaries, to
subscribe for shares in the Company.

At 31 December 2020, the number of shares in respect of
which options had been granted and remained outstanding
under the Scheme was 120,000,000 (2019:120,000,000),
representing 3.02% (2019: 3.02%) of the shares of the
Company in issue at that date. The total number of shares
in respect of which options may be granted under the
Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10% of the shares of
the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders. The number
of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in
any one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue at any point in time, without prior
approval from the Company’s shareholders.

Options granted must be taken up within 20 days from the
date of grant, upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options
may be exercised at any time from 1 year from the date
of grant of the share option to the 10th anniversary of
the date of grant. The exercise price is determined by the
directors of the Company, and will not be less than the
higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares
on the date of grant, (ii) the average closing price of the
shares for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s share.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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38. LI BERMRIS

AABREBER-_ZE—TF X ALA
iR R FE RN AR B ([3%
iEl]) TERMRMESTRAE
RIE B IR HLEERD - kst &R =
Z_ZFEXNANBEMR - REZFT
2 ARFEFEGARAERS A
E(ERARBAREMNBARNES
(TEREFNTER) - EERKEM)
RHBARRE - ARBARRIRG -

RZFEZTF+=—_A=+—H " R
Bz EIE R m AT E 2 B
REFTH N2 B2 B 4120,000,000
R (ZZF— N4 : 120,000,000
) BMERAQRIRZAD
THRMH23.02% (ZF—HF:
3.02%) ° FERLEARRNFIRE F 5L Ht
ERIBRAT  BIBZETEI TR H
BB IR P R 2 R D 4B BT 15 R
BARNRREAEHREBEITRG Z
10% ° fER LA R AR R = ot
BERT - AR A TR EfR—
FRERRIER ZERERMT R
ZBEEIRETETRNDEE TF
7R 3B 2N 1 & R AT B ) 2 B 1T AR D
21% °

EREREALERE N BB
208 At B EARE A1 BT -
ABE N EEARAE - BRI NI E
BREBBHES —FEEREASRZ
T A I EAEREITE - /TEER
RRREFEBTE B TEENIA
THREE  ()AARBRMARIRHB
ZUTIE : ()RORBERE B
A AEE XA 2 FHWKTE : K
RARRMHEME °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
2020
Vesting

Date of grant period  Exercisable period
REEH BEY TR
7 May 2019 Nil 7 May 2019 to

6 May 2022
“E-NELALH i B NFLALHEE

ZECCERARA

Exercisable at 31 December 2020
TR-Z-ZF+-R=+-Rfff

Weighted average exercise price
IMEFTTRE

Exercise
price

fHER

HKS$0.2

0.27

B B IS R R Y R

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

38. LI BERFTRES ()

—EZEF
Number of share options
fifkiEsE
Balance at Balance at
1.1.2020 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31.12.2020
RZB22F
RZB22%F +=A=+-8
—A-RZ&R b4 ]
120,000,000 - - - 120,000,000
120,000,000 - - - 120,000,000
120,000,000
HK$0.2
0.2%7
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-_ZBF+-A=+—HItEE

38.

282

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)
2019

Vesting
Date of grant period
RiHEH BEY
13 January 2016 Nil

2 F-AT=R £

7 May 2019 Nil

“E-NFRAtH £

Exercisable at 31 December 2019
TR=F-NET-A=+—RBf1f

Weighted average exercise price

EFSEE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Exercisable period

L

13 January 2016 to
12 January 2019
ZZ-R"F-AT=HE
“Z-NF-A+=H
7 May 2019 to
6 May 2022
“Z-NERAtRZE
ZE_0ARE

Exercise

price

fTfEm

HK$0.315

03157

HK$0.2

02T

38. LI BERFTRES ()

—B-hE
Number of share options

RRERE
Balance at Balance at
1.1.2019 Granted Exercised Lapsed 31.12.2019
RIS-1E
REB-hE +ZA=+-8H
—B—RZ#&i B BT BN b4 -
80,000,000 - - (80,000,000) -
- 120,000,000 - - 120,000,000
80,000,000 120,000,000 - (80,000,000) 120,000,000
120,000,000
HK$0.2
0287
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38. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year ended 31 December 2019 was estimated
as at the date of grant, using the binomial option pricing
model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon
which the options were granted. The following table lists
the inputs to the model used:

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

38. LI BERFTRES ()

RBEE_FT-hF+-_A=+—8H
EFE REZBRAEEBREZ
RNFETIRE L AR B EE
EERA LG - L& RAE
B 2 IR AR o TREIIFT
RAEA 228

2019

—T-NEF
Dividend vyield (%) & B 3K (%) 0.00
Expected volatility (%) T8 AR 18 (%) 40
Risk-free interest rate (%) 4 [ B2 1) 2= (%) 1.638
Expected life of option (year) BENHE 2 (hat 6 H () 8

Closing share price at grant date (HK$) R EHE Bz KHE (Bit) 0.198

The expected life of the options is based on management
expectation and is not necessarily indicative of the
exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is
indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily
be the actual outcome.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the year was approximately RMB6,040,000 of
which the Group recognised a share option expense of
approximately RMB5,956,000 during the year ended 31
December 2019.

No equity-settled share options was granted during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

BREZESFEHRIRETEER
HEE YA —EFRRAEHRZ
TTIER R o T8 HR IR R 52K 1
ARTRIARRBE ZRE - BERLR
BERGER -

FARH B A EEREREZATF
EA#HARHBE,040,0007T @ EfF A
EEREBEE=_ZT—NLF+=-A=F
—HBIEFERR - EHBERERZD
AR#5,956,000 JT °

WBE-F-FTE+=A=+—8
I - B I RS A 2
AR -
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—RHILEE

39.

284

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December 2020
not provided for in the Group’s financial statements were

as follows:
Capital contribution contracted for BEIHERREGE
but not provided in the consolidated BE2EE

financial statements

On 5 July 2019, the Company entered into agreement to
establish a limited partnership and agreed to subscribe
the partnership interest of US$5,000,000 (approximately
RMB32,769,000) as the capital contribution of the limited
partnership.

Up to the date of the approval of these financial
statements, in the opinion of the directors, the limited
partnership has not been duly established.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

39. WHEkik

R-BE-_ZTF+_A=+—HAXRE
TMARAEBU B REBEEZE
AFEIEWTR -

2020 2019
-t £3 —TNF

RMB(’ 000) RMB(’ 000)
AR®TR ARETIT

B

32,769 34,800

R=ZZFE—AFLtAHA ' XQFH
SINHEARYBRAELRE
ZBE5 000,000 (AR
32,769,0007T) M & BERIERE
REBHEE -

BEERTUWBRRENEZR - &
ERA - BRAEBHARIEINKIL
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RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_T-_ZEF+-_A=+—HILFE

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. FREFXZS
Save as disclosed in elsewhere to the consolidated B E M EHRREME O EES
financial statements, the Group have the following related Sh - REBEFTBUTEERR S

party transactions.

Nature of
Name of related party Relationship transaction/balance
RESSR [ b3 13-
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRE ARETT
Zhu Min Executive Director Promissory notes 37,016 78,499
NG WTES S
Lu Yongchao Executive Director Loan interest received (Note 1) 157 157
= oK WTES BERF S (FEE1)
Loan receivable 2,483 2,637
FEWE K
Yip Sum Yu Executive Director Loan interest received (Note 1) 65 -
Em HITES BHERA S (K1)
Loan receivable 2,441 -
FEWE K
Sin Kwok Wai Ronald Executive Director (Note 3) Loan receivable (Note 2) 842 894
BB MITES (M5E3) FEWE R (HiE2)
Notes: KiaE
1.  The interest rate of the loan was 6% per year. In the opinion . EXNENRAE6% EERE -

of the directors, the transactions between the Group and the
related party were conducted in the ordinary course of business.

The amount is interest free, unsecured and repayable on
demand.

Mr. Sin Kwok Wai Ronald has resigned as executive director
and has appointed as chief financial officer on 13 March 2020.

AEEEMET 2R TIN AR
BRI ETT ©

%n

(=P
=l

=113

% BRE - BERKARER

=

Aﬂﬂ

FEBELEER_T_TF=H+
ZHABRERTESURZERNY

e -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—RHILEE

40. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 40. ESZH ()
(CONTINUED)

Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEASEHM
The remuneration of directors and other members of key EEREMFTEEEREKE R ME
management for both years was as follows: FEZEHMIT :

2020 2019
. ek 2 3 —ENF

RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARETIT

Short-term benefits 52 HAE A 5,255 5,006
Retirement benefit scheme contributions iEAREF 5T B L3 67 66

5,322 5,072
The remuneration of directors and key executives is EERFTETHRABZME B
determined by the remuneration committee having regard MEEELERMAXRRETSBE
to the performance of individuals and market trends. MEE °

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41.
THE COMPANY

(a)

Financial information of the statement of financial

position of the Company

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Interests in subsidiaries
Financial assets at fair

value through profit or loss

Current assets

Loan receivables

Other receivables and prepayment
Amount due from a subsidiary
Restricted bank deposit

Bank balances

Current liabilities

Other payables and accruals
Amounts due to subsidiaries
Bank borrowing

Promissory notes

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

FLFRMBRRAE
(@) ARXTEMBMRRERZMBER

2020 2019
—E_mE —E—E

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARWTR ARBETT

FERENEE
W -~ B L&A 55 128
RHTB AR 2w 340,842 340,842
BAVEABRZ
SREE 569 1,011
341,466 341,981
REEE
R E K 8,630 26,247
H b fE UG SR T8 & FEA 5B 19,010 1,876
JE U FfY B 2 B FRTE 109,522 128,279
SR HIERTT T 3K 8,754 9,141
IRTTHERR 2,987 15,147
148,903 180,690
bl IN=Ki
H e~ 58 K e s 2 4,238 3,804
FERHI B A R ZkIE - 706
RITEE 3,367 7,152
AR - 46,570
7,605 58,232

Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-_ZBF+-A=+—HItEE

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 41.
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(@) Financial information of the statement of financial

position of the Company (continued)

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Promissory notes
Contingent consideration

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

DIRECTOR
EF

Zhu Min
K

288 | mpempmRERA

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

REEERE

RERERTDRAR
FREBRAR

O R
s ANME

BERE

RER R
(LN
G

e

DIRECTOR

EF

FLFRMBRRAE ()

() A2FHBRRAKRZHBEEN

(#&)

2020 2019
ot ot 3 —T—NF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TR ARBFIT

141,298 122,458
482,764 464,439
334,737 289,072
- 39,068
334,737 328,140
148,027 136,299
337,128 337,128
(189,101) (200,829)
148,027 130,299

Lu Yongchao

& ki



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR ERAR

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

(b)

Movement of capital and reserves of the

Company

Asat 1 January 2019

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive expenses
for the year

Lapse of share options
Recognition of equity - settled
share - based payments expenses

As at 31 December 2019
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive expenses
for the year

As at 31 December 2020

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

4. FRFMBRRRE ()

(b) ALXREXRFEHEED
Capital Share
Share Share  redemption options  Exchange  Accumulated
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
ks RPER ZIMOGE MEBEGE ERRG RitER ait
RVMB'0C0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETr  ARETR ARETR
RZE-NETZA=1-H 337,128 587,684 17918 8,626 (13,998) (766,520) 170,838
EEFR - - - - - @12 @10
FEEM2ENE
- - - - 548 - 548
FERERTLE
- - - - 548 (#1,127) (40,579)
BN - - - (8,626) - 8,626 -
B RAEE LR
BEROAFR = = = 6,040 - - 6,040
RZE-NE+ZA=1-H 337,128 587,684 17918 6,040 (13,450) (799,021) 136,299
R - - - - - 12970 12970
FEEMRENS
- - - - (1,242) - (1,242)
FE2ERLAE
- - - - (1,242) 12,970 11,728
RZF=FF+-f=1-H 337,128 587,684 17,918 6,040 (14,692) (786,051) 148,027
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—RHILEE

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

290

COMPANY

Name of subsidiary

HELFER

Soaring International Holdings
Limited

VT Zero Limited

|3+
e

I

Ayl

fuitil

TEET (R ARAT!

Time Credit Limited
RAREBRAR

Accura Machinery &
Manufacturing (Taicang) Co., Ltd.*
=t (K8) BRAFY

Accurate Trade International Limited

China Safety Holdings Limited
HEZERRARA

Eagle Pioneer Limited

Country/place and date of
incorporation/establishment

and operations
eI/

BIREERR /HERAM

The British Virgin Islands
5 March 2015
ABRLEE
“E-15=AAR

Hong Kong

24 January 2007

B
“ERtE-AZTHA

The PRC

25 February 2011

il
“2——%_A-TEH

Hong Kong

30 December 2011

(30
“F—F+IAZTH

The PRC

23 February 2004

il
“2IME-A-T+=H

The British Virgin Islands
18 November 2013
RBRABS
ZB-ZETt-ATNR

Hong Kong

7 April 2014

&%
“T-MENATA

The British Virgin Islands
12 March 2014
RERLHE
“3-RE=A+=H

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

Issued and

fully paid

share capital/
registered capital
ERTRERRE /
e

USS2
ES

HK$10,000
10,0007

RMB500,000
ARH500,0007

HK$2,000,000
2,000,007

RMB26,639,440
AR 26,639,407

USst
X7

HKS1
18T

USS1
1%

Proportion of
ownership
interest held by
the Company
NG
it {1
2020 2019

23 CTNE

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

90% 90%

(NOTEi)  (NOTE i)

(e (R

NA  100%
TR

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

42. xNTFMELFER

Principal activities

IRRE

Investment holding
RERR

eCommerce

ETHH

eCommerce

%

Money lending
(=

HE

Manufacture and sale of
paper converting equipment
and other relating equipment
HERHEARNIRER
At AER

Investment holding
REZR

Investment holding

REEK

Investment holding
RERR
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RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. ELTIME LT (1)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Issued and Proportion of

Country/place and date of fully paid ownership

incorporation/establishment share capital/ interest held by
Name of subsidiary and operations registered capital the Company Principal activities

eI/ ERTRERES / FLEREN
RELRER RIREEER / HERAY EhEs it {0 TERH

2020 2019
Z3-8% Bt

Great Select Global Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 100% 100% Investment holding
BRERARAT 18 November 2013 1% REAR

&b

ZE-=E+-AT/R
Cybemaut Technology International Limited ~ The British Virgin Islands US$0.01 ~ NOTE()  NOTE() Investment holding

17 January 2017 001%T  WE( gy REER

AERAHE

ZEtE-Ath
Hong Kong Cybernaut Technology Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$10,000  NOTE()  NOTE () Investment holding
FRRIARBARAA 217 February 2017 100002 MED gy  REER

&k

ZE-tFZAZTtA
Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education The PRC HK$10,000,000  NOTE()  NOTE () Investment holding

Technology Linited 'Huzhou') 23 March 2017 100000007 MED gy REER

ANELLAFHEERAA (AM): P&

“E-+#=8-1=A
Capital Wowxue (Beijing) Education The PRC AMB4,000,000  NOTE()  NOTE() Provision of ntemet

Technology Limited (“Wowxue’) 15arch 2012 AR4,000,00070 ik ) BitzE() education sgrvices

sRE R sEsERaA(Fe) TR EUEBRNAIY

“Z-_£=+1A
# Wholly-foreign owned enterprise registered in the PRC. 2 Rz N EE R o
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at FRFEN B R B BT EMELE
the end of the year. Ao
All of the subsidiaries are private limited company. 2 EH B AT ATAGR AT o

Annual Report 2020 291 %
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A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BHE

42,

292

—E_EF+_A=+—HItFE

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

NOTE (i)
CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS
Particulars and main business of Wowxue

REDRE (b R) HERKRBERAAE (Capital Wowxue
(Beijing) Education Technology Limited) (“Wowxue”) is a
limited liability company established under the laws of
the PRC and is principally engaged in the research and
provision of internet education services.

Wowxue is owned as to 40%, 20%, 20% and 20%
by BH%EKREEBAFR AT (Cybernaut Investment
Group Limited), EREEE (4t ) BB £ RERI 2 5K
(Cybernaut Think Tank (Beijing) International Ecological
Science Research Institute), Mr. Zhao Yingming and
Mr. Zhao Yingyong respectively (the “Registered
Shareholders”). On 31 August 2017, MM BELLHE R
AR AR (Huzhou Sai Le Hong Education Technology
Limited), being a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group
(the “Huzhou Company”), Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into a series of agreements (the
“Contractual Arrangements”). Supplementary agreements
were further entered into on 25 September 2017.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

. ERTIME LT FRS ()

FfF 2 (i)

AENFBREEXK

RENAE (ER) BEMBER QA
(DRB)) B—FKREFBIEEKL
ZERAA FTERFEHBHE
BT - LREEBHBEHER
% o

AREDFBEEREEESEFRA
A - BREEE (Jbm) B ERER
Bl - B SE A R B it
£ ([ZRRE]) #HEE40% * 20% -
20% K 20% Rt - RZE—+F )N\
A=+—RH XEEZ2EWE QA
MM BELELHB B BR AR ([
MAA]) RBEEERREZ—
ol ([E60%H]) - R=ZF
—tENA-+HBE—FILE
Fo i ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Major terms of the structured contracts
Irrecoverable option agreement

Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into an irrevocable exclusive
option agreement (the “Option Agreement”) whereby the
Registered Shareholders granted an exclusive option to
Huzhou Company to acquire the entire equity interest
in Wowxue held by the Registered Shareholders, under
which Huzhou Company shall have the right to require
the Registered Shareholders to transfer their equity
interest in Wowxue on demand to Huzhou Company or
its designated entity or individual, at nil consideration. The
Option Agreement does not have a defined exercisable
period and the Option Agreement will expire when the
relevant law and regulation in the PRC allows foreign
investment in Wowxue or when Huzhou Company or its
designated party exercises the option to acquire Wowxue.

Pursuant to the Option Agreement, each of the Registered
Shareholders and Wowxue has given undertakings that
it shall perform certain acts or refrain from performing
certain other acts unless the prior written consent of
Huzhou Company has been obtained.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

42. xNFMBLTFER (B)

EBESONEERR
TN B A H R R HE 177 e

MMATR - RBRBERRRATL—
10 1 B 3085 98 2R s BEOHE = ([ B A
) - Bt ERBRR AN D
ARBBRERE  ARBHET
BREFEZARBE2MRME - RIZZ
g - MM ARBERERELK
RBREXAAMARIKEEEER
HEANTHREFBZRERNAEN
Bt o AR R 30 B SR E 1T (2 1
A - ARG EAS N AT BAE
KOERRIERFINE R AR B AN
DA S E IR TE A 1718 BB AR DA I
FBARBREHE -

RIEBREDRS  SELBRRLXR
B RlAEBELE TITHRTE
HETHEMITE - RIERFAMA
BZEREERE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

42,

294

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Major terms of the structured contracts (continued)
Service Agreement

Huzhou Company and Wowxue entered into an exclusive
service agreement (the “Service Agreement”) pursuant to
which Huzhou Company shall serve as the service provider
to Wowxue, to provide investment advice, planning and
other business advice on the operation and technical
services of Wowxue in accordance with the requirements
of Wowxue.

In consideration of the provision of the abovementioned
services by Huzhou Company, Wowxue agrees to pay to
Huzhou Company fees on an annual basis. Fees payable
to Huzhou Company by Wowxue will be equivalent to the
total income of Wowxue minus all relevant costs, expenses
and taxes payable by Wowxue. If there is a loss in a
given year, then no provisions for the said management
and consultancy fees would be required for the year until
Wowxue records a surplus.

In addition, Huzhou Company shall have the right to obtain
and review the business data, financial information and
other information relevant to the operations and business
of Wowxue.

The Service Agreement has a term of ten years from the
date of signing the Service Agreement. Upon the expiry
of each term, Huzhou Company is entitled at its sole and
absolute discretion to renew the Service Agreement for a
further term of ten years for each renewal.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

42. xNTFMBLTFER (B)

ERMESONEERMR (F)

R 1%

WM R B ER B ET S — D BR AR
ek ([ RS HE]) - BUOHM QA
BEERBOREHER - RERX
BENR - RARERZEE Rk
BlREKRERS  RELEMEE

B o

MMM AB R AR F -

BRZESFRAMAMIANER -
ARBRMAMDA 2 EBBEENRK
BZRBRBARERBENMN A M
BARA ~ R RBIA o il RER R
AIRZFEH
pEtERENERESRERE B

EFEEHRSER -

ERBELERBA/I -

BESN -

BREBHEMBER

ARTS W ot 2 BF IR /3 B 22 SLAR 75 199 =%
ZHEFTF -  REFRIHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Equity pledge agreement

Huzhou Company, Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders entered into an equity pledge agreement
(the “Equity Pledge Agreement”) pursuant to which the
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably
agreed to pledge all the equity interest in Wowxue that
they own (including any interest or dividend paid for
such shares) to Huzhou Company as a security for the
performance of the obligations by Wowxue and the
Registered Shareholders under the Service Agreement.

The Equity Pledge Agreement became effective from
the date when the agreement was entered into and
shall remain valid until Wowxue and the Registered
Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably fulfilled all the
obligations (including, but not limited to, the settlement
and/or the payment of the service charge, liquidated
damages (if any), etc.) under the Service Agreement.

Power of attorney

The Registered Shareholders executed an irrevocable
power of attorney which enables Huzhou Company to
exercise all the powers of the shareholders of Wowxue.

Pursuant to the Power of Attorney, the directors of
Wowxue, the Registered Shareholders and the legal
representative of Wowxue have irrevocably appointed
Huzhou Company as its/their attorney-in-fact to (i)
exercise all the directors’ rights, shareholders’ rights and
legal representative’s rights (as the case may be) including
but not limited to passing of board resolutions and
shareholders’ resolutions as well as the right to appoint
or remove the directors, legal representative, general
manager and other senior management of Wowxue; (ii)
sign on their behalf all the documents necessary to give
effect to the Contractual Arrangements; (i) exercise all
the rights and powers under the Equity Pledge Agreement
and the right to deal with the assets of Wowxue; and (iv)
submit documents to the competent company registration
authorities of Wowxue or other relevant authorities for filing
purpose.

42,

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

F AT E 2 FIREE (18)

PR 4R

MM AR - RERERBRER L
— R EL RS ([REZFR
2] BHEEBREREGEERDT
BEEHRAEREERNAERE 22
i (@?E?f%%%ﬂﬁﬁi‘iﬁﬂ’]&ﬂ
FEHRE) BT HMNAA - 1ER
ﬁ%&ﬁ‘aﬂﬂx%%ﬁﬁé‘ﬂﬁ%ﬁ%a&
TZEEZEBE -

M EE R E R ksl L B B
WMo WHEHEFRAENR  BEERERE
A0 A% B8 4 {6 15 Ko /1S ] 480 8 1 8 17 AR
WT%%**IETZFF@‘EE(@WETBE

REER,/ XZNREER - EL

Ea’f,\i (mB)F)BLE-

BREREBEIZ AT RN RESR
a%% - N 2 R RE ST R R AX
REOVFIBEEN -

REREZREE  R2EF B
BREARBEERRAC AU

WREAMRBBEEEREA
(ITE—ESER - BEREN FOX
ERRARN(RBERME) - B
BEARRNBBEFSRBRELBR
REBEANEZEHERABES -
EERRA  BEEREMSRE
BABZRERN  (IKERBESLD
RHERZPIBBEXMF ¢ (ii)TTHE
PEE MR IR T 2T A R R iE
NARBIBRBEEZEN ¢ K(iv)
Az TERRECHBEIEM

BB IE R ST AR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-_ZBF+-A=+—HItEE

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Equity pledge agreement (continued)
Power of attorney (continued)

The terms of the Power of Attorney became effective
from the date of the Power of Attorney to the earlier
of the revocation or termination of each of the Service
Agreement, Irrevocable Option Agreement, Loan
Agreement and Equity Pledge Agreement.

The directors of the Company, after consulting legal
opinion, are of the view that the terms of the Contractual
Arrangements have in substance enabled Huzhou
Company to have power over Wowxue, rights to variable
returns from its involvement with Wowxue, and has the
ability to use its power to affect its returns, despite the
absence of formal legal equity interest held by the Group
in Wowxue. Accordingly, Wowxue is accounted for as
a consolidated structured entity as a subsidiary of the
Group.

The revenue, profit, total assets and total liabilities of
Wowxue included in the consolidated financial statements
are set out below:

Revenue A
Profit il
Total assets BERE
Total liabilities BEERE

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

42. xNTFMBLTFER (B)

IR R i ()

RIEZE (B

BRRZAE2FHEERERER
HIRAERZRB HhaE - TRl BEEN
BRERSE B RREER
HESERERBHEAR RS
BHSLE -

ARRESFEFHRNERERER R
RANTZHZIGEREE LEAMNA
BBEAYRE 2N  AEZ2ER
BZXBMAERESAZOHRNLA
ENTTEEENMEERLR &
BEARBYEREBRBNHENER
o Fit - AEEHARBALES
REMEEREREMNBRRARK -

REEHBBRRARZIARBEZR
A ad o EERERAGBREH
FlaaR

RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARWTR ARBETT

24,623 28,962
11,017 18,103
64,926 53,905
(6,986) (6,962)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

42. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 42. ELTIME LT (1)
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

NOTE (ii) B B2 (i)
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BEXRFERERES
The following information relating to non-wholly owned NTERBENERHEE SRR
subsidiary that have material non-controlling interests AeiEss ([FEZERRHER ) RFERE M
(“NCI). BAT -
The summarised financial information represents amounts 2l B 75 B R 2R R R ) 8 AT
before intercompany eliminations. K& FE ©
Time Credit Limited RBEEARLTE
2020 2019
—E_ZF —T-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TRT ARBTT
At 31 December R+=—A=+—H
Non-current assets IEMENE E 564 2,764
Current assets mEBEE 218,346 210,986
Current liabilities mEaE (262,449) (247,815)
Non-current liabilities EMBEE = (533)
Net liabilities BEFHE (43,539) (34,598)
Carrying amount of NCI IR e 2 BRE (A (4,681) (3,588)
Year ended 31 December BE+ZA=+—RHLEFE
Revenue WA 15,050 16,182
Cost of sales SHER A (2,144) (2,120)
Other income A 599 15
Expenses 53 (25,061) (47,272)
Loss for the year FEEE (11,556) (33,195)
Loss attributable to NCI FEIE IR A (G B 1R (1,156) (6,640)
Total comprehensive expense JEERR R (R 2 S Bk
attributable to NCI (1,156) (6,640)

Net cash (used in)/generated from & &E8) (FTA),/ FiSR ¢ 558
operating activities (21,408) 135,495

Net cash used in financing activities E&& EBFT AR & /F 58 (2,158) (69,457)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

HE—

43.

44,

298

oxmr e = 3= e Bl lEE T

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 23 February 2021,
in Hangzhou Navrise Network Technology Co.,

the propose acquisition of 51%
Ltd.
has lapsed. For detail, please refer to the Company’s

announcement dated on 23 February 2021.

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2020, promissory
notes of principal amount of HK$55 million (2019: HK$110
million) were issued upon fulfilment of profit guarantee
of Cybernaut Technology International Limited and its
subsidiaries.

On 2 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity
date of the PN1 to 1 April 2022 and the interest rate
remained to 1% per annum effective from 2 December
2020.

On 25 September 2020,
the deed of amendment with the vendors to extend
the maturity date of the PN2 to 1 April 2022 and the
interest rate remained to 1% per annum effective from 25
September 2020.

the Company entered into

On 4 December 2020, the Company entered into the deed
of amendment with the vendors to extend the maturity
date of the PN3 and PN4 to 1 April 2022 and the interest
rate of PN3 and PN4 are 1% effective from 4 December
2020.

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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43.

44,

REMEER

R-ZBE-_—F_A=-+=H ' &=
WEE N B A 48 B BB BR A A
S1%EREHEEERAN  FEH2

MARRBHA-_ZT-_—F_A=
+=B 2 M o

FERERH

BHE_ZT_ZTF+T_A=+—H
JtEJ* : Zﬁéﬁﬁﬁz%,ooo,oooﬁé
T (ZF—h% 110,000,000
7T ) E’\J?%R:%TJ?}EQCybernaut
Technology International Limited }
H B A FEBOR AR B IAT -

R-ZE_ZEFT+-_A-H &R
ﬁ;ﬁﬂxﬁﬂ%ﬁ'M%sz
HEHAEREZE S __FMA —

B mME-ZT=-_ZF+-_A=-H#
5 F FI R MR %KF o

RZBE-_FEFNA=-1+HH AR
RIEE F ] VIS5 2 » A#EPN2

ZHMALERE_ZE__FWMA—
B -mBE-FE-_FTFNLA_+AH
FRE R A R %KF -

MRZZE-ZTFE+-_AMNA - AR F
BE TSI RE - EPN3 &
PN4ZEIEIEIERZE T — — 7
A—HB ¥TBEZZ=FTF+AN
Hil - PN3MPN4WFIRE 51% -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On 11 February 2020, the Group entered into a conditional
sale and purchase agreement to disposal of its 100%
equity interest in Accura Machinery & Manufacturing
(Taicang) Company Limited, a company established
under the laws of the PRC with limited liability and a
direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Great Select Global
Limited, a company established under the laws of the
Hong Kong with limited liability and an indirect wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company at cash consideration of
HK$7 million. It carried out all of the Group’s manufacture
and sale of paper converting equipment and other related
equipment segment. The purpose of the disposal is to
focus the Group’s resources in its other principal business.

The disposal of Accura Machinery & Manufacturing
(Taicang) Company Limited was completed on 27 May
2020. Furthermore, the final consideration is adjusted to
HK$4.9 million with the prepayment of HK$2.1 million at
completion date. Upon completion of the disposal, Accura
Machinery & Manufacturing (Taicang) Company Limited
ceased to be a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group.

On 1 August 2018,
agreement with an independent third party to disposal of

the Company entered into an

100% equity interest in a subsidiary, namely Sinoref (BVI)
Limited (the “Disposal Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“Sinoref Group”) at cash consideration of HK$82.8 million.

The disposal of Sinoref Group was completed on 12 April
2019. Furthermore, the final consideration is adjusted to
HK$53.8 million with the prepayment of HK$2 million at
completion date. Upon completion of the disposal, Sinoref
Group ceased to be a non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Group.

45.

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-T-TF+-_A=+—HIEFE

ERILEERE

N_E_TF_A+—H AEH
AVBERHEEER®  WRERE
7,000,000 7T i E = #A (K
B)BRRARZ100%M%HE o 7o
W(XR)BRARA—HBETEH
EREKWERAR - WAERER
KERAFNEEZEZEWE QR

BHERXBRARARBEEE LR
2 BRAR - WAKRRRE
E2EWB AR - ZARAEMA
AEERERFEERRMIZER
H b BB o MEFEIEMAH
MAESPAEEERRETHME
TET o

1 /\_L

RZE-_ZFRA=-T+tHZERH
EHRESEH(KE)BERAA - It
HN - IR B TR 74,900,000
7T R FERK B EATE 12,100,000
BT o ERMEER - R (K
B)BRARTEAAEENIEEE
MBARE o

RZZE—NFENA—HB ' AR AHE
—HBBIUE=ZFFIUMBEALE
P —ZKK B A A (BDSinoref (BVI)
Limited " [HE AR ]) REMEA
7] ([Sinoref £/ |) Z100% % -
e KRB A82,800,000 HEIT °

RZFE-—NEFNA+ZBHEKEE
Sinoref& B o Lol - mERBEH
553,800,000/ 7T © WHFERK B
HiTE 12,000,000 7T ° B H &
% - Sinoref S BT B AN E BRI IE
2EMBAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020

BE—Z-_ZBF+-A=+—HItEE

45. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

300

45.

The comparative figure for the consolidated income
statement and related notes have been represented as
if the operations of manufacture and sale of advanced
steel flow control products segment and manufacture
and sale of paper converting equipment and other related
equipment segment discontinued during the year had
been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative

period.

Profit for the year from the discontinued operations are

analysed as follows:

Loss for the period/year from
manufacture and sale of
paper converting equipment and
other related equipment

Loss for the year from manufacture
and sale of advanced steel flow
control products

Gain on disposal of manufacture and
sale of paper converting
equipment and other related
equipment

Gain on disposal of manufacture and
sale of advanced steel flow
control products

Profit for the period/year from
discontinued operations

KAESEMHERRNTRE
R EAC BB R B ERE
FEBR

KA SUE MIHE = m KR
EmiEEER

& BLE R SHE R R I TR
R E b ER R Ay Y et

& B N SH & = i S KRR
2 an Y i et

BERLEEEBNSE,FE

il

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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ERIEEERS ()

FERERNLERET MBI E
BEEHZEY  BUORAEREDKRILE
&R BUE MR E = i 7k
T EE A ) R A B B i I B B AR R AN
THREREMBHABREBY BERL
AR HI AR LR R 2T o

£ PO BB AR L A A T B i
FISHFT -

2020 2019

ol Jek- 3. 3 —E-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARET T
(1,789) (5,770)

= (6,739)

25,840 -

- 45,754

24,051 33,245




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

45. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

The result of the discontinued operations for the year,
which have been included in the consolidated statement

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

45. ERILEERS (8)

AAARERRRARAFEERLE

of profit of loss, were as follows:

Revenue WA

Cost of sales SHE KA

Gross loss £18

Other income HAp A

Impairment loss BEEE

Selling and distribution costs SHE Ko SHR A

Administrative expenses THRRAX

Finance costs BF 7% X 2R

Loss before taxation PR RIS 1B

Income tax expense FriSHif

Loss for the period/year HE S FEEE

Gain on disposal of Sinoref Group i & Sinoref &£ B 2 Wz

Gain on disposal of Taicang HERNE 2=

Profit for the period/year from REBRIEEEEL 2
discontinued operation HAR & A

IREEBONEBNT -
2020 2019
=T —E-NEF
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARBTIT
9,042 54,392
(7,528) (49,038)
1,514 5,354
25 197
(582) (7,377)
(829) (4,289)
(1,530) (5,314)
(387) (1,075)
(1,789) (12,509)
(1,789) (12,509)
- 45,754
25,840 -
24,051 33,245
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e M BRRHEE

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_ZT-_ZF+-_A=+—RHILEE

45. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)  45.

Profit for the period/year from discontinued operations has

been arrived at after charging:

Cost of inventories sold
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Interest expense on bank borrowing
Impairment loss recognised

in respect of trade and

loan receivables
Written of inventories

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

302 mpempanER T

BEEFEKA
ME - BERREFTE

EREEERE
RITEENBRHX
B RUGRIA R

e E TR 2 BRI 1R

T B R,

ERIEEERS ()

REERILELEXBODEFE
i M HIBR T 5 IH B 1R ZEK

2020
—E_BFE

RMB’ 000
AR®FT

7,528

22
387

1,486

49,038

150
54
1,047

5,918
1,460




45.

46.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE-_Z-FTF+-_A=1+—RHILEE

DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (CONTINUED) 45. BE#ILEBEX (&)

Cash flows of the discontinued operations for the year are FAERIEKEEEBNIR S REN
as follows: T
2020 2019
ot o 3. 3 ZT—NF
RMB’000 RMB’ 000
AR®TT ARBTT
Net cash used in operating activities #8& EBNFTAIR & /F 5 (6,570) (1,432)
Net cash generated from BERBFSIH S FE
financing activities 2,087 1,819
Net cash (out flow)/inflow Be (R, RAERE (4,483) 382
DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES 46. HEMBEL T
Accura Machinery & Manufacturing (Taicang) Company HKE#R(KE) BRAF
Limited
The disposal of Taicang was completed on 27 May 2020 AR {E7,000,0008 T (K ARE
with consideration HK$7 million (approximately RMB6.4 6,400,00070) HEARE —SFER =
million). Upon completion of the disposal, Taicang ceased TZZEFAAZTEREX © T
to be a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group. The HER  RETHAARESEMNIESR

net assets disposed are as follows:

Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE_Z-_TF+_A=+—HILEE

46. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Accura Machinery & Manufacturing (Taicang) Company

Limited (continued)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was

lost:

Property, plant and equipment
Inventories
Trade receivables

Other receivables, deposits and prepayment

Bank balances and cash
Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Bank borrowing

Contract liabilities

Tax liabilities

Net Liabilities disposed of

Gain on disposal of Taicang

Cash consideration
Net liabilities disposal of

Gain on disposal

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

304 mpempmpERL

WME - BER&E

FE

B 5 MW IR

Hip YR - e MFANKIA
RITEHNMRE

B 5N FIA

Hip e 5 A N BT B A
RITEEE

BMARE

HIEAE

=

BEHEREBEFE

ReRE
BEHEEEFE

46. HEMBLTE (1)

HEHEM (K2) BRAF (F)

BREFENEERRENDN :

RMB’ 000
ARBETT

176
9,034
15,225
3,448
207
(15,873)
(1,419)
(22,000)
(4,387)
(3,827)

(19,396)

RMB’ 000
ARETIT

6,444
19,396

25,840



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

46. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Accura Machinery & Manufacturing (Taicang) Company
Limited (continued)

Net cash inflow arising from disposal of Taicang

RE MR ERAR

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

6. HEMRBLT (&)

HEHEM (K2) BRAF (F)

HEXEELNHEERAFE

RMB’ 000

AREF T

Cash consideration received exclude prepayment 2 WHIREHRE (TEEBENHIE) 6,444
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B BERERTEREIRS (227)
Net cash inflow WEIMAFHEE 6,217

Sinoref Group

The disposal of Sinoref Group was completed on 12 April
2019. Furthermore, the final consideration is adjusted to
HK$53.8 million with the prepayment of HK$2 million at
completion date. Upon completion of the disposal, Sinoref
Group ceased to be a non-wholly owned subsidiaries of
the Group. The net assets disposed are as follows:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was

Sinoref&£ &

RZZE-—NFEAT—HEKRDE
Sinoref& B o Lo - mERBELH
# 553,800,000/ 7T + WHFEA B
HiFE 112,000,000 7T ° B &
% » SinorefS BT B AN E BRI IE
2EWBAR - HEMEEFER
BNk

BAEGENEER BB :

lost:

Property, plant and equipment

Inventories

Trade receivables

Other receivables, deposits and prepayment
Bank balances and cash

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals

Tax liabilities

Net assets disposed of

RMB’ 000

ARBTIT

YZ -~ BB RFE 880
78 24,498
E 5 W KRIE 32,064
Hith fEWGRIE ~ Hoe R FKIB 46,956
RITEHR LIRS 1,296
B e RIE (97,430)
H At FE I R EET & F (4,255)
MIBAE (2,350)
EHEEEFE 1,659
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR M A

For the year ended 31 December 2020
BE—Z-_ZBF+-A=+—HItEE

46. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 46. HE&MBA® (&)

Sinoref Group (continued) Sinoref&£ @ (&)
Gain on disposal of Sinoref Group 1 & SinorefE [E iz
RMB’ 000
AREETTT
Cash consideration HeRE 49,176
Net assets disposal of BEHEEEFE (1,659)
Release of exchange reserve upon disposal of R ENB R R R IE 5 FiE
subsidiaries (1,763)
Gain on disposal 0 & = 45,754
Net cash inflow arising from disposal of Sinoref Group M & Sinoref 5 B AT ZE £ B B 2 A
JFEE
RMB’ 000
ARET T
Cash consideration received exclude prepayment = WEEE&HKE (TEIEFENFHIE) 47,413
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of B DHERITESRKIRS (1,296)
Net cash inflow WEmAHE 46,117

Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE MR ERAR

FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

As at 1 January 2019

Changes from financing
cash flows

Raised

Repayment

Interest paid

Other changes

Interest charges

Issue of promissory notes upon
fulfillment of profit guarantee

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2019

Changes from financing
cash flows

Raised

Repayment

Interest paid

Other changes

Interest charges

Issue of promissory notes upon
fulfillment of profit guarantee

Fair value change on extension
on promissory notes

Additions

Disposal of a subsidiary

Exchange realignment

As at 31 December 2020

R-B-NF-A—R

MERSREEH

B8R

&R

ENFIE
Hitv@s
MBF
R i MR 75 14
BIRARE
[ R

MEASREEH

R 23

&N

BAIFIS

Hitt@E

Hem%
RER R FIRE R
BOARER
RREALEENAT

NE
HE B LR R
B

\
R
N

=
=

[ A

+=H

%
+—8

23

47. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING

For the year ended 31 December 2020
HE—ZE-BFE+-_A=+—HItEE

47. MBEFEFRELE A RHOYIE

Bank
Promissory and other Lease

notes  borrowings liabilities Total
ARRE BOREMES HERR )
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
FTET FET TET TET
237,056 86,502 6,025 329,583
- 26,853 - 26,853

- (86,768) (2,867) (89,635)

- (1,180) (70) (1,250)

15,606 1,180 70 16,856
78,499 - - 78,499
4,481 365 122 4,968
335,642 26,952 3,280 365,874
- 2,200 - 2,200

- (3,559) (4,647) (8,206)

- (212) (140) (352)
19,229 212 140 19,581
37,016 - - 37,016
(35,521) - - (35,521)
- - 4,672 4,672

- (22,000) - (22,000
(21,629) (226) (24) (21,879)
334,737 3,367 3,281 341,385
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Summary of Results, Assets and Liabilities

E

Turnover

Loss and total
comprehensive expense
for the year attributable

to owners of the Company

Loss per share (RMB)
- Basic

— Diluted

Total assets
Less: Total liabilities

Total net assets

308

CEERA

EHE

EXE
ARARAA

EiEFEERR
E2EAX AR

BRER(ARE)
-&K

-8

U
ot

\
A
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Cybernaut International Holdings Company Limited

BRLEERZERERAR

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December
FREBE+_A=1+—HILEEZESR

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
—E-RF E—+tF ZE-N\F ZZT-NF il
RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETT AR®TRT
357,840 271,620 237,798 326,946 285,208
(138,695) (139,058) (81,586) (98,403) (76,227)
(0.05) (0.03) (0.02) (0.02) (0.02)
(0.05) (0.03) (0.02) (0.02) (0.02)

Assets and liabilities of the Group at 31 December

FRERT-A=+—HZRERAR

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
—Z—RE —Z+tF —ZT-N\FE —TNF [t it
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT AR®TR
942,675 1,216,064 1,133,825 917,733 736,941
(378,825)  (567,077) (638,432) (517,549) (424,957)
563,850 648,987 495,393 400,184 311,984
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